East Valley SELPA Special Education Policies & Procedures Manual

Patty Metheny, Ed.D., Chief Administrative Officer



670 E. Carnegie Drive San Bernardino, CA 92408 Phone: 909-252-4507 Fax: 909-252-4533 eastvalleyselpa.org Provided to support the work of the East Valley SELPA and its member districts in serving students with disabilities.

Gratitude is extended to SELPA administrators throughout California and particularly those in Butte County SELPA, Humboldt-Del Norte SELPA, and Riverside County SELPA for their contributions to this manual.

June 2021 Revised September 2021 Revised June 2022

Table of Contents

CHAPTER I – GOVERNANCE	1
SECTION I – GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION	1
SECTION II – POLICIES	8
SECTION III – REGIONAL OPERATIONS/ADMINISTRATIVE COORDINATION	11
SECTION IV – SERVICES	17
SECTION V – FISCAL ALLOCATION PLAN	19
CHAPTER II – PROCEDURAL SAFEGUARDS, EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS HOLDER, & RESIDENCY	27
SECTION II – DETERMINING THE EDUCATION RIGHTS HOLDER	27
SECTION III – RESIDENCY	
CHAPTER III – COORDINATED SYSTEM OF REFERRAL FOR SCHOOL AGE STUDENTS	35
SECTION I – CHILD FIND FOR SCHOOL AGED INDIVIDUALS	35
SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION PROCESSES	35
SECTION III – REFERRAL FOR ASSESSMENT	36
SECTION IV – REFERRAL FOR SCREENINGS	
CHAPTER IV – ELIGIBILITY FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION	40
SECTION I – ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA	40
SECTION II – STUDENTS NOT ELIGIBILE FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION	45
CHAPTER V – INDIVIDUALIZED EDUCATION PROGRAM (IEP)	46
SECTION I - THE IEP PROCESS - INTRODUCTION	46
SECTION II – EDUCATIONAL BENEFIT	46
SECTION III – IEP CONTENTS	48
SECTION IV – EXTENDED SCHOOL YEAR (ESY)	49
SECTION V – SCHEDULING THE IEP MEETING	50
SECTION VI – IEP TEAM MEMBERS	51
SECTION VII – IEP MEETING TIMELINE REQUIREMENTS	52
SECTION VIII –CONSENT PROCEDURES	53
SECTION IX – TRIENNIAL REEVALUATIONS	54
SECTION X – ASSESSMENT TO CONSIDER DISCONTINUING SERVICES	55
SECTION XI – ASSESSMENT TO CONSIDER EXITING FROM SPECIAL EDUCATION	55
SECTION XII – BEST PRACTICES FOR EFFECTIVE IEPS	56
CHAPTER VI – ENGLISH LEARNERS WITH DISABILITIES	68

	SECTION I – SUPPORTS FOR ENGLISH LEARNERS WITHIN A MULTI-TIERED SYSTEM OF SUPPORTS (MTSS) FRAMEWORK	68
	SECTION II – LEGAL STANDARDS AND THE IDENTIFICATION OF STUDENT'S PRIMARY LANGUAGE	69
	SECTION III – LINGUISTICALLY AND CULTURALLY SENSITIVE ASSESSMENTS TO DETERMINE SPECIAL EDUCATION ELIGIBILITY	
	SECTION IV – LINGUISTICALLY APPROPRIATE IEP GOALS FOR ENGLISH LEARNERS WITH DISABILITIE	S 75
	SECTION V – RECLASSIFICATION INFORMATION	76
С	HAPTER VII – INSTRUCTIONAL PLANNING, IEP IMPLEMENTTION, & STUDENT GRADING	78
	SECTION I – COMMON CORE STATE STANDARDS AND STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES	78
	SECTION II – IEP GUIDELINES, ACCOMMODATIONS, AND ASSESSMENT	82
	Standards-Based Promotion. Describe the instructional accommodations or modifications a stude will need in order to progress in grade-level content curriculum. These must be explicitly describe and related to the areas of weakness described in the present level of performance	d
	SECTION III – STATEWIDE PUPIL ASSESSMENT SYSTEM	85
	SECTION IV – GRADES, REPORT CARDS, AND TRANSCRIPTS FOR STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES	87
С	HAPTER VIII – EARLY CHILDHOOD SPECIAL EDUCATION	92
	SECTION I – POLCIES AND PROCEDURES BIRTH THROUGH AGE THREE	92
	SECTION II – POLICIES AND PROCEDURES PRESCHOOL THROUGH KINDERGARTEN	. 100
С	HAPTER IX – SECONDARY TRANSITION & THE INDIVIDUAL TRANSITION PLAN	. 108
	SECTION I – OVERVIEW OF TRANSITION SERVICES AND RESOURCES	. 108
	SECTION II – INDIVIDUALIZED EDUCATION PROGRAM (IEP)/INDIVIDUAL TRANSITION PLAN (ITP) PLANNING	. 109
	SECTION III – COMPLETING AN INDIVIDUAL TRANSITION PLAN (ITP)	. 110
	SECTION IV - HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATION AND COMMENCEMENT PARTICIPATION	. 114
С	HAPTER X – STUDENT DISCIPLINE	. 116
	SECTION I – GENERAL GUIDELINES	. 116
	SECTION II – SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS FOR STUDENTS WITH DISABILTIES	. 119
	SECTION III – RIGHTS OF STUDENTS NOT YET ELIGIBLE FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION	. 124
С	HAPTER XI – RESOLUTION STRATEGIES	. 125
	SECTION II – DUE PROCESS	. 126
С	HAPTER XII – EAST VALLEY SELPA ADMINISITRATIVE PROCEDURES	. 128
	SECTION I – ADDITIONAL SUPPORT ASSESSMENT (ASA) GUIDEBOOK	. 128
	SECTION II - INTER-SELPA TRANSFERS	. 167
	SECTION III – INTERIM PLACEMENT PROCEDURES	. 168

SECTION IV – LOW INCIDENCE	169
SECTION V – NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY SELPA FUNCTIONS	172
SECTION VI – PARENTALLY PLACED PRIVATE SCHOOL STUDENTS	176
SECTION VII – REGIONAL PROGRAMS & PROGRAM TRANSFER PROCEDURES	183
SECTION VIII – SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS REFERRAL PROCEDU	RES
	189

CHAPTER I – GOVERNANCE

SECTION I – GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

The East Valley Consortium Special Education Local Plan Area in San Bernardino County, henceforth referred to as the East Valley SELPA, was formed under authority of Sections 56195 - 56208, 56240 - 56245 of the State of California Education Code and Title 5, Section 3000, and is the result of the Master Plan for Special Education as approved by the California Department of Education, henceforth referred to as CDE.

The East Valley SELPA is a multi-district SELPA composed of five school districts. In addition, the San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools East Valley Operations, henceforth referred to as SBCSS Ev-Ops, provides services as agreed to by the school districts. The school districts, or LEAs, that comprise the East Valley SELPA are Colton Joint Unified School District, Redlands Unified School District, Rialto Unified School District, Rim of the World Unified School District, and Yucaipa-Calimesa Joint Unified School District.

Governance Structure

The East Valley SELPA Board of Directors is the governing board of the East Valley SELPA. The East Valley SELPA Board of Directors is composed of the Superintendents from each participating school district and along with the Assistant Superintendent of Student Services for SBCSS. Members of the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors are responsible to their respective local school Boards. The superintendent of SBCSS serves as the chair of the Board while the East Valley SELPA administrator serves as the secretary to the Board.

The SELPA Administrator, through the utilization of SELPA staff and appropriate committees, carries out the activities and duties assigned by the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors to coordinate the SELPA and implement the Local Plan. The SELPA Administrator facilitates regular meetings of the East Valley SELPA Steering Committee in order to transmit information for implementation of the directives and policies of the Board of Directors and for the development of procedures. The Steering Committee is composed of the Special Education Directors of each participating LEA of the East Valley SELPA, and the Area Director of SBCSS-East Valley Operations. The LEA special education directors are responsible, as individuals, for the operation of school district programs to ensure that all eligible children with disabilities receive appropriate services. In addition, the East Valley SELPA Community Advisory Committee (CAC) acts in an advisory capacity to the SELPA Administrator to report on issues and activities of the CAC for review and consideration, and to participate in the development, amendment, and review of the Local Plan.

The SELPA provides a coordinating function and serves as staff to each of the groups. Thus, a smooth and efficient operation of the administrative structure is achieved to assure a successful implementation of the Local Plan for Special Education in accordance with the policies adopted by the SELPA Board of Directors.

Changes to the governance structure of the East Valley SELPA may occur with the addition or withdrawal of an LEA in accordance with Ed Code 56195.1 and all relevant statutes. The following shall apply for LEAs being added to the East Valley SELPA:

An LEA may request to participate in the East Valley SELPA at any time with participation to begin July 1 of the following fiscal year.

The SELPA Administrator will notify the SELPA Board of Directors, SBCSS, and the California State Department of Education within 30 days of receipt of the request.

The SELPA Administrator and/or SELPA staff will review the request and make a written recommendation, including a thorough analysis of governance and fiscal implications caused by such proposed action, within 60 days of receipt of the notice.

The SELPA Board of Directors will receive copies of the written recommendation at least 10 days prior to the item appearing on the agenda.

The SELPA Board of Directors will take action to approve or disapprove the LEA request to participate in the SELPA within 100 days of notice receipt.

If approved, the request to participate will become effective on July 1 of the next fiscal year.

The new LEA shall participate in the governance of the SELPA in the same manner as other LEAs of the SELPA.

The new LEA shall participate in state and federal funding for special education and will receive the funding in the same manner as other LEAs of the SELPA as specified in the East Valley SELPA Fiscal Allocation Plan.

The following shall apply for LEAs withdrawing from the East Valley SELPA:

A. The Superintendent of the LEA requesting withdrawal must submit written notice, with details of the plan to withdraw, to the SELPA Administrator at least one year and one day prior to the proposed effective date of the implementation to withdraw. Withdrawals can only occur on July 1 of any given year.

The SELPA Administrator will notify the SELPA Board of Directors, SBCSS, and the California State Department of Education within 30 days of receipt of the request to withdraw.

The SELPA Administrator and/or SELPA staff will review the notice and make a written recommendation, including a thorough analysis of governance or fiscal implications caused by such proposed action, within 60 days of receipt of the notice.

The SELPA Board of Directors will receive copies of the written recommendation at least 10 days prior to the item appearing on an agenda.

The SELPA Board of Directors will take action to approve or disapprove the LEA withdrawing from the SELPA within 100 days of notice receipt.

If approved, the withdrawal will become effective on July 1 of the next fiscal year.

Any LEA initiating a proposal to withdraw from the SELPA shall bear the total cost of consultants retained by the LEA or SELPA to provide a thorough analysis of governance or fiscal implications caused by such proposed action. In addition, any due process costs associated with a withdrawal from SELPA or program transfer within the SELPA shall be born entirely by the district initiating the change.

Regional Policy Making Process

The East Valley SELPA Board of Directors is responsible for reviewing each proposed policy and may approve, disapprove, or request the revision of policies presented to it. The Board of Directors may also initiate policy development. It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to adopt necessary policies for the operation of SELPA activities, including, but not limited to, the implementation of the Local Plan.

The SELPA Administrator has the responsibility to review and propose policies for the operation of special education programs and services within the SELPA. The SELPA Steering Committee may be consulted. The SELPA Administrator may provide such policy to the Board of Directors with the recommendation for approval, disapproval, or modification of proposed policy.

In addition, policy making responsibilities are fulfilled by member school district local boards of education. Each SELPA member district governing board of education has the responsibility to assure there are program options available to all students with disabilities within its attendance area. LEA governing boards of education make policy and procedural decisions for programs and services operated by their respective districts. LEAs are responsible for the compliance of programs which they operate.

Role of the San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools

The San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools (SBCSS) is designated as the official administrative unit (AU) of the East Valley SELPA to assure the implementation of the Local Plan and SELPA policies, agreements, and procedures of the East Valley Board of Directors in cooperation with participating LEAs. The distribution of federal and state funds is the responsibility of SBCSS in accordance with the East Valley SELPA's Fiscal Allocation Plan and policies, agreements, and procedures of the East Valley SELPA's Fiscal accepts regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA in accordance with directives of the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors.

The East Valley SELPA Administrator is employed by the AU Superintendent. The employment, supervision, evaluation, and discipline of the SELPA administrator follows the procedures and guidelines of the SBCSS Human Resources Department. SELPA staff members are employed by SBCSS upon recommendation from the SELPA Administrator. Supervision, evaluation, and discipline of the East Valley SELPA staff employed by the AU in support of the Local Plan is the responsibility of the SELPA Administrator.

When SBCSS provides special education services, the relevant contracts between the county office and its employees governing wages, hours, and working conditions shall supersede the like provisions contained in any agreements by an LEA receiving such services.

Charter School Participation

Charter schools and/or other districts applying for LEA status within the East Valley SELPA shall submit a justification specifying why membership as an East Valley SELPA LEA is preferable to other alternatives. A request by a charter school to participate in the SELPA as an LEA will not be treated differently from a similar request made by a school district. The charter school shall participate in state and federal funding for special education and the allocation plan, and governance of the special education local plan area in the same manner as other LEAs in the East Valley SELPA.

This policy applies to all dependent charter schools that are chartered by educational entities located within East Valley SELPA, as well as independent charter schools designated as a Local Education Agency (LEA). Additionally, this policy applies to any charter school petition granted by the County Board of Education or State Board of Education (SBE) in which oversight responsibilities have been assigned to a district within the SELPA (E.C. 47605(k)(1). In compliance with E.C. 47645, the East Valley SELPA will treat the review and approval of a charter school's request to be an LEA in the same manner as a request from another district to join the SELPA.

As students enrolled in charter schools are entitled to special education services provided by State and Federal funding, the charter schools shall follow all applicable requirements of State and Federal law regarding provision of special education services (E.C. 56000 et seq.), Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. Chapter 33).

Policy Statement

Special education and related services shall be provided to all eligible individuals within East Valley SELPA in accordance with this Local Plan. Students enrolled in charter schools chartered within the county shall receive services in a manner similar to students enrolled in member districts within the SELPA. Funding for special education services, participation in the governance structure, and responsibility for provision of services shall be based on the status of the individual charter school.

All approved charter schools will be deemed as public schools within a district unless the charter school has been deemed an LEA.

A. <u>SELPA Involvement with Approval and Renewal of Charters</u>: Prior to approval of a new charter or renewal of an existing charter, the superintendent or designee of the chartering entity may consult with the SELPA Administrator regarding the status of the charter school. In order to be deemed an LEA, the chartering entity will provide assurances that all eligible students, including those students enrolled in the charter school, will receive appropriate special education services.

<u>Status of Charter Schools</u>: For the purposes of provision of special education services, charter schools may be deemed either an LEA or a public school within the chartering district.

- 1. Public School Within a School District: Charter schools that are deemed to be public schools within a district will participate in the State and Federal funding in the same manner as other schools within the chartering district. The chartering district will be responsible for ensuring that all children with disabilities enrolled in the charter school receive special education and designated instructional services in a manner that is consistent with all applicable provisions of State and Federal law. The district will determine the policies and procedures necessary to ensure that the protections of special education law extend to students in the charter school in the same manner as students in the regular program.
- 2. The chartering district will receive all applicable special education funds. The chartering district will represent the needs of charter schools, like other schools within the district, in the SELPA governance structure. The chartering district will be responsible for ensuring that all eligible students are appropriately served. The district will be responsible for procuring and funding appropriate special education services, even though the student may reside anywhere in the State of California.
- 3. The district and the charter school may enter into agreements whereby the charter school is billed for excess costs associated with providing special education services to identified students, including the administration of special education programs. The charter school should also be held fiscally responsible for a fair share of any encroachment on district general funds that is created by the provision of special education services throughout the district similar to non-charter schools within the SELPA.
 - a. Charter School as an LEA Within the SELPA: A charter school may apply to become an LEA for the provision of special education services. Application must be made to the SELPA by February 1 of the school year preceding the school year in which the charter school anticipates operating as an LEA within the SELPA. The SELPA Board of Directors will make the final determination whether the charter school has met all requirements of an LEA. The special education requirements include:
 - i. Meet the terms of the assurances required in the Local Plan regarding Identification, Screening, Referral, Assessment, Instructional Planning, Implementation, and review.
 - ii. Meet the terms of the assurances required in the Local Plan regarding Procedural Safeguards.

- iii. Meet the terms of the assurances required in the Local Plan regarding Regionalized Services.
- b. Once deemed an LEA, the charter school will be responsible for and entitled to the following:
 - i. Participate in governance of the SELPA in the same manner as other districts within the SELPA.
 - ii. Participate in State and Federal funding for special education in accordance with the SELPA Allocation Plan in the same manner as other LEAs within the SELPA.
 - iii. Be responsible for all costs incurred in the provision of special education services. These costs may include, but are not limited to, instruction, transportation, nonpublic school/agency placements, inter/intra SELPA placements, due process proceedings, complaints, and attorney fees.
 - iv. Provide a current operating budget in order to assure fiscal responsibility in accordance with E.C. Sections 42130 and 42131.
 - v. Provide a copy of the Charter.
 - vi. Provide assurances that students and staff will be instructed in a safe environment.

<u>Administrative Guidelines</u>: A petition for the creation of a charter school, or renewal of an existing charter, which seeks to be deemed an LEA, must contain adequate assurances that the proposed school will comply with all applicable provisions of State and Federal law and implementing regulations related to the rights of children with disabilities and their parents (20 U.S.C. Chapter 33, Individuals with Disabilities Education Act).

- 4. The governing board shall require that a petition include the means by which the charter school intends to serve students with disabilities.
- 5. The governing board shall require that a petition contain assurances that no student will be denied admission to the charter school based on disability or lack of available services.
- 6. Prior to approving a charter school petition, the superintendent or designee of the chartering entity may consult with the SELPA Administrator regarding the provision of special education services to students enrolled in the prospective charter school.
- 7. The charter petition, or an accompanying Memorandum of Understanding or Business Services Agreement, may provide for the allocation of excess costs and/or the charter school's fair share of special education encroachment on the district general fund.
- 8. Once admitted to a charter school, any special education services required by enrolled students will be provided by the chartering district if the school is deemed a public school within the district, or by the charter school if deemed an LEA, or by contractual arrangement.
- 9. If a charter school IEP team places a student in a special education program provided by another educational entity (i.e., a COE, nonpublic school, nonpublic agency, or another district or SELPA), the charter school will be responsible for any excess costs attributable to the placement, similar to other districts within the SELPA. Responsibility for excess costs will rest with the placing charter school.
- 10. A district IEP team may place a student in a charter program only with agreement between responsible educational entities and parental consent. Under such circumstances, the placing district will be responsible for any excess costs in accordance with the Local Plan.
- 11. The chartering district will be allocated all special education funds that are generated by a charter school that is deemed a public school. The chartering district will represent the needs of the charter schools that are deemed public schools in the SELPA governance structure. The charter school will receive SELPA services in the same manner as other schools within the chartering district.

- 12. If the approval of a charter school requires a change in the SELPA allocation plan, such change shall be adopted pursuant to the policy making process outlined in the SELPA Local Plan.
- 13. If the charter school wishes to be deemed an LEA, the approved charter school will apply to the SELPA for LEA status prior to February 1 of the preceding school year.
- 14. Charter schools that are deemed an LEA will be allocated special education funds in the same manner as other districts within the SELPA. Charter schools that are deemed an LEA will be included in the SELPA governance structure in the same manner as other districts within the SELPA.

Representation and Participation of the Community Advisory Committee (CAC)

The member districts of the East Valley SELPA select and appoint representatives to the EV SELPA Community Advisory Committee CAC that are approved to participate by their respective school boards. In addition, community members may participate in CAC meetings. Members of the EV SELPA CAC are involved in the development of the local plan through their attendance at regularly scheduled CAC meetings. The schedule of meetings is developed and provided annually. The EV SELPA CAC advises the SELPA during the development of the Local Plan by providing input and reviewing plan drafts to ensure adequate and effective participation and communication regarding the revisions to the Local Plan. It serves as a forum for members of the public to address questions or concerns regarding the Local Plan.

The East Valley SELPA Local Plan Committee shall be comprised of general education and special education teachers selected by their peers, along with general education and special education administrators selected by their school district superintendents, and representatives of charter schools selected by their charter school directors. Employees of the EV SELPA may also participate on the East Valley SELPA Local Plan Committee. The Committee shall meet at designated times to provide input on the development of the Local Plan and to review drafts of the Plan as well as make recommendations to the SELPA Administrator regarding revisions to the Plan. In addition, parent members of the EV SELPA CAC shall also make recommendations to the SELPA Administrator regarding revisions of the Plan via regularly scheduled CAC meetings.

East Valley SELPA's Administrative Unit

The San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools (SBCSS) is the designated administrative unit (AU) for the East Valley SELPA. As the AU, SBCSS shall assure the implementation of the Local Plan and SELPA policies, agreements, and procedures in cooperation with each member district of the SELPA. SBCSS is responsible for the receipt and distribution of special education funds to member district and SELPA accounts for the operation of special education programs and services pursuant to the East Valley SELPA Fiscal Allocation Plan. SBCSS provides administrative support and employs SELPA staff to coordinate implementation of the Plan.

Responsibility of Participating Agency for the Education of Each Student with Special Needs

Per the bylaws of the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors, each member district affirms ongoing participation in the SELPA at the annual reorganization meeting. Member districts and SBCSS Ev-Ops are the providers of special education programs and services within the SELPA.

The participating LEAs in the EV SELPA are responsible as individuals for the operation of Local Education Agency (LEA) programs to ensure that all eligible children with disabilities receive appropriate services. In addition, SELPA staff may be employed to provide areas of specialized expertise or service, which shall be available to member districts and SBCSS East Valley-Operations, upon approval by the Board of Directors.

Responsibility of Each COE and LEA Governing Board in the Policymaking Process

The East Valley SELPA member district governing boards, as elected officials, are involved in the policy making process through the local superintendent's or equivalent administrator's participation in the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors. Each LEA governing board has the responsibility to assure that there are program options available to all students with disabilities within its attendance area. This is accomplished through the active participation of the East Valley SELPA Board of Director members, who shall responsibly address the resource needs of participating school districts. Each school district superintendent is responsible for informing the respective governing board of updates and changes to the SELPA policies. LEA governing boards make policy and procedural decisions for programs and services operated by their respective districts. LEAs are responsible for compliance and due process issues for programs which they operate. Each LEA Board shall appoint representatives to the Community Advisory Committee. Specific responsibilities include:

- A. Adoption of the East Valley SELPA Local Plan.
- B. Exercise authority over the programs they directly maintain consistent with the Local Plan for the SELPA and individual LEA policies.
- C. Appoint members to the East Valley SELPA Community Advisory Committee (CAC) in accordance with CAC bylaws and LEA policies.
- D. Encourage parental involvement through the members of CAC, receive and consider requests and recommendations from their CAC representatives and other parent groups.
- E. Review formal complaints forwarded by the respective LEA Superintendents as outlined in the LEA's Uniform Complaint Procedures.
- F. Address questions and concerns of the public, including parents or guardians of individuals with exceptional needs who are receiving services under the Local Plan.

Responsibilities of the Superintendents of Each Participating LEA and COE

Each LEA superintendent shall represent the LEA as a member of the East Valley Board of Directors. The responsibilities of each LEA superintendent for the implementation of the Local Plan shall be to the following:

- A. Assure that all special education programs and services are operated in accordance with state and federal law, the Local Plan, and the policies, agreements, and procedures approved by the Board of Directors.
- B. Assure that the LEA maintains an accounting system adequate to provide federal, state, and local reports to include program and fiscal reports required by the East Valley SELPA.
- C. Submit Public Law 108-446 (formerly P.L. 101-476) budgets and expenditure reports for grant funds.
- D. Attend all East Valley SELPA Board meetings and participate as a voting member.

Responsibilities of Each LEA and COE for Coordinating the Administration of the Local Plan

It is the responsibility of each LEA special education administrator and county administrator of special education to assure that all LEA/county policies operate within federal and state laws and regulations.

Each LEA has a responsibility to participate in SELPA Steering and other committee meetings to facilitate understanding and knowledge in coordinating the administration of the Local Plan. The various committees

provide a communication network on current and important issues related to special education laws, regulations, state requirements, and programmatic issues.

SECTION II – POLICIES

Policies Statement

In accordance with State and Federal laws and regulations and as stated in the East Valley SELPA Local Plan, procedures addressing the following policies shall be on file at the Local Education Agency (LEA) and/or SELPA office. This Special Education Handbook was developed for this purpose and should be maintained by all LEA member districts within the East Valley SELPA.

The LEA Superintendent will administer the local implementation of these procedures, in accordance with State and Federal laws, rules and regulations, which will ensure full compliance.

EV Policy 1.01 - Free Appropriate Public Education (20 USC § 1412 (a)(1))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that a free appropriate public education is available to all children residing in the LEA between the ages of three through 21 inclusive, including students with disabilities who have been suspended or expelled from school.

EV Policy 1.02 - Full Educational Opportunity (20 USC § 1412 (a)(2))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that all pupils with disabilities have access to educational programs, nonacademic programs, and services available to non-disabled pupils.

EV Policy 1.03 - Child Find (20 USC § 1412 (a)(3))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that all children with disabilities residing in the State, including children with disabilities who are homeless or are wards of the State and children attending private schools, regardless of the severity of their disabilities, and who are in need of special education and related services are identified, located, and evaluated. A practical method is developed and implemented to determine which students with disabilities are currently receiving needed special education and related services.

EV Policy 1.04 - Individualized Education Program (IEP) and Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP) (20 USC § 1412 (a)(4))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that an Individualized Education Program (IEP) or an Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP) is developed, reviewed, and revised for each child with a disability who requires special education and related services in order to benefit from his/her individualized education program. It shall be the policy of this LEA that a review of an IEP will be conducted on at least an annual basis to review a student's progress and make appropriate revisions.

EV Policy 1.05 – Least Restrictive Environment (20 USC § 1412 (a)(5))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that to the maximum extent appropriate, children with disabilities, including children in public or private institutions or other care facilities, are educated with children who are not disabled. Special class, separate schooling, or other removal of a student with disabilities from the general educational environment, occurs only when the nature or severity of the disability of the student is such that education in general classes with the use of supplemental aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily.

EV Policy 1.06 – Procedural Safeguards (20 USC § 1412 (a)(6))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that children with disabilities and their parents shall be afforded all procedural safeguards throughout the provision of a free appropriate public education including the identification, evaluation, and placement process.

EV Policy 1.07 - Evaluation (20 USC § 1412 (a)(7))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that a reassessment of a student with a disability shall be conducted at least once every three years or more frequently, if appropriate.

EV Policy 1.08 - Confidentiality (20 USC § 1412 (a)(8))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that the confidentiality of personally identifiable data information and records maintained by the LEA relating to children with disabilities and their parents and families shall be protected pursuant to the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA).

EV Policy 1.09 - Part C to Part B Transition (20 USC § 1412 (a)(9))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that a transition process for a child who is participating in Early Intervention Programs (IDEA, Part C) with an IFSP is begun prior to a toddler's third birthday. The transition process shall be smooth, timely and effective for the child and family.

EV Policy 1.10 – Private Schools (20 USC § 1412 (a)(10))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to assure that children with disabilities voluntarily enrolled by their parents in private schools shall receive appropriate special education and related services pursuant to LEA coordinated procedures. The proportionate amount of federal funds will be allocated for the purpose of providing special education services to children with disabilities voluntarily enrolled in private school by their parents.

EV Policy 1.11 - Local Compliance Assurances (20 USC § 1412 (a)(11))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that the local plan shall be adopted by the appropriate local board(s) (district/county) and is the basis for the operation and administration of special education programs; and that the agency(ies) herein represented will meet all applicable requirements of state and federal laws and regulations, including compliance with the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, the Federal Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Section 504 of Public Law and the provisions of the California Education Code, Part 30.

EV Policy 1.12 – Interagency (20 USC § 1412 (a)(12))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that interagency agreements or other mechanisms for interagency coordination are in effect to ensure services required for FAPE are provided, including the continuation of services during an interagency dispute resolution process.

EV Policy 1.13 - Governance (20 USC § 1412 (a)(13))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to support and comply with the provisions of the governance bodies and any necessary administrative support to implement the Local Plan. A final determination that an LEA is not eligible for assistance under this part will not be made without first affording that LEA with reasonable notice and an opportunity for a hearing through the State Educational Agency.

EV Policy 1.14 – Personnel Qualifications (20 USC § 1412 (a)(14))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to ensure that personnel providing special education related services meet the highly qualified requirements as defined under federal law, including that those personnel have the content knowledge and skills to serve children with disabilities.

This policy shall not be construed to create a right of action on behalf of an individual student for the failure of a particular LEA staff person to be highly qualified or to prevent a parent from filing a State complaint with the CDE about staff qualifications.

EV Policy 1.15 - Performance Goals & Indicators (20 USC § 1412 (a)(15))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to comply with the requirements of the performance goals and indicators developed by the CDE and provide data as required by the CDE.

EV Policy 1.16 - Participation in Assessments (20 USC § 1412 (a)(16))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that all students with disabilities shall participate in state and district-wide assessment programs. The IEP team determines how a student will access assessments with or without accommodations, or access alternate assessments, consistent with state standards governing such determinations.

EV Policy 1.17 – Supplementation of State and Federal Funds (20 USC § 1412 (a)(17))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to provide assurances that funds received from Part B of the IDEA will be expended in accordance with the applicable provisions of the IDEA; will be used to supplement and not to supplant state, local and other Federal funds.

EV Policy 1.18 – Maintenance of Effort (20 USC § 1412 (a)(18))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that federal funds will not be used to reduce the level of local funds and/or combined level of local and state funds expended for the education of children with disabilities except as provided in Federal law and regulations.

EV Policy 1.19 – Public Participation (20 USC § 1412 (a)(19))

It shall be the policy of this LEA that public hearings, adequate notice of the hearings, and an opportunity for comment available to the general public, including individuals with disabilities and parents of children with disabilities are held prior to the adoption of any policies and/or regulations needed to comply with Part B of the IDEA.

EV Policy 1.20 – Suspension and Expulsion (20 USC § 1412 (a)(22))

The LEA assures that data on suspension and expulsion rates will be provided in a manner prescribed by the CDE. When indicated by data analysis, the LEA further assures that policies, procedures, and practices related to the development and implementation of the IEPs will be revised.

EV Policy 1.21 – Access to Instructional Materials (20 USC § 1412 (a)(23))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to provide instructional materials to blind students or other students with print disabilities in a timely manner according to the state adopted National Instructional Materials Accessibility Standard.

EV Policy 1.22 – Overidentification and Disproportionality (20 USC § 1412 (a)(24))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to prevent the inappropriate disproportionate representation by race and ethnicity of students with disabilities.

EV Policy 1.23 – Prohibition on Mandatory Medicine (20 USC § 1412 (a)(25))

It shall be the policy of this LEA to prohibit school personnel from requiring a student to obtain a prescription for a substance covered by the Controlled Substances Act as a condition of attending school or receiving a special education assessment and/or services.

SECTION III – REGIONAL OPERATIONS/ADMINISTRATIVE COORDINATION

EV Admin Coord 2.01 - Coordination of the SELPA and the Implementation of the Local Plan:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: Not applicable.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS as the administrative unit of the East Valley SELPA assures the implementation of the Local Plan by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA in accordance with directives of the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator ensures that the Local Plan is implemented and makes recommendations to the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors when revisions are needed. This includes facilitating the development and approval of SELPA policies and procedures necessary to implement the Local Plan.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA ensure a full continuum of services are available in order to provide a free and appropriate public education to all students with disabilities for whom they are responsible. The individual LEAs, through their representative to the Board of Directors, approve any policies and procedures needed to implement the Local Plan.

EV Admin Coord 2.02 - Coordinated System of Identification and Assessment:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA observe, consult and assist service providers.
- Role of the RLA/AU: Not applicable.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator ensures each LEA conducts child find activities. The SELPA provides technical support to LEAs and guidance to parents, as needed. The SELPA participates in child find activities by establishing policies and procedures for the member LEAs and ensures appropriate interagency agreements are in place.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA are responsible for identifying and assessing all students for whom they are responsible.

EV Admin Coord 2.03 - Coordinated System of Procedural Safeguards:

• Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA provide support for alternate dispute resolution activities within districts as requested by parents and districts. The program specialists also assure procedural safeguards by providing technical assistance

and guidance on forms and procedures to LEAs in the areas of assessment, identification, services, and placement.

- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures a coordinated system of procedural safeguards by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA administrator ensures that parents are provided with a copy of their procedural safeguards upon request and maintains a copy of the procedural safeguards on the SELPA website. The SELPA Administrator oversees the provision of alternate dispute resolution activities as requested by parents and districts. The SELPA administrator also assures procedural safeguards by providing technical assistance and guidance on forms and procedures to LEAs in the areas of assessment, identification, services, and placement.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA provide procedural safeguards to parents consistent with the education code, assist parents with understanding them, and ensures that they are implemented. The LEAs assist parents with filing complaints with the Office of Administrative Hearings when requested.

EV Admin Coord 2.04 - Coordinated System of Staff Development and Parent and Guardian Education:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA provide staff development, program development, and innovation of special methods and approaches.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures a coordinated system of staff development and parent and guardian education by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: Regularly, the SELPA Administrator collects input from the member district special education directors and other staff members to determine staff development needs. The SELPA Administrator provides oversight in the development and provision of needed staff development and supports. On an annual basis, the East Valley SELPA Community Advisory Committee (CAC) provides input on parent/guardian education needs. The SELPA Administrator provides oversight in the development and provision of identified parent and guardian education.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA determine their staff development and parent/guardian education, based on their local needs. They may seek technical assistance or input from the SELPA. They ensure the use of resources for employees to participate in staff development.

EV Admin Coord 2.05 - Coordinated System of Curriculum Development and Alignment with the Core Curriculum:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA identify and coordinate curricular resources for students with disabilities.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures a coordinated system of curriculum development and alignment with the core curriculum by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.

- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator provides technical assistance and staff development, as requested or determined appropriate, to assure a coordinated system of curriculum development and alignment with the core curriculum.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA determine their needs for curriculum development and alignment with the core curriculum, based on their local needs.

EV Admin Coord 2.06 - Coordinated System Internal Program Review, Evaluation of the Effectiveness of the Local Plan, and Implementation of the Local Plan Accountability System:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: When requested, the program specialist of the East Valley SELPA evaluate the effectiveness of programs for students with disabilities.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures a coordinated system of internal program review, evaluation of effectiveness of the Local Plan, and implementation of the Local Plan accountability system by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator ensures the Local Plan is reviewed and evaluated on an ongoing basis to determine the effectiveness of its implementation. The SELPA Administrator ensures the submission annually of all information required by CDE, in this effort, including statistical data, program information, and fiscal information related to programs and services for pupils with disabilities. The SELPA Administrator supports member districts in the collection of data related to compliance, due process procedures, availability of services, and key performance indicators, as needed.
- Role of the individual LEAs. The member districts of the East Valley SELPA individually review and monitor Annual Performance Reports, the California School Dashboard, and other data sources to ensure students with disabilities receive a free and appropriate public education. Individual LEAs will also engage in monitoring activities as required by the CDE.

EV Admin Coord 2.07 - Coordinated System of Data Collection and Management:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: Not applicable.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures a coordinated system of data collection and management by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator approves and certifies the California Longitudinal Assessment and Pupil Data System (CALPADS) submission of each member LEA as required by the California Department of Education. The SELPA provides technical assistance and training to LEAs in data collection and management.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA LEAs are responsible for data entry, quality and integrity. The LEAs approve and certify the California Longitudinal Assessment and Pupil Data System (CALPADS) submission as required by the California Department of Education.

EV Admin Coord 2.08 - Coordination of Interagency Agreements:

• Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: Not applicable,

- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures the coordination of interagency agreements by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator ensures that interagency agreements are in place as required by California Education Code and provides technical assistance and dispute resolution as needed. The SELPA Administrator, or designee, serves on committees as interagency agreements are being reviewed, revised, or developed.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA through their representative to the Board of Directors approve and implement interagency agreements as appropriate.

EV Admin Coord 2.09 - Coordination of Services to Medical Facilities:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA when requested provide technical assistance to assure pupils have a full educational opportunity regardless of the district of residence or location of services provided.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures the coordination of services to medical facilities by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA administrator facilitates the coordination of services to medical facilities by the designated LEAs.
- Role of the individual LEAs: Individuals with exceptional needs who are placed in a public hospital, state licensed children's hospital, psychiatric hospital, proprietary hospital, or a health facility for medical purposes are the educational responsibility of the East Valley SELPA member district in which the hospital or facility is located.

EV Admin Coord 2.10 - Coordination of Services to Licensed Children's Institutions and Foster Family Homes:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA when requested provide technical assistance to assure pupils have a full educational opportunity regardless of the district of special education accountability.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures the coordination of services to licensed children's institutions and foster family homes by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA administrator facilitates the coordination of services to licensed children's institutions and foster family homes by the designated LEAs.
- Role of the individual LEAs: Special education services for students with disabilities residing in foster family homes or licensed children's institutions are the responsibility of the member district of the East Valley SELPA in which the foster family home or the licensed children's institution is located, unless based on education code there is another district of special education accountability which would be responsible.

EV Admin Coord 2.11 - Preparation and Transmission of Required Special Education Local Plan Area Reports:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: Not applicable.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures the preparation and transmission of required special education local plan area reports by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator ensures timely transmission of required reports and provides technical assistance to LEAs in completing reports.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA, individually, submit required data in order for the SELPA to submit timely reports.

EV Admin Coord 2.12 - Fiscal and Logistical Support of the CAC:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialist of the East Valley SELPA provides training and logistical support to the CAC.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures the fiscal and logistical support of the CAC by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator ensures fiscal and logistical support for CAC meetings, events, and trainings.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The superintendents of the East Valley SELPA member districts through the Board of Directors ensure the SELPA has sufficient resources to provide fiscal and logistical support for the CAC. Special Education Directors of the East Valley SELPA member districts facilitate communication with their CAC representative(s) for this purpose.

EV Admin Coord 2.13 - Coordination of Transportation Services for Individuals with Exceptional Needs:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: Not applicable.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures the coordination of transportation services for individuals with exceptional needs by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator provides guidance and technical assistance, as requested, in addressing questions regarding the provision of transportation services for individuals with exceptional needs.
- Role of the individual LEAs: Each member district of the East Valley SELPA is responsible for providing transportation for their students with disabilities as determined by their IEP teams.

EV Admin Coord 2.14 - Coordination of Career Vocational Education and Transition Services:

• Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA provide staff development, program development, and innovation of special methods and approaches to LEA members for the provision of career and technical education and transition services.

- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures the coordination of career and vocational education and transition services by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator provides technical assistance and oversight of staff development to LEA members for the provision of career and technical education and transition services. The SELPA Administrator ensures appropriate interagency agreements are in place and facilitates connections to agencies, as appropriate.
- Role of the individual LEAs: Each member district of the East Valley SELPA provides appropriate career and vocational education and transition services as required under state and federal law.

EV Admin Coord 2.15 - Assurance of Full Educational Opportunity:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA provide technical assistance to assure pupils have a full educational opportunity regardless of the district of special education accountability.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures a full educational opportunity by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator ensures a full continuum of services is available and provided. The SELPA Administrator assists with Inter-SELPA Transfers, as needed. Additionally, the SELPA Administrator provides program development and technical assistance upon request or as determined to be needed by the SELPA to member districts and/or nonpublic schools.
- Role of the individual LEAs: Each member district of the East Valley SELPA, through their representative to the Board of Directors determines the regional programs needed to meet the needs of the students with disabilities within the SELPA. Additionally, each member district of the East Valley SELPA is responsible for providing a full continuum of services.

EV Admin Coord 2.16 - Fiscal Administration and the Allocation of State and Federal Funds pursuant to EC Section 56836.01:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: Not applicable.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS provides the fiscal administration and distribution of state and federal funds to the SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The East Valley SELPA Administrator facilitates the distribution of funds in accordance with the Fiscal Allocation Plan. The SELPA Administrator also facilitates the development of the Annual Budget Plan.
- Role of the individual LEAs: Each member district of the East Valley SELPA through their representative to the Board of Directors approves the allocation of funds to the member LEAs and approves the Annual Budget Plan. The member districts also submit fiscal reports as required by state and federal laws.

EV Admin Coord 2.17 - Direct Instructional Program Support that maybe Provided by Program Specialist in Accordance with EC Section 56368:

- Direct Instructional support provided by the program specialist: The program specialists of the East Valley SELPA provide direct instructional program support when requested to do so by a member district.
- Role of the RLA/AU: SBCSS assures direct instructional program support that may be provided by program specialists by accepting regionalized services and program specialist funds and the responsibilities that accompany them to fund the operations of the East Valley SELPA.
- Role of the Administrator of the SELPA: The SELPA Administrator provides oversight in the provision of direct instructional support by programs specialists and provides technical assistance, as requested or determined appropriate.
- Role of the individual LEAs: The member districts of the East Valley SELPA determine their needs for instructional program support and request support from the East Valley SELPA.

SECTION IV – SERVICES

EV Services 3.01 - Programs for Early Childhood Special Education

Early Education Services are provided for all eligible infants, toddlers, and preschool children by member LEAs through:

- A. LEA preschool programs and services
- B. Cooperative agreements within the SELPA wherein infant programs are operated by San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools (SBCSS) and Redlands Unified School Districts
- C. An Interagency Agreement between Inland Regional Center and East Valley SELPA for Implementation of California's Early Intervention which describes specific policies, procedures, roles and responsibilities for serving infants and toddlers. Member LEAs of the East Valley SELPA follow transition procedures identified in the Agreement for transition of toddlers into LEA preschool programs and services (Part C to Part B transition).

EV Services 3.02 - Method by Which Members of the Public May Address Questions or Concerns to the SELPA

Members of the public, including parents or guardians of students with disabilities who are receiving services under the Local Plan, may address questions or concerns to the governing boards of the Local Educational Agencies (LEAs), the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors and the East Valley SELPA Administrator. Questions or concerns can be provided orally or in writing.

Members of the public may also present questions or concerns in person to the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors in a scheduled Board meeting. All notices of East Valley SELPA Board of Director meetings are sent electronically to all member LEAs and posted at the East Valley SELPA office 48 hours prior to the scheduled meeting. The method by which questions and/or concerns are heard from the public to the East Valley Board of Directors is included on each agenda as "Community Comments." The public may address the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors pursuant to established procedures. No action shall be taken (E.C. 35145.5) at the meeting in response to Community Comments.

On matters of policy and budget development, all interested parties may provide input to the East Valley SELPA Administrator for consideration and review at any time, either orally or in writing.

EV Services 3.03 - Dispute Resolution Process for Governance Activities Specified within the Local Plan

If an LEA disagrees with a decision or practice of another agency or the SELPA, that LEA has a responsibility to discuss and attempt resolution of the disagreement with the party, or parties, directly involved. The parties involved will present the issues to their respective superintendents, or designees, who will attempt to resolve the matter. Resolution strategies such as compromise, mediation, and alternative dispute resolution may be employed. Either party may request the assistance of the SELPA Administrator, or his/her designee, or the Chair of the SELPA Board of Directors.

When issues cannot be resolved through discussion and resolution strategies, the Board of Directors may authorize the SELPA Administrator to contact appropriate authorities to assist in the resolution. The parties will make a good faith effort to mutually agree to an authority with expertise related to the dispute. Each party shall bear its own costs and expenses and an equal share of any fees for dispute resolution.

This policy is intended to resolve disagreements within a reasonable period of time, but it is not intended to undermine local authority.

EV Services 3.04 - Consideration of and Utilization of the Regular Education Program Prior to Referral for Special Education Instruction and Services

The SELPA Administrator, through the utilization of SELPA staff and through regular meetings of the East Valley SELPA Steering Committee transmits information on resources, practices and procedures to ensure a student referred for special education instruction and services has received instruction in the regular education program utilizing resources to ensure educational progress. Each LEA shall ensure that a pupil is referred for special education and services only after the resources of the general education program have been considered and, where appropriate, utilized. Such resources may include, but are not limited to, response to intervention models, student success teams, early literacy programs, and remedial programs.

EV Services 3.05 - Nonpublic School Placement and Oversight

The East Valley SELPA contracts with nonpublic, nonsectarian schools on behalf of the member districts. The SELPA coordinates with the California Department of Education to ensure oversight and compliance of nonpublic schools.

Each LEA shall evaluate the placement of its pupil(s) in such schools on at least an annual basis as part of the annual IEP review. The LEA representative shall review the master contract, the individual services agreements, and the IEP to ensure that all services agreed upon and specified in the IEP are provided.

Nonpublic, nonsectarian schools are required by the master contract and the IEP to annually evaluate the pupils to determine if they are making appropriate educational progress. The LEA representative shall collaboratively review with the nonpublic, nonsectarian school the evaluations conducted by the nonpublic, nonsectarian school to ensure that they were appropriate and valid for measuring pupil progress. The LEA may choose to administer additional assessments as necessary, with parent consent where required, to determine whether the pupil is making adequate educational progress.

EV Services 3.06 - Provision of FAPE to Incarcerated Students Age 18 to 21 (or age 22 if not diploma bound) Who Remain Eligible for Special Education Services

The SELPA Administrator provides and transmits information to member LEAs to ensure a student age 18-22 who has been incarcerated in county jail and remains eligible for special education services is provided with a free appropriate public education (FAPE) and ensures the development, facilitation and oversight of the EV SELPA Intra- and Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement processes as a county jail or other incarceration facility is not currently within the geographic boundaries of the EV SELPA. Once the SELPA or the responsible LEA is informed that an eligible adult is incarcerated, the responsible LEA will determine within 30 days of eligibility notification whether the qualified individual requires a FAPE. And if so, the LEA will ensure that the qualified individual is provided a FAPE pursuant to the IDEA and corresponding California special education law.

To receive special education services while incarcerated, the student must consent to the receipt of the services which may include but are not limited to transition services, specialized academic instruction and other services as determined by the IEP team. The student may revoke their consent for special education services at any time. Once the request has been made, the responsible LEA shall follow the EV SELPA Intra- and Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement processes describing how services are accessed and secured for students when the services are not available in the student's resident district. Each LEA ensures the pupil receives the special education services are processes.

SECTION V – FISCAL ALLOCATION PLAN

Statutory Requirement

California Education Law requires that a SELPA have a fiscal allocation plan to accompany its Local Plan that contains a methodology for distributing state and federal funds to the local education agency members of the SELPA.

E.C. 56195.7..... (i) For multidistrict special education local plan areas, a description of the policymaking process that shall include a description of the local method used to distribute state and federal funds among the local educational agencies in the special education local plan area. The local method to distribute funds shall be approved according to the policymaking process established consistent with subdivision (f) of Section 56001 and pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 56205.

California's Master Plan for Special Education

The East Valley SELPA (EV SELPA) has used the following guidance from California's Master Plan for Special Education in the development of this fiscal allocation plan.

The objectives essential to the construction of an equitable finance plan for special education are as follows:

- A. Provide adequate resources to assure equality of educational opportunity for all individuals with exceptional needs.
- B. Provide levels of support for special education programs which will promote programs and services of equal quality.
- C. Provide encouragement for the development of comprehensive programs.
- D. Promote both program and fiscal accountability.

- E. Clarify fiscal relationships between state, county, and district.
- F. Ensure equity in support levels among various program components.
- G. Provide adjustments in support levels to reflect changing costs.
- H. Provide support based on needs of pupils enrolled in education (funding based on specified programs and services rather than on categorical disability groupings).
- I. Ensure that reporting and auditing policies and procedures are meaningful for evaluation and program development.
- J. Provide methods for monitoring and evaluating quality control in special education.

(California Master Plan for Special Education, California State Board of Education, Jan. 10, 1974)

Guiding Principles

The EV SELPA has adopted the following guiding principles:

- A. SELPA members agree that all children with exceptional needs residing in this SELPA should be appropriately served.
- B. In order to deliver appropriate services to all students, the SELPA members believe in everyone working together as a team for the good of all. The cooperation of the business offices and program departments is critical.
- C. Fairness and equity shall be the basis of the development of this Fiscal Allocation Plan.
- D. Federal and state revenues will flow directly from the state to the SELPA Administrative Unit which is the San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools. In turn, the SELPA Administration will allocate the funds to SELPA members according to this Fiscal Allocation Plan.
- E. SELPA member local educational agencies (LEAs) will retain their own decision making on how to use their funds in serving students with disabilities based on needs outlined in their Individualized Education Programs (IEPs).
- F. This Fiscal Allocation Plan will be kept as simple as possible yet be flexible and useful in serving special education students.
- G. The distribution of funding will be understandable, predictable, and timely.
- H. SELPA members will commit to timely reporting and analysis of all relevant data necessary for the allocation and distribution of funds.
- I. This Fiscal Allocation Plan will be in legal compliance with federal and state laws.
- J. Disputes regarding this Funding Allocation Plan will be resolved at the lowest level possible with final appeal to the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors.

Revenue & Allocation (Funds Provided for Services to Students with Disabilities)

State Aide or AB 602 Funds

The California Department of Education provides AB 602 funding based on a rate per unit of Average Daily Attendance (ADA). Several funding sources contribute to the AB 602 funding model including district net

funding entitlement (also known as the base), local special education property taxes, low incidence, and out-of-home care.

In addition, a SELPA may apply to the Extra-ordinary Cost Pool annually to offset costs. As part of AB 602 funding, the program reimburses SELPAs for extraordinary costs of single placements in nonpublic, nonsectarian schools (NPS), and special education and related services for pupils residing in licensed children's institutions (LCI). Single placement costs in excess of the annual threshold amount are reimbursed but the funds are subject to availability and require annual application to be considered for the funds. The EV SELPA applies annually for the funds submitting single placement information as required for each member LEA that has an eligible single placement. If awarded, the funds are transferred to the member LEA(s) identified in the award letter based on the single placement information.

In accordance with Education Code 2572, local special education property tax revenues are allocated to special education programs. The proportionate share of property tax for the EV SELPA is included in the funded base AB602 calculation and allocated to districts based upon funded ADA. Districts receive their proportionate share of the property tax through the AB 602 fiscal allocation model, but the allocated property tax accounting transactions remain at San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools (SBCSS) and are used in conjunction with the fees paid by districts participating in the SBCSS Fee-for Service regional programs.

Each member district receives its proportionate share of the AB 602 revenues based on the LEA's K-12 ADA percentage to the total K-12 ADA for all the SELPA members as stated in the steps below. The SELPA-members' allocation of the AB 602 funds is calculated by SELPA as follows:

Step 1 - The total amount of base AB 602 funds that the SELPA is entitled to receive will be determined by multiplying the greater of the current year, prior year, or prior year K-12 ADA by the statewide base rate per ADA. This will then be adjusted by adding authorized COLA on statewide factors as well as any supplements or re-certifications as authorized by the state.

Step 2 - Eighty-five percent (85%) of the total low incidence funds will be added proportionately for each district based on the district's low incidence pupil count of students with a primary or secondary low incidence disability the prior October (P-1 certification data). Fifteen percent (15%) of these funds is retained at the EV SELPA in the Low Incidence Fund and accessed by member districts per the "EV SELPA Low Incidence Guidelines and Procedures." The guidelines and procedures, which provide accountability of how the funds are used, are developed, and reviewed by the EV SELPA Low Incidence Committee consisting of representatives from the member districts and SBCSS.

Step 3 - One hundred percent (100%) of the out-of-home care funds described below provided for students residing in a licensed children's institution (LCI), Foster Family Home (FFH), public hospital, state licensed children's hospital, psychiatric hospital, proprietary hospital, or a health facility for medical purposes will be added for each district of residence based on the counts taken by and provided by CDE.

Step 4 - The sum of these steps will be each LEA's net AB 602 allocation.

State SELPA Regionalized Services and Program Specialist (RS/PS) Funds

The Base State Aid funding includes a regional services/program specialists apportionment (RS/PS Funds) to fund the SELPA operations. The state calculates this amount based on 2013-2014 rates with annual COLAs applied, when appropriate. The RS/PS funds are set aside to fund the SELPA operations.

Federal and State Grants

The following grant funds are added to each SELPA-member LEA's total revenue allocation:

- The Local Assistance Entitlement is a federal grant that funds special education programs for students age 3 to 21. Prior to 2018-2019, the grant was dispersed in two separate grants, the preschool Local Assistance Entitlement and Local Assistance Entitlement. The local Assistance Entitlement is distributed to SELPA-member LEAs based on their prior year age 3- to 21-year- old special education pupil count.
- The SELPA calculates the required Private School Proportionate Share for each LEA member based on the federal formula. The LEA must utilize these funds for the provision of special education services to or on behalf of students with disabilities enrolled in private schools. Funds must be expended within the time period of the current grant award.
- The SELPA receives four federal grants to fund preschool/infant services: The Federal Preschool Grant, the Infant/Preschool Staff Development Grant, the Part C Early Intervention Grant, and the Infant Discretionary Grant. The Federal Preschool Grant funds are distributed to the SELPA-member LEAs and SBCSS based on their prior year 3- to 5-year-old special education pupil count. The EV SELPA retains 5% of the Preschool Grant to fund regionalized services and program specialist services to support preschool services in all of its member districts. The Part C Early Intervention Grant funds are distributed to the SELPA-member LEAs and SBCSS based on their prior year 3- to 5-year-old special education pupil count. The Infant Discretionary Grant is split between SBCSS EV-Ops (80%) and Redlands (20%).
- The SELPA receives two sources to fund mental health services. One grant is a federal grant, the Mental Health Services grant. The other is state funding via AB 114. The federal grant is funded based on 3- to 21-year-old pupils and distributed to SELPA-member LEAs based on their prior year age 3- to 21-year-old special education pupil count. 1. It is provided in installments as determined by CDE and distributed to SELPA member LEAs based on prior year P-2 counts of 6-21-year-old pupils.

Infant Program Entitlement

The California Department of Education makes available funds to SELPAs to fund infant programs based on units initially allocated to programs in a 1986 mandate (30 EC 56425). Budget Acts since have not provided a growth appropriation for the Infant Program. The Infant Program Entitlement is split between SBCSS EV-Ops (80%) and Redlands (20%). In addition, SBCSS EV-Ops provides infant program services to Fontana Unified School District based on an agreement between EV-Ops and Fontana USD established when Fontana USD became a single-district SELPA and left the EV SELPA. Fontana USD reimburses EV-Ops for the services.

The AB 602 funds and Federal/State Grant funds combine to make the TOTAL REVENUE and its ALLOCATION for the EAST VALLEY SELPA and its member districts.

Expenditures (Shared Costs to Provide Services to Students with Disabilities)

SELPA Administrative, Regionalized and Program Specialist Services

Each SELPA is required to dedicate a portion of the funds it receives pursuant to Section 56836.10 for regionalized operations and services and the direct instructional support of program specialists. The SELPA Administration provides both legally required services and those services designated by the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors. As described above the Base State Aid funding includes a regional services/program specialists apportionment to fund the SELPA operations. The state calculates this amount based on 2012-2013

rates with annual COLAs, when provided. In addition, the East Valley SELPA Board of Directors has authorized a percentage of the Base State Aide be taken off-the-top to adequately fund the SELPA operations. In 2020-2021 that percentage is 1.46%. The percentage is re-evaluated and approved annually by the SELPA Board of Directors.

Student Information System/WebIEP

The East Valley SELPA contracts with Faucette Micro Systems for the development and maintenance of the WebIEP and IEP forms, as well as the development and maintenance of software required for member districts to submit student data to CALPADS and to monitor compliance. The costs are shared proportionately by the districts at year-end based on current year October Pupil Count.

SELPA Off-the-Top Regional Programs

The East Valley SELPA Board of Directors has authorized SELPA Off-the-Top Regional Programs to support services to students in member districts. As of 2020-2021, those programs are Autism and Residential Mental Health Oversight. Both programs are funded using the following off-the-top methodology.

- Funding is provided by member districts to the SELPA from State Base Aid prior to distribution of the base aid to districts (i.e., off-the-top).
- Total costs are calculated from the staffing costs for the program.
- Percentage applied based on the LEA's K-12 ADA percentage to the total K-12 ADA for the SELPA.

SELPA Proportionate Share Regional Programs

The East Valley SELPA Board of Directors has authorized SELPA Proportionate Share Regional Programs to provide direct services to students in member districts. As of 2020-2021, those programs are Mental Health Behavioral Counseling, Occupational Therapy, and Physical Therapy/Low Incidence Assessments.

- The SELPA Proportionate Share Occupational Therapy Program is funded as follows:
 - Funding is provided by member districts to the SELPA from State Base Aid prior to distribution of the base aid to districts (i.e., off-the-top).
 - Total costs are calculated from the staffing costs for the program.
 - Service counts are taken in November and April.
- The SELPA Proportionate Share Mental Health Behavior Counseling and Physical Therapy/Low Incidence Assessment Programs are funded as follows:
 - Funding is provided by member districts to the SELPA from all special education revenue sources (i.e., State Base Aid, Federal Grants, District Contributions) after distribution of the funds to districts.
 - \circ Total costs are calculated from the staffing costs for the programs.
 - Service counts are taken in November and April.

San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools – East Valley Operations (SBCSS EV-Ops) Fee-for-Service Regional Programs

San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools East Valley Operations (SBCSS EV-Ops) operates a regional program to address specialized student program needs for the member districts of the EV SELPA. Regional program placement and services are provided at the request of member districts based on student individual education program (IEP) decisions. Districts follow the required procedures contained in the San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools COUNTY REFERRAL documents to place students in or receive services from the SBCSS EV-Ops FFS Regional Program.

The SBCSS EV-Ops regional program is funded via a Fee-for-Service mechanism. Rates are set for the following:

- SBCSS EV-Ops Rate Categories:
 - SDC Inclusive (SAI, LSH, APE, SHL, VOC all related to high school transition)
 - Low Incidence (DHH, O&M, VI)
 - o 1:1 Aide Services
 - Intensive Therapeutic (Behavior Counseling)

The Fee-for-Service Rates for each category are presented annually by April 15 to the EV SELPA Steering Committee by SBCSS fiscal staff to determine future year's costs. Recommendations to set the annual Fee-for-Service costs are submitted to the Board of Directors to take action each May for the following year. SBCSS EV-Ops revenue projections are based on revenue being distributed to SBCSS from the SELPA-wide AB 602 K-12 revenue PRIOR TO any per ADA distribution to LEAs (i.e., "off the top") The Fee-for-Service revenue funds the programs at 100% of the cost of operation.

Proposed or Modified Regional Program Requirements

SBCSS EV-Ops, EV SELPA, or any member district of the EV SELPA may propose to operate another specialized regional program but must adhere to the approved budget, program design, including staff: student ratio, daily/annual length of operation, curriculum, support systems/support staff, and staff development as prescribed under the East Valley SELPA Local Plan. In addition, any current regional program may be proposed for program modification by the program operator. Both newly proposed and modified regional programs must be reviewed annually by March 15 by the EV SELPA Steering Committee. Any recommended changes or new regional programs for the next fiscal year must be presented to the Board of Directors for approval by May 31.

Nonpublic School (NPS) Costs

The EV SELPA, on behalf of its member districts, contracts with nonpublic schools (NPS) and residential facilities. NPS expenditures are brokered through the SELPA office and via the regional Inland Empire SELPA Association (IESA). In addition, the EV SELPA processes all related invoices and provides payments on behalf of its member districts. NPS contract costs for tuition, mental health services and residential placements, per the students' IEPs, are paid by the EV SELPA on behalf of the districts. The EV SELPA bills the districts on a quarterly basis for all actual costs paid. The EV SELPA reports the quarterly billing transfers in regularly scheduled EV SELPA Steering Committee meetings.

East Valley SELPA Legal Fund

The EV SELPA Board of Directors authorizes the EV SELPA to create, maintain and monitor a legal fund for specific costs resulting from Office of Administrative Hearing filings. The legal fund costs are shared by the member districts based on current year October special education pupil count. The specific legal support related costs are detailed in the EV SELPA Board of Directors approved document entitled, "Funded by EV SELPA Legal X-Pot/Funded by District."

California Children's Services (CCS) – Medical Therapy Units (MTUs)

Chapter 26.5 of the Government Code (Section 7570-7587) and Title 2 of the California Code of Regulations, Division 9, Chapter 1, Article 1, sections 60000-60610 requires the SELPA and its member districts provide support to CCS medical therapy units (MTU) housed in the East Valley region. Expenditures include office supplies, facilities related maintenance costs, including janitorial, and utilities. The fund is maintained by district annual contributions based on current year October special education pupil count.

Intra/Inter SELPA Transfers and Services

Member districts of the EV SELPA may elect to engage in an interagency transfer agreement for the provision of special education services to a student with a disability in a setting outside of the student's LEA and/or SELPA of residence. A transfer between districts within the EV SELPA is an intra-SELPA transfer, and a transfer to between SELPAs is an inter-SELPA transfer. To do so, the East Valley SELPA "Intra-SELPA/Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement" procedures must be followed. These procedures require the SELPA administrator's approval. Costs are determined based on respective fee-for-service rates established by the service provider and charged to the district of residence at year-end via a cash transfer.

Monitoring the Appropriate Use of State Aid, Federal & State Grants

IDEA Local Assistance Funding Federal Restrictions and Requirements

The IDEA sets forth specific restrictions on the use of federal funds. These restrictions have been included in the elements of this allocation plan.

§ 1413 (a) (2) defines a local educational agency's eligibility for use of federal special education funds. In general amounts provided to the local educational agency under this subchapter shall be expended in accordance with the applicable provisions of this subchapter and—

- shall be used only to pay the excess costs of providing special education and related services to children with disabilities.
- shall be used to supplement State, local, and other Federal funds and not to supplant such funds; and
- shall not be used, except as provided in subparagraphs (B) and (C), to reduce the level of expenditures for the education of children with disabilities made by the local educational agency from local funds below the level of those expenditures for the preceding fiscal year.

Maintenance of Effort (MOE) Policy

The EV SELPA recognizes the intent of the federally mandated maintenance of effort (MOE) requirement to ensure the provision of appropriate services for students with disabilities. In signing the Local Plan, the governing

board of each East Valley SELPA local education agency (LEA) has adopted an assurance statement regarding the maintenance of local financial effort relative to the receipt of federal special education funds. Pursuant to these locally adopted assurance statements, it is the expectation that all local education agencies (both combined as a whole and as individual LEA members) of the SELPA shall meet the maintenance of effort requirement on each fiscal year.

MOE regulations require that federal funds be used only to pay the excess costs of providing special education and related services to children with disabilities and to supplement and not supplant state and local funds for special education (34 Code of Federal Regulations §300.203- 300.205). CDE monitors MOE compliance based on each SELPA's and member districts' individual and aggregated fiscal data. MOE compliance is met if total special education expenditures from State and Local funds are at least equal to, or greater than, prior year. The EV SELPA and its member districts will follow the procedures outlined in the EV SELPA Fiscal Procedures Handbook to determine MOE compliance.

Annual Budget Plan

The EV SELPA is required to develop a SELPA Annual Budget Plan each spring. The Plan must be displayed at a public hearing, approved by the EV SELPA Board of Directors, provided to CDE by June 30 of each year, and posted on the SELPA and each member districts' websites. The SELPA Annual Budget Plan shall include allocation projections for all SELPA-member LEAs. Based on those projections, budget plans are developed by each LEA for both current year and budget year expenditures for all federal, state, SELPA, and LEA funds provided for special education. Aggregated SELPA information shall be presented in a form that is understandable to the general public.

SELPA Budget Development

The EV SELPA Board of Directors requires the development and approval of a SELPA operating budget annually. The following procedure is adhered to in making changes to the budgetary allocations:

First Step: The EV SELPA fiscal consultant in collaboration with the EV SELPA administrator develops a proposed budget based on budget assumptions provided by the SELPA's administrative unit, SBCSS.

Second Step: The EV SELPA Board of Directors Budget Ad Hoc Committee, made up of two Board members appointed by the Board at the regularly scheduled February meeting, reviews and advises the SELPA on the budget requesting any needed revisions.

Third Step: The EV SELPA Board of Directors Budget Ad Hoc Committee recommends the budget for approval to the EV SELPA Board of Directors at a regularly scheduled meeting in the spring prior to the upcoming school year.

Fourth Step: The EV SELPA Board of Directors formally takes action on the proposed budget at a regularly scheduled meeting in the spring prior to the upcoming school year.

Distribution of Assets

Withdrawal from membership of the East Valley SELPA shall not entitle a member LEA to any partition of the property held by the East Valley SELPA or return of contributions toward the acquisition of such property.

CHAPTER II – PROCEDURAL SAFEGUARDS, EDUCATIONAL RIGHTS HOLDER, & RESIDENCY

SECTION I – PARENT RIGHTS

Overview

The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) requires that local education agencies (LEAs) consider the procedural safeguards afforded to parents of students with disabilities. The safeguards are intended to give parents a meaningful opportunity to participate in the decision-making process of their child's education.

A copy of the EV SELPA Parent Rights and Procedural Safeguards are available via the following links.

Click here for English

Click here for Spanish

Transfer of Parental Rights at Age of Majority

The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) gives states the authority to transfer educational decisionmaking rights to students who receive special education services at the age of majority. This is the case in California. The following apply:

- A. Beginning at least one year before a student reaches the age of majority, the student's Individualized Education Program (IEP) must include a statement that the student has been informed of his or her rights and responsibilities under IDEA.
- B. All of the educational rights provided to the parents transfer to the student when he or she reaches the age of majority.

These educational rights may include the right to:

- A. receive notice of and attend Individualized Education Program (IEP) meetings
- B. consent to reevaluation
- C. consent to change of placement
- D. request for mediation or a due process hearing to resolve a dispute about evaluation, identification, eligibility, IEP, placement, or other aspects of a free appropriate public education (FAPE)

SECTION II – DETERMINING THE EDUCATION RIGHTS HOLDER

In the state of California identifies the biological or adoptive parent is presumed to be the "Holder of Education Rights" for their child.

Per the IDEA §300.30, parent means:

- A biological or adoptive parent of a child
- A foster parent, unless State law, regulations, or contractual obligations with a State or local entity prohibit a foster parent from acting as a parent

- A guardian generally authorized to act as the child's parent, or authorized to make educational decisions for the child (but not the State if the child is a ward of the State)
- An individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent (including a grandparent, stepparent, or other relative) with whom the child lives, or an individual who is legally responsible for the child's welfare; or
- A surrogate parent who has been appointed in accordance with §300.519.

The following section address the exceptions a school district may encounter when determining the education rights holder.

Joint Custody

IDEA and state special education laws and regulations clearly describe parental rights and the school district's duty to meet them. Most rights are unchanged by divorce. The divorce decree, the legal document describing the individual parent's obligations after the marriage ends, should clearly define the relationship among the parents, their child, and the education system. The IDEA focuses on the procedural safeguards afforded to parents of special needs students and their intent to give parents a meaningful opportunity to participate in the decision-making process of their child's education. Congress never intended to deny a noncustodial parent the right to ensure his or her child is receiving a FAPE. The Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) acknowledges that disputes between parents who share the right to make educational decision for their child, and who disagree about the provision of special education and related services for their child, may place a LEA in a difficult decision.

Married, divorced, separated, or never-married parents may disagree. Their issues regarding divorce decrees, custody orders, separation agreements, restraining orders, and relevant state statutes should be addressed in family law, which is vested in state law. LEAs can get caught between family law decisions and the IDEA, which requires that both parents of a special needs child be afforded ALL of their rights under the IDEA, UNLESS these rights are altered by a specific provision in the custody order, issued by the state court (71 Fed. Reg. 46,568 [2006]).

- A. The IDEA requires parental consent for evaluations, eligibility, initial placement of the child, change in placement as well as parental participation in notice, attendance at IEP meetings, access to student records, and the right to file for mediation/due process.
- B. Legal custody is defined as the parent or guardian who has decision-making authority, including education, and is responsible for the care, control, and maintenance of a child (Black's Law Dictionary, 9th ed. 2009). When questions arise over who has legal custody, it is recommended that the LEA obtain current copies of the family court order as it or the divorce decree will typically set forth whether: legal custody of the child is sole or joint. Joint legal custody means that both parents keep the right to make important decisions about their children's education, health care, and religious training. Under joint legal custody, unless the decree is written differently, both parents have the right to:
 - 1. Receive written notice of special education meetings to each parent who has legal custody of the child and has provided the school with an address. (34 C.F.R. § 300.322(a); EC §56304 & 56341.5.)
 - 2. Afforded an opportunity to participate in meetings with respect to the identification, evaluation, and educational placement of the child, and the provision of FAPE to the child. (34 C.F.R. §300.501(a); EC §56500.4.)
 - 3. Exercise their due process rights

- 4. Receive progress reports
- 5. Have the chance to agree or disagree with plans for initial evaluation and placement in special education

If the parents have joint legal custody but only one parent has physical custody, both parents would keep the rights to receive information, see records, and make decisions regarding special education UNLESS the parent no longer has that right pursuant to state law or court order (34 CFR§99.4 & 300.613). Where one parent has sole legal custody, the non-custodial parent still retains the right to access the child's school records (34 CFR§99.4 & 300.613). Under the IDEA, there is no requirement that written consent [on an assessment plan or IEP] be provided by both parents. LEAs typically only require the signature of one parent. When parents are divorced or separated, it is important for the LEA to check the court order and not assume they are compliant if they have the consent of one parent.

If joint custody, look for details regarding each parent's right to make educational decisions. It is also recommended that LEAs maintain a policy as part of the enrollment process that requires parents to provide current copies of family court order such as divorce decrees, custody orders, separation agreements, and restraining orders. A domestic violence restraining order may designate custody arrangements, preclude or limit contact with a student or the other parent, and/or further restrict one parent from school grounds.

If there is no court order, go back to the basic proposition that both parents of a child with special education needs must be afforded all of their rights under IDEA. Both parents are permitted to participate in the IEP team meeting, even if one parent has sole custody UNLESS there is a court order precluding a parent from participating in a child's education or otherwise barring the parent from school grounds. If a parent has educational decision-making authority but there is a court order precluding a parent from participating in a child's education or barring the parent input via the telephone and/or convening two meetings. Without consent from both parents, a LEA would be hard pressed to classify and provide a special education program for a child (see Machado presentation at LRP Conference, 2014).

If parents are in so much conflict that they are unable to work on behalf of the child in the special education process, either parent has the option of consulting an attorney about returning to court to ask that the divorce decree be altered.

Caregiver Affidavit

A form completed through the Child Welfare and Attendance (CWA) Office of the school district documents when a caregiver assumes responsibility for a student when the child or youth resides with them. Per Family Code Section 6550(a-d), a pupil may attend a district in which he or she lives with a caregiver so long as the Caregiver Affidavit is submitted with the required information. Any adult caregiver who completes the affidavit may enroll the minor in school and provide consent to school- related medical care on behalf of the minor. Anyone over 18 who fills-out items 1-4 and signs the affidavit can be a caregiver. However, only qualifying family members are able to authorize any non-school related medical care and must complete items 5-8 on the form. The caregiver is responsible for notifying the school if the minor stops living with them, thereby making the affidavit invalid. A person relying on the affidavit has no obligation to make any further inquiry or investigation, but schools may conduct residency investigations or ask for verification.

Surrogate Parent

A surrogate parent is an adult appointed by a local educational agency (LEA) or special education local plan area (SELPA) as ordered by the courts to represent a pupil (aged 0-21) for the purpose of their individual education

program (IEP) to ensure that the rights of the pupil to a free appropriate public education are protected (when the biological parents cannot be found, or the courts have removed their educational rights and have not assigned them to another). Contact the EV SELPA at 909-252-4507 or <u>evselpa@sbcss.net</u> for more details.

SECTION III – RESIDENCY

Most students with disabilities reside at home with their parents and utilize the standard enrollment procedures for the district in which they reside. The school district where the parent resides is responsible for the provision of special education services.

Residency is defined as the place one remains when not called elsewhere for labor or other temporary purposes. There can only be one residence. Residence cannot be lost until another is gained. Residence can be changed only by the union of act and intent. Unmarried minor's residence is residence of parent with whom child shares place of abode and cannot be changed by minor's own act. Married persons have the right to retain legal residence in California notwithstanding legal residence or domicile of spouse (Government Code §244).

A district must annually verify parents' address and student's residence (Title 5 California Code of Regulations §432). There is no guidance in law regarding sufficient proof of residency. Typically, districts ask for tax bills, gas/electric bills, cancelled check with name and property address, voter registration, DMV registration, lease/rental agreement, bills mailed to residence, or affidavits of residency. A residency investigation may be done for residency, residency based on parent employment, and/or residency based on caregiver affidavit. A district employee or private investigator can conduct a residency investigation. There are limitations on the investigation (e.g., investigator cannot demand or force entry into home but may request to inspect residence).

The LEA responsible for the provision of special education services may change if a student is attending based upon an approved inter-district transfer under district of choice or employment; (2) homeless; (3) an emancipated minor; (4) living with someone with a caregiver affidavit on file; (5) placed in a hospital, (6) in residential placement per an individualized education program (IEP); (7) placed in a foster home or licensed children's institution; (8) residing in multiple residences due to joint custody,(9) placement in juvenile hall; and/or (10) an eligible youth incarcerated in a county jail or prison.

Determination of residence for the purpose of special education responsibility.

Inter-District Transfer Request

An inter-district transfer request can be activated via district of choice or employment.

- A. District of Choice Senate Bill 680 and Education Code Section 48301 allows any school district to elect District of Choice status. It prohibits denial of transfer requests on the basis of cost but allows limit on number of transfers out if negative budget certification or for fiscal stability.
- B. Residency based on employment in the district may deem a pupil to be a resident if the parent or legal guardian of the pupil is physically employed within district boundaries (EC §48204(b)). The district has discretion to deny or approve a transfer based on employment. Districts may not refuse to admit pupils based on race, ethnicity, sex, parental income, scholastic achievement, or any other arbitrary consideration (EC §48204(b)(1)). Districts may consider a pupil's discipline history or behavior but not the pupil's grade point average or special education status. Either the sending or receiving district may prohibit transfer of the pupil if the governing board determines that the transfer would negatively impact a court-ordered or voluntary desegregation plan of the district (EC §48204(b)(2)).
- C. The following apply:

- 1. The Office of Civil Rights has determined that it is unlawful discrimination for school districts to prohibit the transfer of special education students because the cost of educating the pupil would exceed the amount of additional state aid received. However, districts may deny a student's request because a new program or service would have to be created.
- 2. Once admitted, the pupil's residency can only be revoked if the parent/guardian is no longer physically employed in the district (EC§48204(b)(7)). An annual reapplication is not required but the district can verify that the parent/guardian is still employed in the district.

Homeless

Homeless pupils are defined as those who lack fixed, regular, and adequate nighttime residence including those (a) sharing housing due to loss of income, economic hardship or similar reasons; (b) living in motels, hotels, trailer parks, campgrounds due to lack of adequate alternative accommodations; (c) living in cars, parks, public spaces, abandoned buildings, bus or train stations; (d) emergency or transitional shelters; (e) abandoned in hospitals; (f) awaiting foster care placement, and (g) migratory children. The McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act (Federal Las 42 USC Section 11432, et seq.) requires a local education agency to provide continuous and uninterrupted education to homeless children in the student's school of origin for the duration of their homelessness OR for remainder of academic year if pupil becomes permanently housed during the academic year UNLESS this is not in the pupil's best interest. The school of origin is defined as the school the pupil attended when permanently housed or the school in which the pupil was last enrolled.

Emancipated Minor

In many countries when a child reaches the age of majority — often 18 years old — he or she is said to be fully emancipated from parental control. This means that he or she can enjoy all the privileges and responsibilities of adulthood, such as voting, marriage and financial independence. An emancipated minor is a child who has been granted the status of adulthood by a court order or other formal arrangement. This status is not automatically bestowed on minors who have simply moved away from their parents' homes. The majority of legally emancipated minors are working teenagers who have demonstrated the ability to support themselves financially. For example, a professional actress or musician who is at least 14 years old is more likely to be considered an emancipated minor than a runaway who works part-time for minimum wage.

A minor who has been emancipated in California does not need parental approval to move out and live where he wants, or to apply for jobs or college courses. Though parental consent is needed, getting married and joining the military are two circumstances that grant immediate emancipation status to minors in California. Once a minor is emancipated, his or her parents do not have custody or control of him or her anymore and they can do some things without parental permission, including get medical care, apply for a work permit, and sign up for school or college. However, an emancipated minor must go to school, must get parental permission before getting married, and will go to juvenile court if they break the law.

Hospital Setting

Due to medical need, some students receive special education programs and related services in a hospital environment. The district in which the hospital resides is responsible for providing or contracting for special education services.
Residential Placement via the Individualized Education Program (IEP)

A residential facility is a nonsectarian school where a student with emotional disturbance resides on a 24-hour basis and receives special education and related services at the school. When the residential placement is offered as necessary for a student to receive a Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE), the district where the parent resides is responsible for the special education services received by the student, no matter where the residential facility is located (in or out of state). Should the parent of the student move during the school year, the district that placed the student residentially through the IEP process shall be financially responsible for the remainder of the school year, including extended school year. Should a LEA decide on residential placement outside of the SELPA adopted procedures, it shall be responsible for both the education and residential costs.

Residential Placement by an Outside Agency

The Department of Social Services has the responsibility to remove a child from their home under conditions associated with child abuse and/or neglect. The Department of Probation, in conjunction with a court order and work with the District Attorney, can place a student into a residential setting. The Regional Center also has the ability to place a student with significant cognitive and behavioral challenges into a residential upon the request of the parents. A child may be placed in a foster home or a Licensed Children's Institution (LCI).

Foster Family Home

A Foster Family Home (FFH) or a home certified by a Foster Family Agency (FFA) is a family residence which is licensed by the state, or other public agency, to provide 24- hour nonmedical care and supervision for not more than six foster children, including, but not limited to individuals with exceptional needs. AB 490 (State law Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) strongly favors educating pupils in foster care in their school of origin. If a dispute over placement arises, the pupil may remain in the school of origin until the dispute is resolved. The local education agency must designate an educational liaison for foster children. If the liaison and parent/ guardian agree to placement other than school of origin, the pupil must be enrolled in the new placement immediately.

An FFH/FFA staff member is responsible for enrolling the child in the district in which they reside. Enrollment data should include all relevant contact information for the student, including who holds educational decision-making rights. The pupil must be enrolled even if the records normally required cannot be produced. The district in which the foster home is located is responsible for providing or contracting for special education services.

AB 216, effective September 2013, placed new notification requirements and timelines on LEAs aimed at protecting pupils in foster care. If a pupil in foster care transfers between schools after the pupil's second year of high school (determined either by credit completion or duration), the pupil must be exempted from district coursework and other requirements that are in addition to statewide requirements, unless the school district determines that the pupil is reasonably able to complete the additional local graduation requirements in time to graduate from high school by the end of the pupil's fourth year. A LEA may not require a pupil to accept the exemption and may not deny the pupil enrollment in courses for which he or she is otherwise eligible. The LEA must give pupils in foster care the option of completing a fifth year of high school, if desired, in order to satisfy the local graduation requirements. If a pupil is exempt from local requirements, then completes statewide coursework before the end of his or her fourth year, the LEA may not require or request that the pupil graduate early. Once granted, an exemption may not be revoked or terminated, even if the pupil is no longer under the court's jurisdiction.

Licensed Children's Institution (LCI)

A LCI is a residential facility (such as a group home) which is licensed by the state, or other public agency, to provide nonmedical care to children, including, but not limited to, individuals with exceptional needs. AB 490 (State law Chapter 862, Statutes of 2003) strongly favors educating pupils in LCI in school of origin. If a dispute over placement arises, the pupil may remain in the school of origin until the dispute is resolved. The local education agency must designate an educational liaison for foster children. If the liaison and parent/guardian agree to placement other than school of origin, a LCI staff member can enroll the student in the district in which the LCI is based. Enrollment data should include all relevant contact information for the student, including who holds educational decision-making rights. The pupil must be enrolled in the new placement immediately, even if the records normally required cannot be produced. The district in which the LCI is located is responsible for providing or contracting for special education services.

Juvenile Hall

Individuals with exceptional needs who have been adjudicated by the juvenile court may be placed in a juvenile hall or court school program. San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools is responsible for providing special education services for students residing in such settings. The student's district of residence may be asked to participate in the IEP process.

Correctional Facility (Jail)

Adults (aged 18 to 21 years) incarcerated in California adult jails and prisons who are entitled to a Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE) if they meet the following criteria: (1) not graduated with a high school diploma; (2) at the time they turned 18, were identified as an individual with exceptional needs and had an Individualized Education Program (IEP) under the IDEA. However, an individual who was not identified as an individual with exceptional needs or did not have an IEP under the IDEA in the educational placement prior to his or her incarceration in an adult correctional facility is not entitled to a FAPE.

In December 2013, the California Supreme Court unanimously ruled in *LAUSD v. Garcia* that, under EC §56041, the school district where the pupil's parent resides is responsible for providing special education and related services to a qualifying individual who is incarcerated in a county jail. This decision means that every school district in California can be held responsible to provide, or contract to provide, special education and related services to eligible incarcerated young adults if the youth's parent resides in the district, even if the student is incarcerated outside of the school district's boundaries. This includes obligations for all of the rights afforded by the IDEA and related state law including child find/search and serve, the provision of FAPE in the least restrictive environment (LRE), and the right to due process.

The following special education requirements do not apply to eligible individuals who are convicted as adults under State law and incarcerated in adult prisons:

- A. The requirements relating to participation in general assessments; eligible individuals incarcerated in adult prisons are exempted from participation in state and district-wide assessment programs under the IDEA.
- B. The requirements relating to transition planning and transition services do not apply with respect to such individuals whose eligibility under the IDEA will end because of their age before he or she will be released from prison.

C. The IEP Team may modify the individual's IEP or placement notwithstanding the LRE requirements and the IEP contents requirements if there is a bona fide security or compelling legal interest that cannot otherwise be accommodated.

CHAPTER III – COORDINATED SYSTEM OF REFERRAL FOR SCHOOL AGE STUDENTS

SECTION I – CHILD FIND FOR SCHOOL AGED INDIVIDUALS

All children with disabilities residing in the state, including children with disabilities who are homeless children or are wards of the state and children with disabilities attending private, including religious, elementary, and secondary schools, regardless of the severity of their disabilities, and who are in need of special education and related services, shall be identified, located, and assessed. The requirements also apply to highly mobile individuals with exceptional needs, including migrant children, and children who are suspected of being an individual with exceptional needs and in need of special education, even though they are advancing from grade to grade.

The child find process shall ensure the equitable participation in special education and related services of parentally placed private schoolchildren with disabilities and an accurate count of those children. Child find activities conducted by local educational agencies, or where applicable, the department, shall be similar to those activities undertaken for pupils in public schools. The cost of the child find activities in private, including religious, elementary and secondary schools, may not be considered in determining whether a local educational agency has met its obligations under the proportionate funding provisions for children enrolled in private, including religious, elementary and secondary schools. The child find process described in paragraph (1) shall be completed in a time period comparable to that for other pupils attending public schools in the local educational agency.

SECTION II – IDENTIFICATION PROCESSES

A local educational agency shall provide for the identification and assessment of the exceptional needs of an individual, and the planning of an instructional program to meet the assessed needs. Identification procedures shall include systematic methods of utilizing referrals of pupils from teachers, parents, agencies, appropriate professional persons, and from other members of the public. Identification procedures shall be coordinated with school site procedures for referral of pupils with needs that cannot be met with modification of the regular instructional program.

A pupil shall be referred for special educational instruction and services only after the resources of the regular education program have been considered and, where appropriate, utilized.

All referrals for special education and related services shall initiate the assessment process and shall be documented. When a verbal referral is made, staff of the school district, special education local plan area, or county office shall offer assistance to the individual in making a request in writing and shall assist the individual if the individual requests such assistance. All school staff referrals shall be written and include: (1) a brief reason for the referral and (2) documentation of the resources of the regular education program that have been considered, modified, and when appropriate, the results of intervention. This documentation shall not delay the timelines for completing the assessment plan or assessment.

The parents or guardians of a pupil who has been referred for initial assessment, or of a pupil identified as an individual with exceptional needs, shall be afforded an opportunity to participate in meetings with respect to the identification, assessment, and educational placement.

Problem Solving Team

As noted above, if a parent makes an oral request for a special education assessment for their child, it is the responsibility of the local education agency (LEA) to inform the parents this request must be in writing and assist the parents with writing the request if needed. This request starts the assessment process and should follow the same procedure as described herein.

Given the legal requirement that "a pupil shall be referred for special educational instruction and services only after the resources of the regular education program have been considered and, where appropriate, utilized", many school districts have implemented problem solving team approaches to monitor student achievement and the provision of interventions to meet identified needs. Historically school districts/sites have implemented a Problem Solving Team (under a variety of local names including Student Study Team (SST), Student Success Team (SST), Intervention Team Meeting (ITM), Educational Monitoring Team (EMT), etc.) process to meet the legal requirement that "all school staff referrals shall be written and include: (1) a brief reason for the referral and (2) documentation of the resources of the regular education program that have been considered, modified, and when appropriate, the results of intervention."

More recently, educational problem solving teams are playing a key role in the collaborative problem solving aspects of Response to Intervention and Instruction (RtI²). To be successful, RtI2 requires regular data collection and analysis, and collaborative decision making regarding appropriate interventions for students. The California Department of Education (CDE) has defined the following as key aspects associated with RtI²:

- A. High-quality classroom instruction.
- B. Research-based instruction.
- C. Universal screening.
- D. Continuous classroom progress monitoring.
- E. Research-based interventions.
- F. Progress monitoring during instruction and interventions.
- G. Fidelity of program implementation.
- H. Staff development and collaboration.
- I. Parent involvement.
- J. Specific Learning Disability Determination.

Problem Solving Teams (PST) provide a preventative and proactive model to improve student outcomes. The PST offers an ongoing process to support the general education teacher and examines current student learning issues and engages educators in collaborative problem solving. The PST process provides a focus on identifying the student's educational concerns and interventions and also monitors intervention implementation practices aligned to student learning results. Support is provided to the teacher with full implementation of all interventions with fidelity and in a timely manner.

SECTION III – REFERRAL FOR ASSESSMENT

"Referral for assessment" means any written request for assessment to identify an individual with exceptional needs made by any of the following: (a) A parent or guardian of the individual. (b) A teacher or other service

provider of the individual. (c) A foster parent of the individual, consistent with the limitations contained in federal law.

Referral Process

Given that evaluation procedures need to address all areas of suspected disability, it is critical that the reason for referral is comprehensive in nature. It is important to clearly understand the referral concern before an assessment plan is created. The documentation provided by the problem solving team should provide clear evidence as to what the area(s) of concern are (i.e., reading fluency /comprehension, writing, mathematics calculation, behavioral and/or emotional challenges, physical, medical or health issues, etc.). There should also be clear evidence that the student's needs cannot be met with accommodations or modification made within the general education environment alone. If the referral question is ambiguous and broad, then judging the degree to which all aspects of the concern have been addressed becomes significantly more difficult. Clarity in these areas also helps determine which professional will be the recipient of the referral forms and who needs to be involved in the evaluation processes.

<u>Referral from the Problem Solving Team</u>. When a problem solving team makes a written request for assessment to determine whether a student is an individual with exceptional needs, ideally, the special education personnel have been involved in at least the most recent problem solving team meeting and are aware of the reason for referral. The Chair of the problem solving team needs to provide a copy of the documentation to the contact person and log the referral date. The recipient of such a request has 15 days to take action. All school staff referrals must be written and include a brief reason for the referral and documentation of the resources of the regular education program that have been considered, modified, and when appropriate, the results of intervention. This documentation shall not delay the timelines for completing the assessment plan or assessment. The Problem Solving Team process typically involves explaining the proposed evaluation process and the procedural safeguards to the parent/guardian of the child referred. In this way the parent is able to provide "informed" consent to the proposed Assessment Plan, understands the Prior Written Notice explaining why the LEA proposes to initiate the assessment process for special education identification, and what parent and student rights are inherent in the procedural safeguards.

<u>Referral from Parent Request</u>. Similarly, when the LEA receives a written request for special education assessment from a parent, the LEA has 15 days to respond to the request. It is recommended that the school hold a problem solving team meeting within 15 days to address the parent's concerns. The team must end the meeting with either, (1) a proposed Assessment Plan and a Prior Written Notice explaining why the LEA proposes to initiate the assessment process for special education identification, (2) a written request from the parent to rescind the request for assessment, or (3) a Prior Written Notice with the reason why the request for assessment is being refused.

When a verbal referral is made, staff members must offer assistance to the individual in making a request in writing, and then assist the individual if the individual requests such assistance.

The referral through assessment process is not completed until the IEP team meeting is held, student is identified as eligible or ineligible for special education services, and the appropriate IEP document written.

Timelines

A proposed assessment plan shall be developed within 15 calendar days of referral for assessment, not counting calendar days between the pupil's regular school sessions or terms or calendar days of school vacation in excess of

five schooldays, from the date of receipt of the referral, unless the parent or guardian agrees in writing to an extension.

A parent or guardian shall have at least 15 calendar days from the receipt of the proposed assessment plan to arrive at a decision.

Once a child has been referred for an initial assessment to determine whether the child is an individual with exceptional needs and to determine the educational needs of the child, these determinations shall be made, and an individualized education program team meeting shall occur within 60 days of receiving parental consent for the assessment.

The 60-day time period does not apply to a local educational agency if either of the following occurs:

- A. A child enrolls in a school served by the local educational agency after the relevant time period has commenced but prior to a determination by his or her previous local educational agency of whether the child is an individual with exceptional needs. The exemption of this paragraph applies only if the subsequent local educational agency is making sufficient progress to ensure a prompt completion of the assessment, and the parent and subsequent local educational agency agree to a specific date by which the assessment shall be completed.
- B. The parent of a child repeatedly fails or refuses to produce the child for the assessment.

All assessments must be completed, and an individualized education plan developed within 60 calendar days after receipt of the signed assessment plan. Vacations or off- track days longer than 5 consecutive school days are not counted as part of the 60 calendar days. The number of days prior to the off-school time is added to the days starting upon the student's return to total the 60 calendar days.

When a referral is received 10 days or less prior to the end of the regular school year, the days between the pupil's regular school sessions or terms or days of school vacation in excess of five schooldays are not counted as part of the 60-days. However, the assessment plan shall be developed within 10 days after the commencement of the subsequent regular school year or the pupil's regular school term as determined by each district's school calendar for each pupil for whom there is a referral. In the case of pupil school vacations, the 15-day time shall commence on the date that the pupil's regular schooldays reconvene.

SECTION IV – REFERRAL FOR SCREENINGS

While there is no official definition of screening, the difference between screening and assessment depends largely on its purpose. A special education assessment is focused on collecting information about a student in all areas related to a suspected disability for the purpose of determining eligibility and/or the need for special education services. Screening focuses on collecting information about multiple students in relation to their instructional programs to determine and design instructional strategies and interventions.

The screening of a student by a teacher or specialist to determine appropriate instructional strategies for curriculum implementation shall not be considered to be an assessment for eligibility for special education and related services.

For clarity, screenings should be viewed as a form of consultative service from a specialist and should generally include an entire classroom or a significant portion of the class. Screening in this context may include observation, universal screening, file review, examination of work samples, teacher interviews, etc. for the purpose of improving a student's instructional program. Screenings may be conducted for non-identified students or students with disabilities. Screenings may be performed by a variety of persons, i.e., special education teachers, service

providers, program specialists, etc. at the request of the general education or special education teacher or as part of a school's Multi-Tiered System of Support/Response to Intervention (MTSS/RtI).

The most common example of how screenings might be legally utilized:

- A. A speech and language therapist does a brief assessment of each of the students in a kindergarten class in order to assist the teacher with targeted interventions for common articulation errors present in such an age group.
- B. The entire class or grade level is screened using Universal Screening tools (such as DIBELS) to identify students who require additional tiers of intervention within the general education MTSS program.

Screenings may not be used as a means of avoiding a referral for a special education evaluation,

although they might be used to inform a student's IEP team regarding whether he/she might have a need for assessment in a newly identified area of need.

CHAPTER IV – ELIGIBILITY FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION

SECTION I – ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

A child shall qualify as an individual with exceptional needs if the results of the assessment demonstrate that the degree of the child's impairment requires special education in one or more of the program options authorized. The decision as to whether or not the assessment results demonstrate that the degree of the child's impairment requires special education shall be made by the IEP team. The IEP team shall take into account all the relevant material that is available on the child. No single score or product of scores shall be used as the sole criterion for the decision of the IEP team as to the child's eligibility for special education.

The special education eligibility criteria shall apply to preschool children, between the ages of three and five years. A preschool child, between the ages of three and five years, qualifies as a child who needs early childhood special education services if the child is identified as having one of the following disabling conditions or an established medical disability.

The specific categories of eligibility under CCR Title 5 §3030 are delineated as follows:

- A. Autism
- B. Deaf-blindness
- C. Deafness
- D. Emotional Disturbance
- E. Hearing Impairment
- F. Intellectual Disability
- G. Multiple Disabilities
- H. Orthopedic Impairment
- I. Other Health Impairment
- J. Specific Learning Disability
- K. Language or Speech Disorder
- L. Traumatic Brain Injury
- M. Visual Impairment
- N. Established Medical Disability (ages 3 5 only)

The disability terms used in defining an individual with exceptional needs are as follows:

- A. Autism means a developmental disability significantly affecting verbal and nonverbal communication and social interaction, generally evident before age three, and adversely affecting a child's educational performance. Other characteristics often associated with autism are engagement in repetitive activities and stereotyped movements, resistance to environmental change or change in daily routines, and unusual responses to sensory experiences.
 - 1. Autism does not apply if a child's educational performance is adversely affected primarily because the child has an emotional disturbance.

2. A child who manifests the characteristics of autism after age three could be identified as having autism if the criteria are satisfied.

Deaf-blindness means concomitant hearing and visual impairments, the combination of which causes such severe communication and other developmental and educational needs that they cannot be accommodated in special education programs solely for children with deafness or children with blindness.

Deafness means a hearing impairment that is so severe that the child is impaired in processing linguistic information through hearing, with or without amplification that adversely affects a child's educational performance.

Emotional disturbance means a condition exhibiting one or more of the following characteristics over a long period of time and to a marked degree that adversely affects a child's educational performance:

- 3. An inability to learn that cannot be explained by intellectual, sensory, or health factors.
- 4. An inability to build or maintain satisfactory interpersonal relationships with peers and teachers.
- 5. Inappropriate types of behavior or feelings under normal circumstances.
- 6. A general pervasive mood of unhappiness or depression.
- 7. A tendency to develop physical symptoms or fears associated with personal or school problems.
- 8. Emotional disturbance includes schizophrenia. The term does not apply to children who are socially maladjusted, unless it is determined that they have an emotional disturbance.

Hearing impairment means an impairment in hearing, whether permanent or fluctuating, that adversely affects a child's educational performance but that is not included under the definition of deafness in this section.

Intellectual disability means significantly subaverage general intellectual functioning, existing concurrently with deficits in adaptive behavior and manifested during the developmental period that adversely affects a child's educational performance.

Multiple disabilities means concomitant impairments, such as intellectual disability-blindness or intellectual disability-orthopedic impairment, the combination of which causes such severe educational needs that they cannot be accommodated in special education programs solely for one of the impairments. *Multiple disabilities* does not include deaf-blindness.

Orthopedic impairment means a severe orthopedic impairment that adversely affects a child's educational performance. The term includes impairments caused by a congenital anomaly, impairments caused by disease (e.g., poliomyelitis, bone tuberculosis), and impairments from other causes (e.g., cerebral palsy, amputations, and fractures or burns that cause contractures).

Other health impairment means having limited strength, vitality, or alertness, including a heightened alertness to environmental stimuli, that results in limited alertness with respect to the educational environment that:

- 9. Is due to chronic or acute health problems such as asthma, attention deficit disorder or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, diabetes, epilepsy, a heart condition, hemophilia, lead poisoning, leukemia, nephritis, rheumatic fever, sickle cell anemia, and Tourette syndrome; and
- 10. Adversely affects a child's educational performance.

Specific learning disability means a disorder in one or more of the basic psychological processes involved in understanding or in using language, spoken, or written, that may have manifested itself in the imperfect ability to listen, think, speak, read, write, spell, or do mathematical calculations, including conditions such as perceptual

disabilities, brain injury, minimal brain dysfunction, dyslexia, and developmental aphasia. The basic psychological processes include attention, visual processing, auditory processing, phonological processing, sensory-motor skills, cognitive abilities including association, conceptualization, and expression.

- 11. Specific learning disabilities do not include learning problems that are primarily the result of visual, hearing, or motor disabilities, of intellectual disability, of emotional disturbance, or of environmental, cultural, or economic disadvantage.
- 12. In determining whether a pupil has a specific learning disability, the public agency may consider whether a pupil has a severe discrepancy between intellectual ability and achievement in oral expression, listening comprehension, written expression, basic reading skill, reading comprehension, mathematical calculation, or mathematical reasoning. The decision as to whether or not a severe discrepancy exists shall take into account all relevant material which is available on the pupil. No single score or product of scores, test or procedure shall be used as the sole criterion for the decisions of the IEP team as to the pupil's eligibility for special education. In determining the existence of a severe discrepancy, the IEP team shall use the following procedures:
 - a. When standardized tests are considered to be valid for a specific pupil, a severe discrepancy is demonstrated by: first, converting into common standard scores, using a mean of 100 and standard deviation of 15, the achievement test score and the intellectual ability test score to be compared; second, computing the difference between these common standard scores; and third comparing this computed difference to the standard criterion which is the product of 1.5 multiplied by the standard deviation of the distribution of computed differences of students taking these achievement and ability tests. A computed difference which equals or exceeds this standard criterion, adjusted by one standard error of measurement, the adjustment not to exceed 4 common standard score points, indicates a severe discrepancy when such discrepancy is corroborated by other assessment data which may include other tests, scales, instruments, observations, and work samples, as appropriate.
 - b. When standardized tests are considered to be invalid for a specific pupil, the discrepancy shall be measured by alternative means as specified on the assessment plan.
 - c. If the standardized tests do not reveal a severe discrepancy as defined in subdivisions 1. or 2. above, the IEP team may find that a severe discrepancy does exist, provided that the team documents in a written report that the severe discrepancy between ability and achievement exists as a result of a disorder in one or more of the basic psychological processes. The report shall include a statement of the area, the degree, and the basis and method used in determining the discrepancy. The report shall contain information considered by the team which shall include, but not be limited to:
 - i. Data obtained from standardized assessment instruments;
 - ii. Information provided by the parent;
 - iii. Information provided by the pupil's present teacher;
 - iv. Evidence of the pupil's performance in the regular and/or special education classroom obtained from observations, work samples, and group test scores;
 - v. Consideration of the pupil's age, particularly for young children; and
 - vi. Any additional relevant information.
 - d. A severe discrepancy shall not be primarily the result of limited school experience or poor school attendance.

- 13. Whether or not a pupil exhibits a severe discrepancy as described above, a pupil may be determined to have a specific learning disability if:
 - a. The pupil does not achieve adequately for the pupil's age or to meet state-approved grade-level standards in one or more of the following areas, when provided with learning experiences and instruction appropriate for the pupil's age or state-approved grade-level standards:
 - i. Oral expression.
 - ii. Listening comprehension.
 - iii. Written expression.
 - iv. Basic reading skill.
 - v. Reading fluency skills.
 - vi. Reading comprehension.
 - vii. Mathematics calculation.
 - viii. Mathematics problem solving, and
 - b. The pupil does not make sufficient progress to meet age or state-approved grade level standards in one or more of the areas identified when using a process based on the pupil's response to scientific, research-based intervention; or
 - i. The pupil exhibits a pattern of strengths and weaknesses in performance, achievement, or both, relative to age, State-approved grade-level standards, or intellectual development, that is determined by the group to be relevant to the identification of a specific learning disability, using appropriate assessments; and
 - c. The findings are not primarily the result of:
 - i. A visual, hearing, or motor disability;
 - ii. Intellectual disability;
 - iii. Emotional disturbance;
 - iv. Cultural factors;
 - v. Environmental or economic disadvantage; or
 - vi. Limited English proficiency
 - d. To ensure that underachievement in a pupil suspected of having a specific learning disability is not due to the lack of appropriate instruction in reading or math, the group making the decision must consider:
 - i. Data that demonstrate that prior to, or as a part of, the referral process, the pupil was provided appropriate instruction in regular education settings, delivered by qualified personnel; and
 - ii. Data-based documentation of repeated assessments of achievement at reasonable intervals, reflecting formal assessment of student progress during instruction, which was provided to the pupil's parents.
 - e. In determining whether a pupil has a specific learning disability, the public agency must ensure that the pupil is observed in the pupil's learning environment. In the case of a child of less than school age or out of school, a qualified professional must observe the child in an environment appropriate for a child of that age. The eligibility determination must be documented.

A pupil has a language or speech disorder and it is determined that the pupil's disorder meets one or more of the following criteria:

14. Articulation disorder.

- a. The pupil displays reduced intelligibility or an inability to use the speech mechanism which interferes with communication and attracts adverse attention. Significant interference in communication occurs when the pupils' production of single or multiple speech sounds on a developmental scales of articulation competence is below that expected for his or her chronological age or developmental level, and which adversely affects educational performance.
- b. A pupil does not meet the criteria for an articulation disorder if the sole assessed disability is an abnormal swallowing pattern.
- 15. Abnormal Voice. A pupil has an abnormal voice which is characterized by persistent, defective voice quality, pitch, or loudness.
- 16. Fluency Disorders. A pupil has a fluency disorder when the flow of verbal expression including rate and rhythm adversely affects communication between the pupil and listener.
- 17. Language Disorder. The pupil has an expressive or receptive language disorder when he or she meets one of the following criteria:
 - a. The pupil scores at least 1.5 standard deviations below the mean, or below the 7th percentile, for his or her chronological age or developmental level on two or more standardized tests in one or more of the following areas of language development: morphology, syntax, semantics, or pragmatics. When standardized tests are considered to be invalid for the specific pupil, the expected language performance level shall be determined by alternative means as specified on the assessment plan, or
 - b. The pupil scores at least 1.5 stand deviations below the mean or the score is below the 7th percentile for his or her chronological age or developmental level on one or more standardized tests in one of the areas listed in subdivision (a) and displays inappropriate or inadequate usage of expressive or receptive language as measured by the representative spontaneous or elicited language sample of a minimum of 50 utterances. The language sample must be recorded or transcribed and analyzed, and the results included in the assessment report. If the pupil is unable to produce this sample, the language, speech, and hearing specialists shall document why a fifty-utterance sample was not obtainable and the contexts in which attempts were made to elicit the sample. When standardized tests are considered to be invalid for the specific pupil, the expected language performance level shall be determined by alternative means as specified in the assessment plan.

Traumatic brain injury means an acquired injury to the brain caused by an external physical force, resulting in total or partial functional disability or psychosocial impairment, or both, that adversely affects a child's educational performance. Traumatic brain injury applies to open or closed head injuries resulting in impairments in one or more areas, such as cognition; language; memory; attention; reasoning; abstract thinking; judgment; problem solving; sensory, perceptual, and motor abilities; psychosocial behavior, physical function; information processing; and speech.

18. Traumatic brain injury does not apply to brain injuries that are congenital or degenerative, or to brain injuries induced by birth trauma.

Visual impairment including blindness means an impairment in vision that, even with correction, adversely affects a child's educational performance. The term includes both partial sight and blindness.

Established Medical Disability means a disabling medical condition or congenital syndrome that the Individualized Education Program (IEP) team determines has a high predictability of requiring special education and services (ages 3 to 5 inclusive only).

Exclusionary Factors

A child must not be determined to be a child with a disability:

- A. If the determinant factor for that determine is:
 - 1. Lack of appropriate instruction in reading, including the essential components of reading instruction;
 - 2. Lack of appropriate instruction in math; or
 - 3. Limited English proficiency; and

If the child does not otherwise meet the eligibility criteria

SECTION II – STUDENTS NOT ELIGIBILE FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION

Not all students who experience difficulties in school need special education. Often, a student's school difficulties can be addressed though the implementation of interventions or accommodations within the general education program. Consideration of the following circumstances should be considered when determining special education eligibility:

A. Whether there is written documentation (i.e., Problem Solving Team records) of prior attempts to implement interventions and/or provide accommodations within the general education program or categorical programs or to implement RTI strategies over a reasonable period of time. A "reasonable period of time" will vary with the individual student. However, the average amount of time it takes to implement a Tier 1 or Tier 2 (RTI) intervention would be considered reasonable. If a parent wants and requests an immediate assessment and requests the assessment in writing, the written request begins the legal timeline.

The student is demonstrating slow but steady progress within the general education classroom.

The need for remedial academic instruction is not clearly related to a learning disability.

Excessive absence from school is the main basis for academic non-achievement.

A remedial health condition exists that has a significant effect on the student's academic performance, but actions have not been taken to ameliorate the condition. A medical or dental condition exists which can be reasonably expected to improve if treated. Tonsils and adenoids affecting hearing, learning and dental conditions that affect speech are examples.

The sole basis for referral and/or assessment is the student's limited English language status or the student's cultural difference.

The sole basis for referral is behavior disorder without associated learning difficulties.

The sole basis for referral is maturational.

The sole basis for referral is lack of a general physical education program or lack of, or unwillingness to, modify the general physical education program for an individual student.

Social maladjustment is the main basis for the referral.

CHAPTER V – INDIVIDUALIZED EDUCATION PROGRAM (IEP)

SECTION I - THE IEP PROCESS - INTRODUCTION

Individualized Education Program or IEP is a written statement for a child with a disability that is developed, reviewed, and revised in accordance with 34 CFR §§300.320 through 300.324 and Ed Code §56345.

The development of an IEP is a team process that follows a series of steps for success. Although the forms are standardized with required components, the completion and content of the IEP document is individualized to each student. The IEP team members determine eligibility for special education and related services and the Local Education Agency's (LEA's) offer for the provision of a Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE) for each student with a disability in the Least Restrictive Environment (LRE).

The IEP process begins with assessment which informs the content of the IEP and leads to the development of Goals and Objectives which determine the necessary services. The IEP process is strengthened through effective communication, collaboration and partnership among members including parents and guardians. The completed IEP document leads to the ongoing process of progress monitoring, revisions as needed and annual progress determinations. Data from the IEP is also used to track compliance for CDE and CALPADS reporting.

The IEP is:

An agreement, that the student will receive what is specified in the IEP. It is not a contract.

A compliance tool enabling school districts and State and Federal agencies to determine whether a student is receiving a FAPE by assessing whether the IEP meets legal requirements, is designed to provide Educational Benefit, and whether the student is receiving what is documented on the IEP.

- A. A student-centered management tool used to ensure that a child is provided needed special education and related services.
- B. A commitment of resources necessary to enable the child to receive needed special education and related services.

The IEP is not:

- A. A guarantee that a student will achieve the goals and objectives set forth in his or her IEP.
- B. A vehicle for specifying the methodologies or curricula teachers and other professionals will use with the student unless specified.

SECTION II – EDUCATIONAL BENEFIT

To receive a Free and Appropriate Public Education (FAPE), a student must receive meaningful Educational Benefit through his or her IEP. A school must offer an IEP that is "reasonably calculated to enable a student to make progress in light of the student's unique and individual circumstances." The 2017 United States Supreme Court decision in the Endrew F. vs. Douglas County case determined that "this standard is more demanding than the 'merely more than de minimus' test applied by the Tenth Circuit in the 1982 Rowley decision.

The IEP shall show a direct relationship between the present levels of performance, the goals and objectives, and the specific educational services to be provided. Specific educational placement means that unique combination of facilities, personnel, location or equipment necessary to provide instructional services to a child with a disability, as specified in the IEP.

Educational Benefit: Six Components



Areas of Assessment

- For the Initial IEP, there must be assessment data that identifies the areas of need.
- For each annual IEP, there must be data (classroom, progress on goals, informal assessment, SBAC, etc.) that identifies areas of need.
- For each triennial IEP, there must be assessment data that continues to be clear about the student's areas of need.

Areas of Need

- Assessment data is used to identify needs that are related to the student's disability.
- Assessment data is used to identify needs related to the student's involvement and progress in the general education setting and curriculum.

Present Levels of Performance

- The Present levels of performance include all of the needs identified in the assessment and related to the student's disability.
 - Area of need statement about what the student CANNOT do.
 - \circ $\,$ Area of need statement about what the student CAN do.

Goals and Objectives (Benchmarks)

- Goals and Objectives clearly address the areas of need reflected in the present levels of performance.
 - One goal for every area of need as identified by assessment data and from the present levels of performance.
 - \circ Each goal must only address one area of need No compound goals.

Services

- Services are planned which will support student progress toward goals.
 - The IEP includes a direct relationship between the present levels of performance, goals and the specific educational services to be provided.
- The IEP includes descriptions of program modifications that will be provided to enable the student to:
 - Advance toward attaining goals.

- Be involved in and make progress in the general education curriculum and participate in extracurricular activities.
- Be educated and participate with other students with disabilities and with nondisabled students.
- Progress
 - Progress data is collected for all goals and objectives.
 - Goals and services are changed in the IEP to assist the student to make progress when needed.

SECTION III – IEP CONTENTS

An IEP is a written statement for each individual with exceptional needs that is developed, reviewed, and revised and includes the following:

- A. A statement of the child's present levels of academic achievement and functional performance, including:
 - 1. How the child's disability affects the child's involvement and progress in the general education curriculum; or
 - 2. For preschool children, as appropriate, how the disability affects the child's participation in appropriate activities.
 - 3. For individuals with exceptional needs who take alternate assessments aligned to alternate achievement standards, a description of benchmarks or short-term objectives.

A statement of measurable annual goals, including academic and functional goals, designed to:

- 4. Meet the needs of the child that result from the child's disability to enable the child to be involved in and make progress in the general education curriculum.
- 5. Meet each of the child's other educational needs that result from the child's disability.

A description of how the child's progress toward meeting the annual goals will be measured and when periodic reports on the progress the child is making toward meeting the annual goals (such as through the use of quarterly or other periodic reports, concurrent with the issuance of report cards), will be provided.

A statement of the special education and related services and supplementary aids and services to be provided to the child, or on behalf of the child, and a statement of the program modifications or supports for school personnel that will be provided to enable the child:

- 6. To advance appropriately toward attaining the annual goals.
- 7. To be involved in and make progress in the general education curriculum and to participate in extracurricular and other nonacademic activities.
- 8. To be educated and participate with other children with disabilities and nondisabled children.

An explanation of the extent, if any, to which the child will not participate with nondisabled children in the regular class.

(a) A statement of the individual appropriate accommodations that are necessary to measure the academic achievement and functional performance of the child on state and districtwide assessments. (b) If the IEP Team determines that the pupil shall take an alternate assessment instead of a particular state or districtwide assessment of student achievement, a statement of:

- 9. The reason why the child cannot participate in the regular assessment; and
- 10. The reason why the particular alternate assessment selected is appropriate for the child.

The projected date for the beginning of the services and modifications and the anticipated frequency, location, and duration of those services and modifications.

Beginning not later than the first IEP to be in effect when the child is 16 years of age, or younger if determined appropriate by the IEP Team, and updated annually thereafter, the IEP must include:

- 11. Appropriate measurable postsecondary goals based upon age-appropriate transition assessments related to training, education, employment, and where appropriate, independent living skills; and
- 12. The transition services, including course of study, needed to assist the child in reaching those goals.

Beginning not later than one year before the child reaches the age of majority under state law, the IEP must include a statement that the child has been informed of the child's rights, if any, that will transfer to the child on reaching the age of majority.

If appropriate, the IEP shall also include, but not be limited to:

- A. For children in grades 7 to 12, inclusive, any alternative means and modes necessary for the pupil to complete the prescribed course of study of the district and to meet or exceed proficiency standards for graduation.
- B. For children whose native language is other than English, linguistically appropriate goals, objectives, programs, and services.
- C. Extended school year services (ESY) shall be included in the IEP and provided to the child if the IEP Team determines, on an individual basis, that the services are necessary for the provision of FAPE to the child.
- D. Provision for the transition in the regular class program if the child is to be transferred from a special class or nonpublic, nonsectarian school (NPS) into a regular class in a public school for any part of the school day, including:
 - 1. A description of activities provided to integrate the child into the regular education program. The description shall indicate the nature of each activity, and the time spent on the activity each day or week.
 - 2. A description of the activities provided to support the transition of a child from the special education program into the regular education program.

For children with low-incidence disabilities, specialized services, materials, and equipment, consistent with guidelines.

SECTION IV – EXTENDED SCHOOL YEAR (ESY)

Extended school year services will be provided for each child with a disability who has unique needs and requires special education and related services in excess of the regular academic year. ESY services are provided during the summer/intersession (the period of time between the close of one academic year and the beginning of the succeeding academic year) when the IEP Team determines a student will experience a loss of skills (regression) during the break from school that he or she will not recoup in a time frame comparable to typical students upon

return to school. Most students regress during school breaks and recoup their lost skills within an expected period of time when school reconvenes.

To determine whether the student is likely to experience regression, the IEP team must consider the student's past performance and determine that the student is at risk of not recouping skills within the normally expected period of time. A student with severe disabilities may also be eligible for ESY services if he or she requires such services in order to attain critical skills that are essential to the progress of the student and lead to independent functioning and integration with non-disabled individuals.

ESY shall be provided for a minimum of 20 instructional days, including holidays.

If during the regular academic year a child's IEP specifies integration in the regular classroom, a public education agency is not required to meet that component of the IEP if no regular summer school programs are being offered by that agency.

SECTION V – SCHEDULING THE IEP MEETING

The IEP team shall review the child's IEP periodically, but not less frequently than annually, to determine whether the annual goals for the child are being achieved, and revise the IEP, as appropriate.

- A. The LEA shall take steps to ensure that no less than one of the parents or guardians of the child are present at each IEP or are afforded the opportunity to participate.
- B. Parents/Guardians shall be notified of the IEP meeting early enough to ensure an opportunity to attend.
- C. The IEP meeting shall be scheduled at a mutually agreed-upon time and place. The notice of the meeting shall indicate the purpose, time and location of the meeting and who shall be in attendance (by title).
- D. Parents shall also be informed in the notice of the right to bring other people to the meeting who have knowledge or special expertise regarding the child. The notice to the parent shall also include information related to the participation of the infants and toddlers service coordinator at the initial IEP meeting for a child previously served under Part C.
- E. When the student reaches 16 years of age, the meeting notice shall indicate that a purpose of the meeting will be the consideration of the postsecondary goals and transition services for the student and the meeting notice shall indicate that the student is invited to attend.
- F. The LEA, with the consent of the parent or adult student, shall invite a representative of any participating agency that is likely to be responsible for providing or paying for the transition services.
- G. If no parent or guardian can attend the meeting in person, the LEA shall use other methods to ensure parent or guardian participation, including individual or conference call or videoconferencing.
- H. A meeting may be conducted without a parent or guardian in attendance if the LEA is unable to convince the parent or guardian to attend. In this event, the LEA shall maintain a record of its attempts to arrange a mutually agreed-upon time and place, such as:
 - 1. Detailed records of phone calls made or attempted and the results of those calls.
 - 2. Copies of correspondence sent to the parents or guardians and any responses received.
 - 3. Detailed records of visits made to the home or place of employment of the parent or guardian and the results of those visits.

The LEA shall take any action necessary to ensure that the parent or guardian understands the proceedings at a meeting, including arranging for an interpreter for parents or guardians with deafness or whose native language is a language other than English.

SECTION VI – IEP TEAM MEMBERS

Each meeting to develop, review, or revise the IEP of a child with a disability shall be conducted by an IEP Team. The IEP Team shall include all the following:

- A. One or both of the child's parents, a representative selected by a parent, or both.
- B. Not less than one regular education teacher of the child, if the child is, or may be, participating in the regular education environment. If more than one regular education teacher is providing instructional services to the child with a disability, one regular education teacher may be designated by the LEA to represent the others.
- C. The regular education teacher of a child with a disability, to the extent appropriate, shall participate in the development, review, and revision of the child's IEP including assisting in the determination of appropriate positive behavioral interventions and supports, and other strategies for the child, and the determination of supplementary aids and services, program modifications, and supports for school personnel that will be provided for the child.
- D. Not less than one special education teacher of the child, or if appropriate, not less than one special education related services provider of the child.
- E. A district representative (administrator), who meets all of the following:
 - 1. Is qualified to provide, or supervise the provision of, specially designed instruction to meet the unique needs of children with disabilities.
 - 2. Is knowledgeable about the general education curriculum.
 - 3. Is knowledgeable about the availability of resources of the LEA.

An individual who can interpret the instructional implications of the assessment results.

At the discretion of the parent, guardian, or the LEA, other individuals who have knowledge or special expertise regarding the child, including related services personnel, as appropriate. The determination of whether the individual has knowledge or special expertise regarding the child shall be made by the party who invites the individual to be a member of the IEP team.

Whenever appropriate, the child with a disability.

- 4. The LEA shall invite the student with a disability to attend his or her IEP meeting if a purpose of the meeting is the consideration of the postsecondary goals for the student and the needed transition services to assist the student in reaching those goals.
- 5. To the extent appropriate, with the consent of the parents or adult student, the LEA shall invite a representative of a participating agency that is likely to be responsible for providing or paying for transition services (such as Inland Regional Center (IRC) or the Department of Rehabilitation (DOR)).

A member of the IEP Team shall not be required to attend an IEP meeting, in whole or in part, if the parent of the child with a disability and the LEA agree, in writing, that the attendance of the member is not necessary because the member's area of the curriculum or related services is not being modified or discussed in the meeting.

A member of the individualized education program team may be excused from attending an individualized education program meeting, in whole or in part, when the meeting involves a modification to or discussion of the member's area of the curriculum or related services, if both of the following occur:

- 6. The parent, in writing, and the LEA consent to the excusal after conferring with the member.
- 7. The member submits, in writing, to the parent and the IEP Team input into the development of the IEP prior to the meeting.

Parent Participation

The parents of a child with a disability must be afforded an opportunity to inspect and review all education records with respect to the identification, evaluation and educational placement of the child and the provision of FAPE to the child.

The parents of a child with a disability must be afforded an opportunity to participate in meetings with respect to the identification, evaluation and educational placement of the child and the provision of FAPE to the child.

The LEA must provide notice to ensure that parents of children with disabilities have the opportunity to participate in IEP meetings.

A meeting does not include informal or unscheduled conversations involving public agency personnel and conversations on issues such as teaching methodology, lesson plans, or coordination of service provisions. A meeting also does not include preparatory activities that public agency personnel engage in to develop a proposal or response to a parent proposal that will be discussed at a later meeting.

SECTION VII – IEP MEETING TIMELINE REQUIREMENTS

The following timelines apply to IEP meetings:

- A. An IEP shall be held within 60 calendar days from receipt of the signed assessment plan providing consent for the assessment.
 - 1. The 60-calendar day timeline does not include days between the child's regular school sessions, terms, or days of school vacation in excess of five school days.
 - 2. If consent for assessment is received within 20 days of the end of the regular school year, the IEP must be held within 30 days from the beginning of the subsequent regular school year. If the signed assessment plan is received during the student's school vacation the IEP meeting must be held within 60 days of the date that school reconvenes.

An IEP requested by a parent or guardian shall be held within 30-calendar days of the date the parent requests the meeting.

3. The 30-calendar day timeline does not include days between the child's regular school sessions, terms, or days of school vacation in excess of five school days.

The IEP team shall review the child's IEP annually (within one year from the date of the previous IEP meeting).

The IEP team shall meet to conduct an annual/30-day IEP within 30-calendar days of the child's enrollment from another SELPA.

4. The IEP team shall meet to conduct an IEP meeting (Annual or Amendment), if necessary, to review and/or revise any components of the IEP, when a child enrolls from another district within the East Valley SELPA.

SECTION VIII – CONSENT PROCEDURES

Informed parental consent must be obtained before providing special education services. Consent means that the has been fully informed of all information relevant to the activity for which consent is sought, in his or her native language, or through another mode of communication; The parent understands and agrees in writing to the carrying out of the activity for which his or her consent is sought; and the consent describes that activity and lists the records (if any) that will be released and to whom. Additionally, the parent understands that the granting of consent is voluntary and may be revoked at any time.

Revocation of Consent Procedures

When a parent or legal guardian indicates an interest in revocation of consent to special education and related services, the IEP team should consider the request carefully. The District should respond to the request in writing (PWN) and may provide a date to cease providing special education and related services. After this date, student will receive no special education or related services and will not be considered a student with a disability.

By revocation of consent for a child to receive special education and related services, the protections and procedural safeguards are no longer applicable to the student. The services and accommodations/modifications that are agreed to in the student's most current IEP will no longer be available to the student. Additionally, the student will not have any of the procedural safeguards available to students with disabilities in the event of any disciplinary action.

The LEA's special education administrator should always be consulted when revocation has been requested. Typically, best practice is for the LEA to not disagree with its own IEP recommendations and request an additional meeting to listen to the parent concerns and make sure the parent is fully informed of the loss of services, accommodations, modifications, and other protections under IDEA due to the requested revocation. The IEP team should document the team's recommendations for special education and related services and make note in the comments that the parent has been informed of the team's recommendations but wishes to revoke consent for services. If the nature of the student's IEP services are so necessary to their ability to access and receive any educational benefit, the LEA may opt to enter into due process to show that its offer of FAPE was appropriate. This is a rare and extreme example, but the LEA should take action if staff feel strongly that student harm would occur without the enumerated IEP services being provided.

If the parent still wishes to revoke consent, they should understand student may again be referred and considered for special education and related services in the future.

If a parent revokes consent, the revocation is not retroactive (i.e., it does not negate an action that has occurred after the consent was given and before the consent was revoked) and the public agency is not required to amend the child's education records to remove any references to the child's receipt of special education and related services because of the revocation of consent.

If at any time subsequent to the initial provision of special education and related services, the parent of a child revokes consent in writing for the continued provision of special education and related services, the public agency:

A. May not continue to provide special education and related services to the child but must provide prior written notice before ceasing such services.

May not use the mediation or due process procedures in order to obtain agreement or a ruling that the services may be provided to the child.

Will not be considered to be in violation of the requirement to make a free appropriate public education (FAPE) available to the child because of the failure to provide the child with further special education and related services.

Is not required to convene an IEP team meeting or develop an IEP for the child for further provision of special education and related services.

SECTION IX – TRIENNIAL REEVALUATIONS

A reassessment of the pupil, shall be conducted if the local educational agency determines that the educational or related service needs, including improved academic achievement and functional performance, of the pupil warrant a reassessment, or if the pupil's parents or teacher requests a reassessment.

A reassessment shall occur not more frequently than once a year, unless the parent and the local educational agency agree otherwise, and shall occur at least once every three years, unless the parent and the local educational agency agree, in writing, that a reassessment is unnecessary.

As part of a reassessment, the individualized education program team and other qualified professionals, as appropriate, shall do the following:

- A. Review existing assessment data on the pupil, including assessments and information provided by the parents of the pupil, current classroom-based assessments and observations, and teacher and related services providers observations.
- B. On the basis of the review conducted and input from the parents of the pupil, identify what additional data, if any, is needed to determine:
 - 1. Whether the pupil continues to have a disability
 - 2. The present levels of performance and educational needs of the pupil
 - 3. Whether the pupil continues to need special education and related services
 - 4. Whether any additions or modifications to the special education and related services are needed to enable the pupil to meet the measurable annual goals set out in the individualized education program of the pupil and to participate, as appropriate, in the general curriculum.

The local educational agency shall administer tests and other assessment materials needed to produce the data identified by the individualized education program team.

If the individualized education program team and other qualified professionals, as appropriate, determine that no additional data is needed to determine whether the pupil continues to be an individual with exceptional needs, and to determine the educational needs of the pupil, the local educational agency shall notify the parents of the pupil of that determination and the reasons for it, and the right of the parents to request an assessment to determine whether the pupil continues to be an individual with exceptional needs, and to determine the educational agency is not required to conduct an assessment, unless requested by the parents of the pupil.

A reassessment may not be conducted unless the written consent of the parent is obtained prior to reassessment. Informed parental consent need not be obtained for the reassessment of an individual with exceptional needs if the local educational agency can demonstrate that it has taken reasonable measures to obtain that consent and the parent of the child has failed to respond. To meet the reasonable measure requirements, the local educational agency shall use procedures consistent with those set forth in EC § 56381(f).

If the parent refuses to consent to the reassessment, the local educational agency may, but is not required to, pursue the reassessment by using the consent override procedures described in 34 CFR § 300.300(a)(3).

5. The local educational agency does not violate its obligations if it declines to pursue the reassessment.

Parental consent is not required before reviewing existing data as part of an assessment or reassessment, or before administering a test or other assessment that is administered to all children, unless before administration of that test or assessment, consent is required of the parents of all the children.

If the IEP team and other qualified professionals, as appropriate, determine that no additional data is needed to determine whether the pupil continues to be an individual with exceptional needs, the district, special education local plan area, or county office shall notify the pupil's parent(s) of that determination and the reasons for it, and the right of the parent(s) to request an assessment to determine whether the pupil continues to be an individual with exceptional needs; however, the district, special education local plan area, or county office shall not be required to conduct an assessment unless requested by the pupil's parent(s).

The informal review process for determining continued eligibility is generally used only when sufficient history and evidence exist that indicates continued eligibility and need for special education services and supports. If ineligibility is suspected or the available data is insufficient, a more formal assessment process would be necessary. When an IEP team and other qualified professionals determine that no additional data is needed to determine whether the pupil continues to be an individual with exceptional needs, the team will follow the EV SELPA Alternative Triennial Assessment process including completing the relevant forms prior to conducting the triennial Individualized Education Program (IEP) meeting.

SECTION X – ASSESSMENT TO CONSIDER DISCONTINUING SERVICES

Before determining that a student no longer requires a special education service (i.e., OT services) or no longer meets eligibility in a particular category (i.e., Speech Language Impairment), the local educational agency shall conduct a reassessment of the student. The student will be assessed to determine if he/she continues to need a related service. An IEP team meeting will be held to discuss the assessment results. If the assessment indicates the student no longer requires a special education service or no longer meets eligibility in a particular category, the IEP team will make a determination regarding the student's disability designation and special education and related services.

SECTION XI – ASSESSMENT TO CONSIDER EXITING FROM SPECIAL EDUCATION

Before determining that a student no longer requires a special education service or is no longer a student with a disability, the local educational agency shall conduct a reassessment of the student. The student will be assessed in all areas related to the disability to determine if the student continues to have a disability, if the student is still eligible for special education, and if the student is still in need of special education and related services. After the assessment is completed, an IEP team meeting will be held to make a determination regarding the student's eligibility for special education and related services and whether the student should be exited from special education.

The student shall be ineligible for special education services when the impairment no longer adversely affects educational performance, when the student no longer meets eligibility criteria or when the student's needs can be met in the general education setting with accommodations. Whether a disability/impairment 'Adversely affects

educational performance' must not be determined solely based on whether the student is receiving passing grades. Social/emotional needs, behavioral needs, and any other needs present in the educational environment should also be considered by the IEP team.

An assessment shall not be required before the termination of a pupil's eligibility due to graduation from secondary school with a regular diploma or due to exceeding the age of eligibility for FAPE.

For a pupil whose eligibility terminates due to graduation or exceeding the age of eligibility ("aging out"), a local educational agency shall provide the pupil with a summary of the academic achievement and functional performance of the pupil, which shall include recommendations on the manner in which to assist the pupil in meeting his or her postsecondary educational goals. The local educational agency is also required to provide the parents or adult student with a prior written notice (PWN) before graduating the student, as graduation is legally considered a change of placement.

SECTION XII – BEST PRACTICES FOR EFFECTIVE IEPS

Scheduling the IEP

A. Since it is essential that IEP team members are available and prepared for the meeting and that meetings are held within required timelines, effective scheduling is important. In most schools the vast majority of IEP meetings held each year are annual reviews.

School-wide planning is important given the volume of IEPs at any particular school site. Planning the IEP schedule should take into account the time needed for different types of IEPs and flexibility in days and times to meet the needs of parents and guardians. Since the amount of time needed for an effective IEP meeting will vary depending on the needs of the student, be sure to schedule an appropriate period of time to discuss and resolve all relevant issues. Scheduling of IEP meetings back-to-back for short periods is not recommended.

The scheduling of an IEP should include verifying the availability of all staff members (including related service providers, general education teachers, administrators, interpreters, etc.) who are required to attend before scheduling the meeting.

Schools must schedule IEPs with parents or guardians at a time and place that is mutually agreed-upon. Efforts should be made to schedule or reschedule the IEP meeting at an agreeable time and location to facilitate their participation. All such efforts must be documented.

In order to encourage parent participation, school staff must explore alternative types of participation, such as individual or conference calls, or even virtually, if a parent is unable to attend in person.

Conducting an IEP Without Parent Participation

- A. An LEA may conduct an IEP meeting without parents if the LEA is unable to convince the parent or guardian that he or she should attend or send a representative.
- B. The LEA shall maintain a record of its attempts to arrange a mutually agreed-upon time and place.
- C. To ensure the defensibility of challenging cases, it is recommended that a Prior Written Notice (PWN) be sent to the parent or guardian prior to the district's decision to hold the IEP meeting without the parents or guardians in attendance that indicates the attempts made to have the parent or guardian present, and a date by which the parent can respond to find a mutually agreeable time and place to hold the meeting.

Otherwise, the district will proceed with the IEP meeting without the parent present on the date indicated on the PWN.

Administrator's Attendance at an IEP Meeting

- A. A district representative (Administrator) should attend the entire IEP Team Meeting.
- B. In order to offer a student a FAPE through committee district resources, he or she needs to be present to listen to the discussions regarding a student's unique needs and goals. A site administrator is in the best position to ensure the required IEP team members (e.g., the site's special and general education teachers, services provider(s), and school psychologist) attend and participate during the meeting. An administrator's presence, leadership and facilitation of the meeting can set the tone of the meeting to support the process and effective communication and student-focused processes.
- C. Federal and state laws require that the district adhere to specific requirements in comprising an IEP team and in choosing an appropriate district representative whose presence is required at an IEP team meeting. Failure by the district to meet these requirements may result in a denial of FAPE and findings of non-compliance.

Preparing for the IEP Meeting

All IEP team members have valuable information to contribute regarding a student's learning, the school environment, and the student's strengths and needs. As a team, the IEP team is collaborating to establish goals, services, and priorities for the student's individualized program. Students are an important part of the IEP team, when appropriate.

The responsibilities related to preparing for the IEP meeting may belong to a variety of school staff in addition to the designated IEP team members. The following recommendations are offered to ensure an effective, productive, collaborative, and efficient IEP designed to benefit the child with a disability:

- A. The staff responsible for scheduling the IEP should assure that all staff participating in the IEP meeting receive the Notice of Meeting and are available to attend.
- B. The staff responsible for scheduling the IEP, case carrier, or site administrator should reserve a meeting room that has privacy, sufficient space and seating for the entire IEP meeting team and can support the effective use of any equipment that may be required.
- C. The administrator/district representative should clarify the roles and responsibilities of IEP team members, including the expectations that team members:
 - 1. Arrive at the IEP meeting on time and prepared.
 - 2. Remain at the IEP meeting throughout the entire IEP meeting or that arrangements have been made in advance to excuse a member early, if necessary.
 - 3. Remain attentive to the proceedings throughout the duration of the IEP meeting.
 - 4. Do not delegate their responsibility to another staff member unless that person is able to assume the role.
 - 5. Ensure that the cultural and linguistic needs of parents and students are incorporated into the IEP process.

The case carrier and other appropriate/designated IEP team members should review the assessment plan to ensure that all assessments have been conducted and all reports have been completed and translated, when requested, and a copy of the report has been provided to the parent if so requested. Assessors should prepare copies of their assessment reports for the meeting.

The case carrier and other appropriate/designated IEP team members should review assessment reports, including Independent Educational Evaluations (IEEs), if they are available prior to the meeting.

6. It is appropriate for staff to come prepared to IEP meetings with findings and recommendations related to components of the IEP. These may or may not be entered on the draft IEP forms and may be revised during the discussion at the IEP meeting. It must, however, be made clear to parents that such findings and recommendations are provided for review and discussion.

The case carrier and other appropriate/designated IEP team members should review information related to the student's current levels of education performance, which may include:

- 7. Report Cards
- 8. Classroom work and assessment data
- 9. State-wide and district-wide assessment data
- 10. Attendance records
- 11. Behavioral reports
- 12. Health reports
- 13. Reports from related services providers
- 14. Reports from providers of transition services
- 15. Information provided by parents
- 16. Information provided by the student

The case carrier and service providers should be prepared to present and document the degree to which the student achieved the prior annual goal.

The case carrier and service providers should draft proposed new goals and recommendations for service based on the student's present level of performance, assessment data, and progress on previous goals.

17. While decisions at an IEP meeting are to be based on input from all participants, participants may come prepared with draft recommendations for team consideration.

The case carrier, service providers and general education teacher should review the student's Supplementary Aids and Services (Accommodations, Modifications and Other Supports) to identify whether they continue to meet the student's needs or revisions need to be considered.

The case carrier and other IEP team members should be prepared to discuss recommendations for special education and related services.

The case carrier and other IEP team members should be prepared, when appropriate, to discuss any special factors that impact the student including:

- 18. Educational needs related to visual impairment.
- 19. Educational needs related to hearing impairment.

- 20. Educational needs related to Assistive Technology.
- 21. Educational needs related to Behavior.

If the IEP team may propose a change in the student's current placement, appropriate district procedures should be followed which may involve communication with the district's Special Education Administrator(s) and staff/administrator(s) from another school site or county office. Additional district staff may be required at the IEP meeting to ensure that all necessary information is available during the IEP for consideration by the team in determining the appropriate placement in the least restrictive environment to meet the student's needs.

If the IEP team may propose an assessment or services provided by an agency other than the district, the case carrier or other appropriate IEP team member should follow the district, county and/or SELPA procedure for contacting appropriate staff/agency and ensuring the referral process is completed correctly and efficiently.

Parent Preparation for the IEP Meeting

- A. The case carrier or administrator should encourage and support parents to prepare for the IEP meeting by:
 - 1. Ensuring they have a copy of their child's current IEP to review prior to the meeting, particularly the placement, services, and goals and objectives.
 - 2. Encouraging them to visit their child's current placement, particularly if there are any concerns expressed by the parent or IEP team members regarding the current placement.
 - 3. Encourage parents to review their child's progress reports
 - 4. Ask the parent to share their observations of their child's progress, any concerns they would like the IEP team to address and any additional or new information regarding their child that will be relevant to the IEP team.

If parents intend to record the meeting, they must give notice to the administrator/designee or district at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the IEP meeting. If the parent records the meeting, the district may also record the meeting and does not need parental approval. Any recording made by the district is subject to the Federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and its confidentiality requirements. Parents may also request to review any district recording(s).

Sample IEP Agendas

Providing an IEP agenda to all participants (or having it available on the table or posted prominently in the meeting room) will provide structure to the meeting and assure all participants that all components of the IEP will be addressed with opportunity for discussion and input. The following IEP agendas for Initial, Annual, Triennial and Amendment IEPs are offered as samples.





Unified School District

Triennial IEP Meeting

- I. Welcome, Introductions & Purpose of Meeting
 - a. Establish time constraints (if necessary)
- II. Parents' Rights/Procedural Safeguards
- III. Parent Input, Comments and/or Concerns
- IV. Present and Discuss District Evaluations
- V. Discuss and Identify Disability Designation(s)
- VI. Present Levels of Performance
 - a. Review of Progress on Previous Assessments
 - b. Discussion of Present Levels
 - c. EL Needs (if appropriate)
 - d. Consideration of Special Factors
 - e. Progress on previous goals
- VII. Transition Services (Age 15+)
- VIII. Development of New Goals and Short-Term Objectives
- IX. LRE & FAPE
 - a. LRE, Program Setting, Transition support (if appropriate), PE & Transportation
 - b. Accommodations, Modifications &/or Supports
 - c. Services
 - d. ESY
- X. Statewide Assessment
 - a. Including need for Designated Supports and/or Accommodations
- XI. Offer of FAPE Including Special Education & Related Services
- XII. Read IEP Team Comments Aloud
- XIII. Consent to IEP and Signatures



Meeting Norms

Effective, respectful communication will support and encourage collaborative, productive, and results-oriented IEP meetings. The meeting agenda will provide a roadmap for the flow of the meeting through the IEP and the use of meeting norms will provide guidance for how team members should conduct themselves during the meeting.



Effective Communication During an IEP Meeting

The use of Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) strategies, language and communication tools will increase collaboration and teamwork throughout an IEP meeting. IEP team members are encouraged to use empathy and perspective-sharing in understanding the parent's experience of an IEP meeting. Team members are encouraged to

ensure communications are student-centered and that all team members are working toward the goal of developing an effective and appropriate IEP for the benefit of the student.

Team members should strive to utilize language and phrases that will promote communication and direct the focus of the members to the issues and interests of the student:

- Could you provide a specific example?
- What was most important about that (conversation, incident, etc.)?
- What is the most important aspect of this dispute?
- What would you like to see done differently?
- Who are the most important parties in that situation?
- What else is important about that?
- You've talked with several people and don't seem to have a resolution yet.
- You've spent a lot of energy and time on this. What would you like to see happen?
- Please share more about how your child requires the service you are requesting.
- What would you suggest as a next step?

Team members should be empathetic and provide parents the space and opportunity to share feelings without assuming that their feelings are directed at staff. Having a child with a disability can be very stressful and overwhelming to some parents and they may need an opportunity to share their frustrations. The following phrases and language may assist in validating the feelings of parents and IEP team members:

- I can hear your frustration.... How can we help?
- You sound frustrated. Please go on.
- I can hear how important this is to you.
- This has been difficult for you. Tell me more about....
- You seem very angry and I'm willing to listen. What happened?
- And then what....
- You probably felt _____ when that happened.
- I can see how that may be confusing. Can I gather more information for you?
- I can see why you might be frustrated. Can I contact ______ on your behalf?
- The system can sometimes be confusing. How can I assist?
- This is a troubling situation for you.
- You want the very best for your child.
- It sounds like you've tried several approaches.
- It sounds like there are a lot of things going on in your child's life.
- Let's be sure we've heard what _____ just said. Would you repeat that please?

• What has worked for you at home? Do you think we could incorporate that into our classroom setting?

Team members should be mindful of the parent's and student's needs during the meeting including the opportunity to be heard and the perception that the team members were mentally present and attuned to the entire meeting. There may be times when it becomes clear that the meeting may need more time or team members may need to be reminded to attend to the agenda to keep the meeting moving forward productively. The following phrases and language may help all participants focus on the IEP process/agenda or address time issues without rushing the meeting forward in a manner that would be considered disrespectful or inconsiderate:

- It might be helpful to everyone if we establish an ending time for today's meeting and then schedule a reconvened meeting if we have more to accomplish so that we aren't rushed. What would work best for everyone?
- We have scheduled ______ amount of time for today's meeting, but we can certainly reconvene if we are unable to complete the meeting during this time frame.
- If we have not concluded by _____, we can reconvene another meeting.
- I will take responsibility for keeping track of the time.
- _____ will be facilitating our meeting today and helping all of us follow the meeting agenda to ensure we respect everyone's time and remain on-track to complete ______'s IEP meeting.
- We have provided an agenda for today's meeting. Please review it before we begin and let me know if there is a component you feel we need to cover that isn't on the agenda.
- Please review the agenda and note the order in which we'll be discussing the IEP components. This may help us all remain focused on the process.
- It sounds like you have concerns about ______ which might be better addressed in a meeting with ______. May I arrange that for you?
- Thank you for that information. I will make note of it here on my agenda so we can be sure to discuss it in section _____.
- I can hear how important that issue is to you. Please remind us to take that discussion up in section _____.
- I'd like to pause for a moment because I heard you say something very important (rephrase what was said and ask appropriate questions to gather more information or state why this information is important).
- Let's move to the next step in the process.
- I have some ideas/resources/materials on that subject and I'll be happy to share with you after the meeting if you have time (or offer to call or meet later or send information electronically).

There are some phrases and language that may be misinterpreted or imply that the student is not the focus of the team and the IEP. These phrases can be detrimental to the IEP process and the relationship with parents and/or team members. The following are offered as phrases/statements to be avoided during an IEP meeting:

- I don't know since I don't have him/her in class all day.
- I don't teach that.
- I didn't know the student had an IEP.
- I didn't know the IEP had that Accommodation (or Modification or Support).

- I can't implement that in my classroom.
- I can't do that in my class it wouldn't be fair to the other students.
- The student doesn't fit into my groups.
- We've already covered that in class and we don't have time to review it again.
- Students are not allowed to use calculators in my class.
- I think s/he just isn't trying to do the work.
- No one is allowed to bring a laptop or recorder into my classroom.
- If s/he can't copy the notes from the board fast enough, s/he can ask another student for their notes.
- I don't assign groups, so I don't have control over which group s/he is in for projects.
- I don't accept any late assignments.
- If s/he can't read and pass the test independently, s/he won't be able to use any of the woodshop tools.
- Groups don't work in my class because I can't tell how much work each student completed.
- I don't think your child fits into any programs at this site.
- I don't have the training or credential to teach a student with a disability in my class.
CHAPTER VI – ENGLISH LEARNERS WITH DISABILITIES

This section provides information and resources regarding best practices and regulatory requirements for identifying, providing services, and reclassifying English Learners (EL) with disabilities.

SECTION I – SUPPORTS FOR ENGLISH LEARNERS WITHIN A MULTI-TIERED SYSTEM OF SUPPORTS (MTSS) FRAMEWORK

California's Multi-Tiered System of Supports (MTSS) model establishes an integrated and comprehensive framework focused on quality teaching and learning for all students in all content areas, which includes comprehensive English language development (ELD) for English learners, along with any necessary supplemental and intensive instruction students may need to be successful. Created to meet the needs of all students, this framework unifies and amplifies the range of support systems for English learners, students with disabilities, students who are identified as gifted and talented, and students who are academically underperforming and at risk of not succeeding. A key notion of the MTSS model is that all students can be academically successful, and that instruction and support systems must be designed to be accessible to all learners.

Because the MTSS framework is designed to support all students, an important question regarding English learners is this: What must be explicitly leveraged in California's MTSS framework to specifically support English learners? This chapter addresses this question and in doing so provides guidance and a systematic pre-referral process for avoiding over- identification and under-identification of English learners for special education services.

Student-centered learning and close attention to addressing individualized student needs, beginning with the core instruction in which all students are enrolled, is at the heart of California's MTSS. For this reason, the MTSS aligns all systems necessary for all students' academic, behavioral, and social-emotional supports with an understanding that these supports are interrelated and work together to promote student academic achievement and overall well- being.

Implementing the MTSS framework in California schools involves using comprehensive and systematic processes to identify and address student needs to facilitate each individual student's highest level of achievement. Collaboration of teaching teams, including program specialists and English specialists to provide effective services to students is vital, as is the collaboration of site and LEA leadership teams in designing, implementing, and cultivating the needed systems for student success. All decisions in the MTSS framework are data-driven, informed by evidence and research, and based upon multiple assessment methods for ascertaining student knowledge and skills. Although this chapter primarily addresses guidance for teachers and school and LEA administrators, the MTSS encompasses a whole system approach and involves all participants in the LEA, including students, families, communities, and policymakers. In the MTSS framework, "all" means "all."

In the MTSS framework, evidence-based practice is essential. Careful selection and effective implementation of evidence-based practices that have been shown to be effective for English learners is critical in all tiers of instruction. Evidence-based core instruction, supplemental supports, and interventions for English learners must address their particular academic, linguistic, social-emotional, and behavioral learning needs, which will vary by the range of diverse groups of English learners (e.g., immigrant, migratory, long-term, newcomer). Culturally and linguistically relevant, responsive, and sustaining practices are paramount.

These high quality multi-tiered instruction and interventions are based on state guidance in California's standards and curriculum frameworks, including the CA ELD Standards and ELA/ ELD Framework. Delivered through high quality instruction in a single schoolwide, standards- based accountability system, the tiered system is driven

by data-based and evidence-informed decision-making. In an effective and inclusive MTSS framework, students of color, ethnically diverse students, English learners, students living in poverty, and students with disabilities are expected to succeed because they are provided with equitable opportunities to learn.

When English learners are not making progress in academic achievement, teams of educators must ask whether the students' instruction, which includes comprehensive ELD, has been evidence-based, standards-aligned, and culturally and linguistically appropriate and whether it has been of sufficient quality. This is important to avoid assigning Tier II and Tier III interventions or referral to special education services when what is happening is a lack of appropriate instruction for English learners. Some English learners will be identified, through a systematic process described in this guide, as having a disability or multiple disabilities and will need special education services. It is through a clear system of tiered supports and pre- referral processes that it can be ascertained if they will need these services. The interventions provided within the MTSS framework are recognized as pre-referral core instruction and interventions.

(Source: California Practitioners' Guide for Educating English Learners with Disabilities, California Department of Education, 2019.)

SECTION II – LEGAL STANDARDS AND THE IDENTIFICATION OF STUDENT'S PRIMARY LANGUAGE

State and federal law require that all students whose primary language is other than English be assessed for English Language Proficiency (ELP). The legal basis for requiring English proficiency testing is that all students have the right to an equal and appropriate education, and any English language limitations (left unidentified and/or unaddressed) could preclude a student from accessing that right.

State law (California Education Code [EC] sections 313 and 60810) and federal law (Titles I and III of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act [ESEA]) require that LEAs administer a state test of ELP and develop Annual Measurable Achievement Objectives (AMAOs) for:

- A. Newly enrolled students whose primary language is not English as an Initial Assessment (IA); and,
- B. Students who are English Learners as an Annual Assessment (AA). For California's public school students, this test is the English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (ELPAC).

The English Language Proficiency Assessments for California (ELPAC) is the required state test for English language proficiency (ELP) that must be given to students whose primary language is a language other than English. State and federal law require that local educational agencies administer a state test of ELP to eligible students in kindergarten through grade twelve. The California Department of Education (CDE) transitioned from the California English Language Development Test (CELDT) to the ELPAC as the state ELP assessment in 2018. The ELPAC is aligned with the 2012 California English Language Development Standards. It consists of two separate ELP assessments: one for the initial identification of students as English learners (ELs), and a second for the annual summative assessment to measure a student's progress in learning English and to identify the student's level of ELP.

The Initial ELPAC has one purpose:

A. To identify students who are ELs or are initial fluent English proficient (IFEP)

The Summative ELPAC has two purposes:

A. To determine the level of ELP of EL students

To assess the progress of EL students in acquiring the skills of listening, speaking, reading, and writing in English

All students in kindergarten through grade twelve (K–12), ages three through twenty-one, whose primary language is a language other than English must take the initial ELPAC to determine whether they are ELs. This must be done within 30-calendar days after they are first enrolled in a California public school or 60-calendar days prior to instruction, but not before July 1, per ELPAC regulations. The Summative ELPAC must be given annually to students identified as ELs until they are reclassified to fluent English proficient (RFEP) and is usually administered in a testing window running from February through May.

Source: "2019-20 English Language Proficiency Assessments for California: Information Guide," California Department of Education, 2019, or at:

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/tg/ep/documents/elpacinfoguide19.pdf

Other Federal Regulations and Case Law Related to ELs in Special Education

- Civil Rights Act (1964)
- 1970 It is a violation to exclude children from effective participation in school because they cannot understand English.
- Diana vs. State Board of Education (1970) One cannot identify a child as mentally retarded based on IQ tests administered in English. The child must be assessed in his/her first language and in English or use nonverbal IQ tests.
- Larry P. v. Riles One cannot use IQ tests thus, tests must be validated for use with the specific populations.
- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (1975); 1997 & 2004 amendments ELs are not eligible for services if their learning problems are primarily the result of environmental, cultural, or economic disadvantage. Evaluation and placement procedures must be conducted in the child's native language unless it is not feasible to do so (example– a child who has been in the American school system for 12 years). Parents must understand proceedings of IEP meetings to provide informed consent. They must know they have the right to an interpreter at no cost. The multidisciplinary team must consider the language needs of ELs when developing, reviewing, or revising IEPs. (IDEA 2004)

American Sign Language

For purposes of ELPAC testing and Title III services, American Sign Language (ASL), in and of itself, is not considered a "language other than English," according to the US Department of Education (ED). Students who use ASL for communication and have not been exposed to any language other than English should not be considered for ELPAC testing. For a student who uses ASL for communication because of deafness or hearing impairment, and for whom there is another primary language other than English indicated on the student's HLS, the individualized education program (IEP) team should consider (1) ELPAC testing with appropriate universal tools, designated supports, and accommodations; or (2) alternate assessment(s).

Hearing students of deaf parents who use ASL as the primary means to communicate upon entering school and who have been exposed to a language other than English by another adult, such as a grandparent or a caregiver, may be considered for ELPAC testing. The LEA may consider ELPAC testing in addition to other appropriate language assessments to determine whether the child may benefit educationally from English language development (ELD) instruction. The LEA should base its decision to administer the ELPAC on whether the student has been exposed to another language other than English, not on the basis of whether the hearing student of deaf parents uses ASL in the home.

Federal Guidance for Learners with Disabilities

In accordance with the ED guidance issued in July 2014, the ED requires that all ELs with disabilities participate in the state's ELP assessment. Federal law requires that all ELs with disabilities participate in the state ELP assessment in the following ways, as determined by the IEP team:

- A. In the regular state ELP assessment without universal tools, designated supports, and accommodations
- B. In the regular state ELP assessment with universal tools, designated supports, and accommodations determined by the IEP team or Section 504 team
- C. In an alternate assessment aligned with the state's ELD standards, if the IEP team determines that the student is unable to participate in the regular ELP assessment with or without universal tools, designated supports, and accommodations

Role of the IEP Team

The IEP team is an essential component in establishing the appropriate academic and functional goals, determining the specifically designed instructional program to meet the unique needs of all ELs with disabilities, and making decisions about how students can participate in the state ELP assessment. In accordance with the new ED guidance, the IEP team is responsible for:

- A. Making decisions about the content of a student's IEP, including whether a student must take a regular state assessment (in this case, the ELP assessment), with or without appropriate universal tools, designated supports and/or accommodations, or an alternate assessment in lieu of the regular ELP assessment (ED, July 2014, FAQ #4).
- B. Developing an IEP for each student with a disability, including each EL with a disability, at an IEP team meeting, which includes school officials and the child's parents/guardians. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) regulation in Code of Federal Regulations, Title 34, (34 CFR) Section 300.321(a) specifies the participants to be included on each child's IEP team. It is essential that IEP teams for ELs with disabilities include persons with expertise in English language acquisition and other professionals, such as speech-language pathologists, who understand how to differentiate between English proficiency development and a disability (ED, July 2014, FAQ #5).
- C. Ensuring that ELs' parents or guardians understand and are able to meaningfully participate in IEP team meetings at which the child's participation in the annual state ELP assessment is discussed. If a parent whose primary language is other than English is participating in IEP meetings, the IDEA regulations require each public agency to take whatever action necessary to ensure that the parent understands the proceedings of the IEP team meeting, including arranging for an interpreter (34 CFR Section 300.322[e]). When parents themselves are ELs, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 also requires that the LEA effectively communicate with parents in a manner and form they can understand, such as by providing free interpretation and/or translation services (ED, July 2014, FAQ #6).
- D. Ensuring that all ELs, including those with disabilities, participate in the annual state ELP assessment, with or without universal tools, designated supports, and accommodations or take an appropriate, locally determined alternate assessment, if necessary (ESSA Section 1119[b][7] and IDEA Section 612[a][16][A]). An IEP team cannot determine that a particular EL with a disability should not participate in the annual state ELP assessment (ED, July 2014, FAQ #7). However, IEP teams can make the determination, on a student-by-student basis, that an alternate assessment to the ELP be administered.

Administration of ELPAC

According to 5 CCR sections 11511 and 11516 through 11516.7 (Division 1, Chapter 11, Subchapter 7.5) as well as EC Section 313, the initial and summative administration of the ELPAC are the responsibilities of the LEA. Most students with disabilities are able to participate effectively on the ELPAC. For students whose disabilities preclude them from participating in one or more domains of the ELPAC, their IEP teams may recommend accommodations or an alternate assessment (see EC Section 56385, 5 CCR 11516.5 through 11516.7).

In accordance with 34 CFR sections 300.304 through 300.305, initial identification for determining whether a student is a student with a disability takes into consideration existing data, which includes LEA and statewide assessments. For those who participate in programs for students with disabilities, the LEA may be a school district, an independent charter school, the county office of education, or a state special school.

When an EL with disabilities is not able to take the ELPAC (the entire test or any portion of it), that information is shared at the IEP team meeting. IEP team members may determine that alternate assessments are appropriate and necessary. Per the ED, the alternate assessment must be aligned with the ELD Standards. The results of alternate assessments and/or the ELPAC are part of the current levels of performance in the IEP. The scores or performance levels are a part of the information considered by the team to develop linguistically appropriate goals (EC sections 56341.1[b] and 56345[b][2]).

Because such alternate means of assessments fundamentally alter what the ELPAC measures, students receive the lowest obtainable scale score (LOSS) on each domain affected. Caution should be used when interpreting results because the LOSS on one or more domains may lower the Overall performance level on the ELPAC. The LOSS on the ELPAC will be used to calculate the ELPI for Title I accountability purposes. If the student is not reclassified, the LOSS will be entered as the "Most Recent Previous Scale Score(s)" at the next year's administration of the ELPAC.

Because of the unique nature of individual students' disabilities, the CDE does not make specific recommendations as to which alternate assessment instruments to use. However, the appropriate alternate assessment must be identified annually in a student's IEP. The LEA must ensure that the IEP team includes an individual who can interpret the instructional implications of evaluation results (e.g., an ELD specialist to interpret ELPAC results) (34 CFR Section 300.321[a][5]). Identified ELs with disabilities must take the ELPAC with any accommodations specified in their IEP or take appropriate alternate assessments, as documented in their IEP, every year until they are reclassified.

When a student's IEP or Section 504 plan specifies that the student has a disability for which there are no appropriate accommodations for assessment in one or more of the Speaking, Listening, Reading, and Writing domains, the student shall be assessed in the remaining domains in which it is possible to assess the student, per 34 CFR Section 200.6. A student may be assigned an overall score only if assessed in both oral and written language. To be considered as having been assessed in oral language, the student must have been assessed in either Speaking or Listening. To be considered as having been assessed in written language, the student must have been assessed in either Reading or Writing.

Step 1: Determination of Student's Primary Language

In accordance with EC Section 60810(d), one of the purposes of the ELPAC is to identify students who are ELs. The term "English learner," when used with respect to an individual, means an individual:

- A. who is aged 3 through 21;
- B. who is enrolled or preparing to enroll in an elementary school or secondary school.

- C. who was not born in the United States or whose native language is a language other than English.
 - 1. who is a Native American or Alaska Native, or a native resident of the outlying areas; and
 - 2. who comes from an environment where a language other than English has had a significant impact on the individual's level of English language proficiency; or
 - 3. who is migratory, whose native language is a language other than English, and who comes from an environment where a language other than English is dominant; and

whose difficulties in speaking, reading, writing, or understanding the English language may be sufficient to deny the individual:

- 4. the ability to meet the challenging State academic standards;
- 5. the ability to successfully achieve in classrooms where the language of instruction is English; or
- 6. the opportunity to participate fully in society. (ESEA Section 8101[20])

For all students in K–12, upon first enrollment in a California public school, the LEA uses a standardized procedure to determine a student's primary language. This procedure begins with a Home Language Survey (HLS), which is completed once by the parent or guardian at the time the student is initially enrolled in a California public school. The HLS should not be readministered every year nor readministered if a student enrolls in a new LEA.

If the HLS is completed in error, the parent or guardian may make a request to change it prior to the assessment. However, once a student is identified as an EL on the basis of the results of the Initial ELPAC, and the student has been administered the Summative ELPAC, changing the HLS will not change the student's identification.

A sample HLS is available on the CDE English Learner Forms web page at:

https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/cr/elforms.asp

The State Board of Education (SBE) approved the following guidelines for interpreting the sample survey:

- If a language other than English is indicated on any of the first three questions, the student should be tested with the Initial ELPAC.
- If a language other than English is indicated on the fourth question, the student may be tested at the LEA's discretion.

Step 2: Assessment of English Language Proficiency

Kindergarten through Grade Twelve LEAs will use the LST, found in TOMS, to calculate the official Initial ELPAC score. The Initial ELPAC has three performance level descriptors.

Please refer to page 30 for the full descriptions of the performance levels.

- IFEP
- Intermediate EL
- Novice EL

Students in K–12 are considered to have met the ELPAC criterion for English proficiency when the Overall score is in the IFEP range.

(Source: "2019-20 English Language Proficiency Assessments for California," California Department of Education, 2019.)

Decision Guide for Placement of English Learners

LEAs administer an HLS to all students enrolled for the first time in a California public school.

- A. If the survey results indicate English as the primary language, no further testing is required. A regular instructional program is implemented.
 - 1. If the student struggles to perform in the classroom later in the student's educational career, a correction process can be initiated as laid out on page 16.

If the survey results indicate a primary language other than English, an Initial ELPAC administration is required.

If a parent/guardian disagrees with the results of the HLS, a correction of the HLS can be pursued prior to the administration of the Initial ELPAC assessment.

The Initial ELPAC is administered for the purpose of classifying students, resulting in one of two general classifications: IFEP or EL.

- A. In the event of IFEP classification, the student is considered to have met the ELPAC criterion for English proficiency, and no further testing is required. A regular instructional program is implemented.
 - 1. If the student struggles to perform in the classroom later in the student's educational career or if the LEA receives a contradictory score as part of the Rotating Score Validation Process and determines that the student should be classified as an EL, the LEA can use this as part of evidence for a correction process to be initiated.

If the Initial ELPAC is administered to the incorrect student, a correction process is initiated, and no record of scores shall be maintained.

If a parent/guardian or a certificated employee of the LEA disagrees with the results of the Initial ELPAC, a review of the classification can be pursued prior to the administration of the Summative ELPAC assessment (if applicable). The Summative ELPAC is administered to ELs annually until reclassification criteria are met and the student is classified as RFEP.

In the event of RFEP classification, a regular instructional program is implemented, and the student's progress is monitored for four years following reclassification.

SECTION III – LINGUISTICALLY AND CULTURALLY SENSITIVE ASSESSMENTS TO DETERMINE SPECIAL EDUCATION ELIGIBILITY

The <u>California Practitioners' Guide for Educating English Learners with Disabilities</u> contains comprehensive guidance on the proper assessment considerations across a wide variety of topics, including:

- A. Determining a Student's Primary Language
- B. Determining Language of Assessment
- C. Assessor Sensitivity to Linguistics and Culture
- D. Recommended Use for Interpreters for Bilingual Assessments
- E. Language of Assessment Options

- F. Academic Assessment Options for English Learners
- G. Multiple Measures of Student Progress

Assessments must be "provided and administered in the language and form most likely to provide accurate information on what the student knows and can do academically, developmentally, and functionally, unless it is not feasible to provide or administer" (*EC* 56320[b][1]) (accessible at: <u>https://bit.ly/2V1FROH</u>). Determining how best to assess an

English learner to come to valid and reliable assessment results is not an easy task. Language acquisition must be taken into account when making decisions about how best to assess an English learner to avoid language barriers or cultural bias.

Multidisciplinary team members assessing English learners determine, through multiple measures, which language used during assessment will produce the most reliable result. They review and evaluate the English interpersonal communication skills (or document the current results of the ELP statewide assessment such as ELPAC) and include data from formal and informal assessments that measure the literacy-related aspects of language to determine the best language for assessment. For example, team members informally assess the language development of English learners by analyzing the student's ability to understand teacher-talk or reading comprehension through re-tell assessments. Unless these skills are analyzed and measured, teachers may attribute low achievement to learning disabilities when they may, in fact, be related to lack of academic language proficiency.

SECTION IV – LINGUISTICALLY APPROPRIATE IEP GOALS FOR ENGLISH LEARNERS WITH DISABILITIES

To properly meet the complex needs of students identified as English learners with disabilities, education professionals from various disciplines must effectively collaborate and involve families in the IEP process. This requires that general education teachers, special educators, and English learner specialists consult and collaborate to design and implement effective individualized education programs (IEPs) and services for English learners with disabilities to ensure optimal educational outcomes for this diverse group of learners. This section includes information on development of linguistically appropriate IEPs, required IEP components for the English learner student and other legal requirements related to the English learner's IEP.

The IEP team must "consider the language needs of the student as these needs relate to the student's IEP" (EC 56341.1[b][2]) (accessible at: https://bit.ly/2UirlxH). Specifically, the IEP must include "linguistically appropriate goals, objectives, programs and services" as required by EC 56345(b)(2) (accessible at: https://bit.ly/2UEfWOf).

In the development of IEP goals, 5 CCR 3001(m) (accessible at: https://bit.ly/2IBU8La) identifies "linguistically appropriate goals, objectives, and programs" to mean:

- A. Activities which lead to the development of English Language proficiency
- B. Instructional systems either at the elementary or secondary level which meet the language development needs of the English learner and
- C. For individuals whose primary language is other than English, and whose potential for learning a second language, as determined by the IEP team, is severely limited, the IEP team may determine that instruction may be provided through a language acquisition program, including a program provided in the individual's primary language. The IEP team must periodically, but not less than annually, reconsider the individual's ability to receive instruction in the English language.

IEP teams might find the following resources helpful in writing linguistically appropriate goals:

- A. the main CDE web page for standards-aligned IEPs which is accessible at: <u>https://bit.ly/2XjIs3R</u>
- B. a seven-step process for creating standards-based IEPs from the National Associate of State Directors of Special Education (NASDSE) is accessible at: <u>http://bit.ly/2Ls4bpo</u> (While not specific to English learners, the process described can be modified to meet the needs of English learners.)
- C. Source: California Practitioners' Guide for Educating English Learners with Disabilities, California Department of Education, 2019, at <u>https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/se/ac/documents/ab2785guide.pdf</u>

SECTION V – RECLASSIFICATION INFORMATION

Reclassification Criteria

The reclassification criteria set forth in California Education Code (EC) Section 313 and California Code of Regulations, Title 5 (5 CCR), Section 11303 remain unchanged. Pursuant to 5 CCR Section 11308 (c)(6), any local reclassification procedures must be reviewed by the school district advisory committee on programs and services for English learners (ELs). An English learner with a disability may be unable to meet a particular reclassification criterion due to the specific nature of his disability. For example, an English learner with dyslexia may continue to be classified as an English learner due to less than proficient ELPAC scores in reading. LEAs should continue using the following four criteria to establish reclassification policies and procedures (considerations for ELs with disabilities are provided for each):

Criterion One: Assessment of ELP (using an objective assessment instrument, including, but not limited to, the state test of English language development [ELD])

- A. Assessment of ELP using an objective assessment, including but not limited to the ELPAC, is one of four criteria, in state law per EC 313(f), to be used by LEAs in determining whether an English learner should be reclassified as RFEP. The IEP team can use the scores from an alternate assessment aligned with the state 2012 CA ELD Standards for reclassification purposes. An alternate assessment may be used to measure the student's ELP on any or all four domains in which the student cannot be assessed using the ELPAC.
- B. For purposes of Title I accountability requirements, a student assessed with a locally determined alternate assessment, will receive the lowest obtainable scale score (LOSS) on the ELPAC for each domain tested with an alternate assessment. The IEP team, however, may use results from the alternate assessment in conjunction with the other required criteria (i.e., teacher evaluation, parental opinion and consultation, and the student's scores on an assessment of basic skills) to determine a student's eligibility for reclassification. Once the Alternate ELPAC is operational, there will be criteria established for reclassification based on a student's performance.

Criterion Two: Teacher evaluation (including, but not limited to, a review of the student's curriculum mastery)

A. The student's academic performance information, that is based on the student's IEP goals for academic performance and ELD, should be used for reclassification consideration.

Criterion Three: Parent opinion and consultation

A. The parent or guardian should be encouraged to be a participant on the IEP team and in understanding and making a decision on reclassification.

Criterion Four: Comparison of student performance in basic skills (compared against an empirically established range of performance in basic skills based on the performance of English proficient students of the same age).

- A. The IEP team should specify in the student's IEP an assessment of basic skills to meet the guidelines for reclassification (e.g., the California Alternate Assessment for English language arts). The IEP team may consider using other assessments that are valid and reliable and designed to compare the basic skills of English learners with disabilities to primary speakers of English with similar disabilities to determine whether the English learner with disabilities has sufficiently mastered the basic skills for reclassification consideration.
- B. The CDE cannot make specific recommendations of alternate assessment instruments because it is the responsibility of the IEP team to gather pertinent information regarding the student and assessment needs specific to that student. The IEP team may use this comprehensive approach to make decisions regarding program supports and reclassification that will allow the student to make maximum progress, given the student's capacities.

The CDE has provided guidance to LEAs for using Smarter Balanced Summative Assessment results as a local measure of Criterion 4. LEAs also have been advised that local assessments can be used to identify ELs who meet academic measures indicating they are ready to be reclassified. This guidance can be found in "Updated Reclassification Guidance for 2018–19," on the CDE Reclassification web page at: https://www.cde.ca.gov/sp/el/rd/.

CHAPTER VII – INSTRUCTIONAL PLANNING, IEP IMPLEMENTTION, & STUDENT GRADING

Since 1997, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) required that "children with disabilities are included in general education programs, with appropriate accommodations or modifications in administration, if necessary" to the greatest extent possible dependent on the needs of the child. The No Child Left Behind Act also requires that students with disabilities be included in State accountability systems

The information provided here is to serve as guidance for best practices in selecting, administering, and evaluating access via universal tools, designated supports, adaptations, accommodations and/or modifications in instruction and assessment.

Included in this section are guidelines in the following areas:

- A. Common Core State Standards;
- B. IEP Guidelines, Accommodations, and Assessment;
- C. Grades, Report Cards and Transcripts for Students with Disabilities.

SECTION I – COMMON CORE STATE STANDARDS AND STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES

All students are included in the current focus on standards, assessment and accountability and the push to ensure equal access to grade level content standards. California adopted the Common Core State Standards (CCSS) for English Language Arts (ELA) and Math as the framework for grade level academic expectations. The CCSS articulate rigorous grade-level expectations in the areas of ELA and Math. The goal of the CCSS is develop a set of shared national standards ensuring that students in every state are held to the same level of expectations that students in the world's highest-performing countries are, and that they gain the knowledge and skills that will prepare them for success in postsecondary education as well as global workforce.

To assist students to be college and career ready, the CCSS has anchor standards for both ELA and Math.

The anchor standards for ELA focus on:

- A. Demonstrating independence
- B. Building strong content knowledge
- C. Responding to the varying demands of audience
- D. Task, purpose, and discipline
- E. Comprehending as well as critiquing
- F. Value evidence
- G. Using technology and digital media strategically and capably and,
- H. Coming to understanding about other perspectives and cultures

The anchor standards for Math focus on:

A. Being academically prepared to solve problems involving the major content with connections to the mathematical practice

- B. Solving problems involving the additional and supporting content with connections to the mathematical practices
- C. Expressing mathematical reasoning by constructing mathematical arguments and critiques
- D. Solving real world problems and
- E. Engaging, particularly in modeling practice.

Content Standards

It is important to recognize that today's education system is driven by standards, assessment, and accountability measures such as promotion and retention criteria. These principles and practices apply to all students, including students with disabilities.

Content standards were designed to encourage the highest achievement of every student, by defining the knowledge, concepts, and skills that students should acquire at each grade level.

The content standards adopted by the California State Board of Education (SBE) include:

- Common Core State Standards for English Language Arts, Adopted August 2010 (PDF;2MB) (Modified March 2013 Publication Version)
- California Common Core State Standards for Mathematics, Adopted August 2010 and Modified January 2013 (DOC; 6MB) (April 2014 Version)
- English Language Development, 2012 (Updated 2019)
- Career Technical Education (Updated January 2013 Prepublication Version)
- Health Education Content Standards March 2008 (PDF; 1MB)
- History-Social Science, Adopted October 1998 (PDF)
- Model School Library Standards, Adopted September 2010 (PDF; 1MB)
- Physical Education Model Content Standards, Adopted Jan-2005 (PDF; 2MB)
- Science Adopted, September 2013 Visual and Performing Arts, Adopted January 2001(PDF; 2MB)
- World Language, Adopted January 2009 (PDF; 4MB)

Each local Board of Education has adopted standards matching or aligned with the state standards. The SBE has also adopted instructional materials designed to cover the core and ELD curriculum standards. The local boards have authority to decide the instructional materials to be utilized in each content area and/or program and generally adopt the SBE approved materials along with supplementary or alternate instructional materials. In addition, the local Board of Education must establish policies and procedures related to the promotion and retention of students.

Universal Design for Learning

The California Department of Education's (CDE) Common Core State Standards Systems Implementation Plan for California (2013), states,

Fundamental to California's concept of successful instruction is the assurance of universal access for all students – which means that all students must have meaningful access to the content in order to achieve their own highest potential. The CDE continues to strive to ensure that instructional resources, including those that are developed to support student attainment of the CCSS, are designed to meet the many different needs of California's diverse student population, including gifted students, adult students, English learners, migrant students, and students with disabilities as well as students with disabilities who are English learners.

The Common Core State Standards for English Language Arts (2013) further states,

the Common Core State Standards should also be read as allowing the widest possible range of students to participate fully from the outset and as permitting appropriate accommodations to ensure maximum participation by students with special education needs. For example, for students with disabilities reading should allow for the use of Braille, screen-reader technology, or other assistive devices, while writing should include the use of a scribe, computer, or speech-to-text technology. In a similar vein, speaking and listening should be interpreted broadly to include the use of sign language.

Provision of Additional Supports and Services for Students with Disabilities

Students with disabilities are a heterogeneous group with one common characteristic: the presence of disabling conditions that significantly hinder their abilities to benefit from general education (IDEA 34 CFR §300.39, 2004). Therefore, *how* these high standards are taught and assessed is of the utmost importance in reaching this diverse group of students (National Center on Educational Outcomes, 2012). The common core initiative does not address the specifics of writing an individualized education plan (IEP), but the expectation is that students with disabilities are challenged to excel within the general curriculum and be prepared for success in their post-school lives, including college and/or careers.

Promoting a culture of high expectations for all students is a fundamental goal of the CCSS. In order to participate with success in the general curriculum, students with disabilities may be provided additional supports and services as appropriate. These may include instructional supports for learning based on the principles of Universal Design for Learning, which fosters student engagement by presenting information in multiple ways and allowing for diverse avenues of action and expression. Instructional accommodations can change materials or procedures that do not change the standard but allow students to learn within the framework of the Common Core. Assistive technology devices and services may also be needed to ensure access to the general education curriculum and CCSS (CDE, November 2013).

Some students with the most significant cognitive disabilities may require substantial supports and accommodations to have meaningful access to certain standards in both instruction and assessment based on their communication and academic needs. These supports should ensure that students receive access to multiple means of learning and opportunities to demonstrate knowledge while also retaining the rigor and high expectations of the CCSS (CDE, November 2013).

The inclusion of all students in statewide assessment and accountability systems is not merely a legal obligation; it is a mechanism for ensuring that all students, including those with disabilities, are included in the general education curriculum. Federal and state laws stress the importance of documenting accommodations and/or modifications for instruction and assessment in the student's IEP as noted below:

- A. Supports and related services designed to meet the unique needs of these students and to enable their access to the general education curriculum
- B. An Individualized Education Program (IEP), which includes annual goals aligned with and chosen to facilitate their attainment of grade-level academic standards

C. Teachers and specialized instructional support personnel who are prepared and qualified to deliver high quality, evidence-based, individualized instruction and support services

Supports for one student may not necessarily be the same in all situations and/or content areas. By providing multi-level instruction teachers will find that adapting a lesson may not always be necessary. Differentiating instruction and providing multiple ways to assess allows more flexibility for students to meet the standards and requirements of the class. It is critical that students have opportunities to practice utilizing the strategies selected for assessments within their regular instructional program.

The Council of Chief School Officers (CCSSO) developed a five-step process to guide users in selecting, administering, and evaluating accommodations for instruction and assessment.

The following steps were adopted by the California Department of Education (CDE) and are listed below.

- A. Expect students with disabilities to achieve grade level academic content standards
- B. Learn about accommodations for instruction and assessment
- C. Select accommodations for instruction and assessment
- D. Administer accommodations during instruction and assessment
- E. Evaluate and improve use of accommodations

Only universal tools, designated supports, adaptations, accommodations, and/or modifications (herein referred to as "accommodations") that have been proven to be successful for a specific student should be written into the student's IEP. Rather than selecting items from a generic list, team members need to carefully consider and evaluate the effectiveness of the "accommodations."

The CDE Accommodations Guide showcases the seven-step model for selecting what to try for instruction.

- 1. Identify Classroom Demands: This involves analyzing the content being taught, how it is being presented, and how students are expected to respond. Other factors to consider are the physical setting, social demands, level of sustained attention required, and prerequisite skills.
- 2. Note Student Strengths and Needs: It is important to know the common characteristics of the student's disability and their effect on learning. Equally important is a student's unique profile of interests, strengths and needs.
- 3. Check Potential Areas of Student Success: Predict which tasks or portions of a task the student will be able to succeed on without adaptations. Teams should avoid over- accommodating or providing unnecessary accommodations.
- 4. Look for Potential Problem Areas: Given knowledge about the student and the demands of the tasks, each potential problem area should be listed.
- 5. Use Information to Brainstorm Accommodations: At this point IEP team members use the information they have gathered to brainstorm appropriate accommodations.
- 6. *Decide Which Accommodations to Implement*: Decide on strategies to be used on a trial basis. Teach the student, and possibly the staff member too, on how to use the accommodation strategies.
- 7. Evaluate Student Progress: Evaluate student progress while using the accommodations to see if it makes a difference in student performance. If yes, then consider writing it into the IEP.

Once appropriate "accommodations" have been identified and confirmed as effective in mitigating the effects of the student's disability, staff members need to ensure that they are being administered correctly. This role typically falls to the case manager. First, the case manager needs to know that the student knows how to use the accommodation effectively.

This may require instruction, practice, and monitoring. Secondly, staff members working with the student need to understand the purpose and appropriate way to provide the "accommodations" and any specific personalization the student needs. Thirdly, there needs to be accountability that the accommodation is being implemented with fidelity and consistency. This can transpire via ongoing communication and collaboration among team members.

SECTION II - IEP GUIDELINES, ACCOMMODATIONS, AND ASSESSMENT

IEP Guidelines

The provision for accommodations and modifications is addressed in several places throughout the IEP. The IEP teams are required to address the areas listed below.

A. Supports for Participation in General Education Activities. Identify the supports a student will need to participate in general education activities.

Standards-Based Promotion. Describe the instructional accommodations or modifications a student will need in order to progress in grade-level content curriculum. These must be explicitly described and related to the areas of weakness described in the present level of performance.

- A. Describe the instructional accommodations or modifications a student will need to participate in State and District-wide assessments. Recommended accommodations or modifications must be allowable by the State and used in daily instruction. The testing matrix (see web address) will assist in identifying allowable accommodations and modifications.
- B. Check the curriculum in which the student will be participating.
 - 1. District curriculum for his/her grade level.
 - 2. District general education curriculum using accommodations/modifications.

Subsequent to the IEP meeting, information regarding the designated accommodations and modifications selected for the student must be provided to all personnel working with the student.

- A. Does the disability impact the student's ability to meet District grade level standards? If yes, discuss how the student's disability affects the student's learning and how this influences the student in meeting promotion standards. For example, a student who has difficulty with visual processing will have to be taught alternative strategies for mastering reading skills. This may impact the materials used for instruction and the time required for the student to master specific skills.
- B. Is the student expected to meet grade level promotion standards? If the answer is yes, discuss whether the student should participate in a District Intervention Program in order to meet the standards.
- C. What accommodations and/or modifications are necessary to help the student progress in the general curriculum? Accommodations are changes to how the student demonstrates mastery of skills associated with meeting grade level standards. For example, the student is permitted to do fewer math problems or audiotape a report rather than using a word processor or handwriting.

Modifications are changes to the content of instruction. For example, a student might learn the major concepts leading to the Revolutionary War and not be expected to learn the historical facts. Note: The ongoing use of modifications may impact meeting promotion and graduation standards.

A. What accommodations and/or modifications are necessary for a student in grades 7-12 to complete the District's prescribed course of study and to meet or exceed the proficiency standards necessary for graduation?

Accommodations, modifications, or services in non-academic and extra-curricular activities

Non-academic and extra-curricular activities are those activities provided or sponsored by the school or District available to other students in the school. They do not include other community-based activities. Identify the staff who will be responsible for providing the accommodations, modifications or services. In the IEP meeting notes, document a summary of all information considered by the team in making the decision.

Supplementary aids and services and/or supports for student and/or school personnel

Document accommodations and/or modifications that will be needed for the student to progress toward annual goals, participate in the general curriculum, participate in extra- curricular activities and be educated with other students with disabilities and/or with non- disabled students. Remember accommodations do not fundamentally alter or lower expectations or standards in instructional level, content, or performance criteria whereas modifications fundamentally alter or lower expectations on assignment.

Clarification on Difference Between Accommodations and Modifications

For some students with disabilities, the curriculum can be made more accessible through accommodations. An adaptation is an accommodation if the student can demonstrate mastery of the standard on an assessment. The key concept is: Will the student ultimately master the same material but demonstrate that mastery in alternate ways or with alternate supports? If standards are not fundamentally or substantially altered, then this adaptation is an accommodation to a learning or performance difference.

Accommodations

An accommodation is a change in the course, standard, test preparation, location, timing, scheduling, expectation, student response, or other attributes that provides access for a student with a disability to participate in a course, standard or test, and it does not fundamentally alter or lower the standard or expectation of the course, standard or test.

Accommodations are intended to reduce or even eliminate the effects of a student's disability; they do not reduce learning expectations – they provide access. The examples listed below were presented in an archived *Accommodations Guide* provided by the California Department of Education (CDE).

- A. Presentation: Allow students to access information in ways that do not require them to visually read standard print. These alternate modes of access are auditory, multi- sensory, tactile, and manual. For example, a student with a visual impairment may require or may use Braille.
- B. Response: Allow students to complete activities, assignments, and assessments in different ways or to solve or organize problems using some type of assistive device or organizer. For example, a student may require an alternative method of responding, such as using a scribe.

- C. Setting: Change the location in which an assignment or a test is given or the conditions of the assessment setting. For example, a student may need to work separately from the group.
- D. Timing and Scheduling: Increase the typical length of time to complete an assignment or assessment and perhaps change the way the time allotted is organized. For example, student may take as long as reasonably needed to complete an assessment, including taking portions over several days.

Modifications

An adaptation is a modification if the student will not demonstrate mastery of the standard on an assessment. If routinely utilized, these adaptations are modifications and require individualized goals and assessment. In contrast to the above, a modification is a change in the course, standard, test preparation, location, timing, scheduling, expectation, student response, or other attribute that provides access for a student with a disability to participate but fundamentally alters or lowers the standards or expectations.

Some examples of modifications to support access to core curriculum are listed below:

- A. Out of grade reading level
- B. Special projects in lieu of assignments
- C. Test items read aloud for entire test
- D. Calculator/multiplication table
- E. Dictations/spell check/grammar check
- F. Accept simplified sentence and paragraph construction
- G. Extend practice time and number of practice opportunities
- H. Accept simplified sentence and paragraph construction
- I. Extend practice time and number of practice opportunities
- J. Accept content drawing in place of written response
- K. Accept that some activities will have different levels of completion
- L. Allow student to type or write from pre-written text
- M. Provide taped books with simplified curriculum context
- N. Allow students to substitute written responses by using CD for creative writing, talking reports and talking journal entries
- O. Use matching techniques instead of written responses
- P. Provide homework and/or worksheets at appropriate grade level
- Q. Provide manipulative in place or worksheet activities file folder games, spelling cubes, etc.
- R. Use picture cards to support text comprehension
- S. Allow students to view video based on written works

In the CDE archived Accommodations Guide, it was noted that using modification may result in implications that could adversely affect students throughout their educational careers. Modifications can increase the gap between achievement of students with disabilities and expectations for proficiency at a particular grade level. Provision of

modifications may have the unintended consequence of reducing students' opportunities to learn critical content. If students have not had access to critical, assessed content, they may be at risk for not meeting graduation requirements.

A modified program has learning outcomes, which are substantially different from the prescribed curriculum, and specifically selected to meet the student's special needs. For example, a student in Grade 9 in a modified math program might be focused on functional computational skills in the context of handling money and personal budgeting. Or in Language Arts, a student in Grade 5 may be working on recognition of common signs and use of the phone. In these examples, the learning outcomes are substantially different from those of the curriculum for most other students.

Any decisions to create a modified program for a student need to be done in consultation with IEP team members, including the parent and administrator, in order to follow a procedure that prevents problematic implications. It is crucial to address how and why the decision was made to place the student in question on a modified program. For example, when the gap in achievement becomes so great that the student cannot catch up (if the student has the cognitive capability but lacks some skills), the IEP team may recommend that the student participate in classes to best fit their specific need(s). Such classes are based on standards but may not have the same breadth or depth as general education courses.

SECTION III – STATEWIDE PUPIL ASSESSMENT SYSTEM

Signed into law on October 2, 2013, Assembly Bill (AB) 484 established California's new student assessment system, now known as the California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress (CAASPP). The CAASPP assessment system replaced the Standardized Testing and Reporting (STAR) Program, which became inoperative on July 1, 2013.

Smarter Balanced is a Consortium that works with teams of national experts to develop a balanced assessment system that accurately measures student progress and growth toward college and career readiness. The Students with Disabilities Advisory Committee is comprised of national experts in learning disabilities, assistive technology, and accessibility and accommodations policy. This committee provides feedback to Smarter Balanced staff, work groups, and contractors to ensure that the statewide assessments provide valid, reliable, and fair measures of achievement and growth for students with disabilities.

The statewide assessment system is designed to capture the data needed for individual, school and district based annual reports on meeting the standards and assessment targets. The system provides for the provision of variations, accommodations, and modifications to meet the needs of students in general education, on a Section 504 Accommodation Plan, and/or on an IEP. This will be addressed further in this document.

Statewide Assessments

The California Department of Education (CDE) has a clear vision and commitment to establishing innovative assessments. These assessments include a variety of approaches and item types that model and promote high-quality teaching and student learning and set a course to ensure that all California students are well prepared to enter college and careers in today's competitive global economy.

- California Assessment of Student Performance and Progress (CAASPP). California's new statewide student assessment system established January 1, 2014.
- Smarter Balanced Assessment System. Latest information about new generation of English language arts/literacy and mathematics assessments

- English Language Proficiency Assessment of California (ELPAC). A required state test for English language proficiency that is given to students whose primary language is other than English, formerly CELDT.
- California High School Exit Examination (CAHSEE). Beginning with the Class of 2006, all public school students were required to pass the CAHSEE to earn a high school diploma. Senate Bill 172, signed into law effective January 1, 2016, suspended the CAHSEE diploma requirement and the administration of the CAHSEE through the 2017-18 school year.
- California High School Proficiency Examination (CHSPE). A test for eligible students to earn a high school proficiency certificate.
- **Grade Two Diagnostic Assessments.** Information about diagnostic assessments for students in grade two in English language arts/literacy and mathematics that meet the requirements of California Education Code Section 60644.
- **High School Equivalency Tests (HSET).** High school equivalency tests for students 18 years old and older, and 17 years old in some instances, for the purpose of receiving a California High School Equivalency Certificate.
- National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP). Tests administered to students in grades four, eight, and twelve in subjects such as reading, writing, mathematics, and science.
- **Physical Fitness Testing (PFT).** A physical fitness test (FITNESSGRAM®) administered to students in grades five, seven, and nine.

Matrix One: Universal Tools, Designated Supports, and Accommodations

The California Department of Education (CDE) has recently updated its testing and accountability website for Matrix One: CAASPP at: https://www.cde.ca.gov/ta/tg/ai/caasppmatrix1.asp

California Alternate Assessments

Most universal tools, designated supports, and accommodations listed in Parts 1 and 2 of the CAASPP Matrix are available for the CAAs for ELA and mathematics through the online testing interface, but because the CAAs are administered to students one-on-one by a test examiner and because they may also be administered in the language of instruction, some embedded resources are not provided. For the CAA science pilot, due to the design, any instructional supports used in daily instruction may be used for the embedded performance tasks.

Embedded resources NOT available for CAA:

- American Sign Language videos (test examiner is allowed to sign to the student as the language of instruction.)
- Braille (either by means of an embosser or a refreshable display)
- Closed captioning
- English dictionary Spanish stacked translation and test directions
- Text-to-speech
- Translation glossaries

The "language of instruction" may include instructional or physical supports needed for communication and instruction. Some test practices (e.g., hand-over-hand), as noted in the Test Administration Manual, are inappropriate and not allowed. Examples of permissible non- embedded instructional and physical supports are provided below.

Examples of Instructional Supports

- Alternate text to describe illustrations, as needed
- Allowing the student to use an augmentative communication devise (e.g., Audiovox, switch)
- Allowing nonverbal students to respond with gestures, movements, or vocalization in place of speech
- Accepting eye gaze as a way of indicating a response
- Accepting a change in muscle tone or a change in facial expression as an observed behavior
- Allowing students to direct another person (aide or test examiner) in performing physical tasks
- Allowing use of the student's calculator, 100s number table, or other instructional supports instead of the embedded supports provided through the testing platform as long as those supports do not impact the test construct
- Examples of Physical Supports
- Structuring the test environment to eliminate distractions for students who are particularly distractible
- Positioning and stabilizing the student to allow for the most controlled movement possible

SECTION IV – GRADES, REPORT CARDS, AND TRANSCRIPTS FOR STUDENTS WITH DISABILITIES

Grading Options for Students with Mild to Moderate Disabilities

Two of the key mandates of the IDEA are that IEP teams are required to make an offer for a free appropriate public education (FAPE) in the least restrictive environment (LRE) for each child with an identified disability. Such decisions have to be individualized based on the unique needs of the child. What makes this a challenge is that there are thirteen different identified disability areas, there are spectrums of disability within the majority of these, and some children are identified with more than one disability. This section addresses the options and key considerations for grading students with mild to moderate disabilities.

Grading Accommodations and Modifications

A student's grade should not reflect that accommodations have been made. However, a student's grade may reflect that modifications have been made for that student to access the general education curriculum. If modifications have been made to the curriculum of any course, it is important that the student's grade reflect the student's achievement in the modified curriculum, as long as modified grades are available to all students. Similarly, a student with disabilities may be given a pass/fail grade as long as participation in this grading system is voluntary and is available to all students. In each case, any modifications to programming, instruction, and grading must be documented in the student's IEP and be directly related to the student's disability. School districts cannot modify grades on the basis of the student's special education status. *To automatically give modified grades to all special education students would be discriminatory and potentially violate Section 504 of the Rehabilitation*

Act of 1973. For example, to state that a student cannot get a grade above a "C" because he/she is in special education is illegal.

Report Cards

Report cards are provided to parents to indicate their child's progress or level of achievement in specific classes, course content, or curriculum. Given this purpose, it is permissible under Section 504 and Title II nondiscriminatory regulations for a report card to indicate that a student is receiving special education or related services. A report card for a student with a disability may refer to an IEP or a Section 504 plan in order to report on the student's progress on the specific goals in the IEP or Section 504 plan. However, the mere designation of an IEP or plan, without any meaningful explanation of a student's progress, such as a grade or other evaluative standard established by the LEA, would be inconsistent with IDEA, Section 504 and Title II requirements. *The LEA must provide students with disabilities report cards that are as informative and effective as the report cards provided for students without disabilities. So, there are basically two options available: a report card aligned to grade level standards or one aligned with alternate curriculum standards.*

Grading procedures should be developed that apply to all students, including students with a wide range of disabilities. Grades earned by students with disabilities cannot categorically be disregarded or excluded, even if earned with the support of special education services.

Alternate grading systems may be appropriate, if they are available to all students, not just those with disabilities. For example, if a school district wishes to establish standards for eligibility for class ranking or honors, it may do so, as long as it does not arbitrarily discount or exclude grades earned by students with disabilities. One method for doing this is to develop and implement an uncomplicated system of weighted grades. Another possibility is to establish a list of "A-G level courses" which must be completed in order to be eligible for honors, class ranking or participation in certain activities. A school district may not implement a weighted grading system that arbitrarily assigns lower grade weights to all special education courses. Each subject or course must be analyzed separately and assigned a degree of difficulty factor based on its individual contents.

Report Cards Aligned with Grade Level Standards

A report card for a student with a disability can distinguish between special education programs and services and general education curriculum classes as is done with other types of programs and classes (e.g., advanced placement, honor, or remedial classes). A collaborative grading effort between two or more educators is entirely appropriate in circumstances where a student with a disability is in a general education classroom, however it should be discussed in the IEP. The IEP team for a student with a disability who receives special education accommodations in a general education classroom should document any grading accommodations or modifications that may apply, particularly with respect to subjects completed in a general education setting. A symbol or code may be used on a student's report card to indicate that the student has had a modified curriculum in the general education classroom since accommodations do not generally affect course content or curriculum. However, this type of coding should not be used solely for students with disabilities.

Educational standards describe what students should know and be able to do in each subject in each grade. In California, the State Board of Education decides on the standards for all students, from kindergarten through high school. Since 2010, 45 states have adopted the same standards for English and math. These standards are called the Common Core State Standards (CCSS). Having the same standards helps all students get a good education, even if they change schools or move to a different state. Teachers, parents, and education experts designed the standards to prepare students for success in college and the workplace. For details regarding the CCSS for all

students visit the main CCSS Web page. This site offers resources and guidelines on what the CCSS and the new tests will mean for California students in the special education community.

An IEP team may determine how students may best access the Common Core State Standards (CCSS) and when a student should be placed in an alternate curriculum for a specific content area. When a student struggles to meet even the essential grade level standards, at this point the IEP team may decide that the student is no longer performing at grade level standards and should receive a designation on their reporting document that reflects that the student should now receive a modified curriculum and modified grades.

Section 504 and Title II generally require that students with and without disabilities in the same regular education classes in the general education curriculum be graded using the same standards. A student that is unable to meet even partial components of the grade level standards should be provided with curriculum allowing them to progress through below grade level standards beginning at the appropriate grade equivalency. To the extent that a student with a disability is not participating in regular education classes but is receiving modified course content or is being taught under a modified or alternate curriculum, it would be up to the SELPA and/or LEA to determine the standards to be used to measure the student's progress or level of achievement.

IEP Progress Reports

Learners should be graded on their work performance and progress toward individualized goals for each progress reporting period. The SELPA adopted WebIEP which is a web-based IEP system that provides a mechanism for teachers and other case managers to create reports on progress toward achieving IEP goals. Staff members can refer to the <u>WebIEP website</u> and/or manual for how to complete this process.

Education Code 56345(3) requires that IEP progress reports be provided concurrent with the issuance of report cards [CFR §300.320(a)(3)]. Such requirements are driven by local education agency report card policies. Therefore, it is recommended that special education personnel check with their district on these timelines.

Transcripts

The purpose of the transcript is to present an accurate picture of a student's coursework [academic credentials and achievement]. Special notations, including asterisks or other symbols may not appear on a transcript for a student with a disability who received accommodations in general education curriculum classes. Classes may not be identified as special education classes on high school transcripts to indicate the student has had a modified curriculum in a general class. It is much better to use terms such as "basic, level 1, practical, etc." Other permissible transcript "labeling" or designations used may be used if these terms are also used in other courses besides special education. It would be a violation of Section 504 and Title II for a student's transcript to indicate that a student has received special education or a related service, or that the student has a disability.

Modifications or exceptions to the grading scale may be identified on the academic transcript as long as grades and courses of all students, and not just students with disabilities, are similarly treated. For example, a transcript for a student with a disability may indicate receipt of a certificate of attendance or a similar document, rather than a regular diploma under certain circumstances. The school district should take steps to notify each student of what his or her academic transcript contains in the way of such modification notations, if any, before releasing it to another party.

Best Grading Practices for Learners with Mild to Moderate Disabilities

The Council for Exceptional Children (CEC) has identified the following grading practices as generally helpful for learners with disabilities.

- A. Base report card grades on how well the learner performed on the work assigned, even when that work was at a lower grade level.
- B. Do not penalize a student with a lower grade because he or she was not assigned grade- level work.
- C. Make sure all stakeholders understand what level of work was completed to earn a report card grade.
- D. Avoid using the threat of a low grade as leverage for improving behavior. Grades should never be used in a coercive manner and learners with a history of low or failing grades typically do not respond to such threats.
- E. Reduce use of zeros for late or missing work as they have a disproportionate effect on overall grades and can undermine a student's motivation. Provide opportunities for full or partial credit for late work.
- F. Be aware of legal guidance on what can be indicated on a report card versus a transcript.
- G. Avoid giving a passing or higher grade based on the belief that learners with disabilities "deserve a break" because the general curriculum is so difficult. This strategy fails both the learner and the school team in that neither is accountable for their roles in the learner's outcomes for the marking period.
- H. React quickly to low grades and involve the learner and parents in finding a solution. A recommended process involves:
 - 1. Pinpointing assignments producing low grades;
 - 2. Determining when and why the learner is struggling with the assignments;
 - 3. Determining if additional accommodations or supports are appropriate; and,
 - 4. Determining if the learner would benefit from change to lower-level work or alternative elements that may improve performance without lowering expectations.

Grading Options for Students with Moderate to Severe Disabilities Included in General Education Classrooms

The IEP team may determine that a student with moderate to severe disabilities is appropriate to be included in one or more general education classrooms. All members of the IEP team who work directly with the student typically share the responsibility for placing, monitoring, and reporting on a student's progress.

Progress Monitoring

Progress monitoring needs to be conducted on all IEP goals and objectives. It is the case manager's responsibility to ensure that data collection is ongoing and that progress is reported to the parents in a timely manner. The case carrier may need to ask the general education teacher, related service provider, and/or paraprofessional working with the student to assist in collecting information. Data may be collected via teacher-made tests; district approved assessment tools, observations, and/or individualized data collection sheets.

Grading Practices

Whether or not an "inclusion student" receives grades is an IEP team decision. If the student will be graded then the team must determine the most appropriate method of grading the student – both on individual assignments and as an overall grade for the course. The team must also decide and document on the IEP if the student will be graded on regular or modified curriculum. Modified curriculum may include partial, out-of-level, substitute, and/or functional skills curriculum.

Individual Class Assignments

Once the IEP team determines what and/or how much content the inclusion student is expected to learn, the team can then make decisions about the method of grading class work. A letter grade could be given for modified assignments to reflect actual achievement. Class work can be graded pass-fail. Another option is to give one grade for effort and another for content. Teachers can agree to changes in weighing the various types of assignments (e.g., tests versus homework). Team members can agree that the student is being included for other than academic purposes and the general education teacher only need put a check mark or star on the page to show that the student attempted the work or a stamp indicating work was completed with help. Student work can be maintained in a portfolio to be appraised by the team members to establish a grade.

Course Grades

Students educated in an inclusive setting may have a modified grading system if noted on their IEP. Such decisions must be made on an individualized case-by-case basis.

Parents should be advised of the consequences of the grading decisions made by the team (e.g., reduction in number of credits). Some examples include:

- A. Regular Grades: Unless noted on the student's IEP, the student is presumed to be assessed and graded as per the school or district policies. Accommodations that do not substantially alter the standards or expectations of the course can be applied but the student is graded by the same criteria as all other students. This may be appropriate in electives like art or choir.
- B. Modified Curriculum: When course content is substantially modified, the student may be graded on his or her achievement in the modified curriculum and this would be reflected in the report card. In high school the student may not receive credit for the courses toward graduation requirements.
- C. No Grade: An inclusion student may be enrolled in a general education class for reasons other than mastery of course content (e.g., social skills, communication) and receive no grade if so indicated in the IEP.
- D. Credit/No Credit or Pass/Fail: An included student who is not expected to master the entire course requirements may be graded credit/no credit or pass/fail. In such cases the general education teacher would need to establish the minimum requirements that would reflect a passing grade for all students. If the student meets the minimum number of standards, he or she would pass or get credit for the course.
- E. Alternate Report Card: If an alternate report card is developed by the local education agency it might be appropriate for use with students who are included in general education but working far below academic grade level.
- F. Written Progress Report: A Progress toward IEP Goals Report may replace the standard report card.

CHAPTER VIII – EARLY CHILDHOOD SPECIAL EDUCATION

SECTION I – POLCIES AND PROCEDURES BIRTH THROUGH AGE THREE

Purpose

The purpose of this section of the manual is to provide supplementary guidance to staff involved in the identification and education of children with disabilities, aged birth to three. Unless addressed in this document, all other District policies and procedures regarding the education of students with disabilities are to be followed.

Search and Serve

California Education Code Section (EC §) 56300 reads,

56300. A local educational agency shall actively and systematically seek out all individuals with exceptional needs, from birth to 21 years of age, inclusive, including children not enrolled in public school programs, who reside in a school district or are under the jurisdiction of a special education local plan area or a county office of education.

All referrals must be made in writing. When a verbal referral is made, educational staff shall offer assistance to the individual in making a request in writing and shall assist the individual if the individual requests such assistance. (California Code of Regulations [CCR], Title 5, 3021 (a))

There is a need to provide appropriate early intervention services, individually designed for infants and toddlers from birth through three years of age, who have disabilities or are at risk of having disabilities, to enhance their development and to minimize the potential for developmental delays (GC 95001). Regional Centers and local educational agencies (LEAs) shall conduct child-find activities to locate all infants and toddlers who may be eligible for early intervention services (CCR 52040(a)).

Each special education local plan area (SELPA) submitting a local plan to the State Superintendent must have in effect policies, procedures, and programs relating to child-find and referral. (EC §56205) Each district, the county office, or the SELPA shall actively and systematically seek out all individuals with exceptional needs, aged birth through 21 years.

The East Valley SELPA coordinates local child find activities including, but not limited to, outreach efforts to hospitals, physicians, childcare programs, public health facilities, other social service agencies and other health care providers. East Valley SELPA agreed to include information about Early Start in its annual child find public notices.

Infant/Early Start

This section provides information on initial referral and intake procedures for infants, determining eligibility, the Individualized Family Service Plan, service delivery models, and protections provided under procedural safeguards.

- A. Initial Referral and Intake Procedures
 - The State Department of Developmental Services (DDS) is the lead agency responsible for administration and coordination of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Part C grants. Regional Centers are the venue by which DDS fulfills this responsibility. There is an Early Start Interagency Agreement developed with the East Valley SELPA for sharing some responsibilities

with Inland Regional Center. The East Valley SELPA is responsible for the provision of Early Start services for children with a primary focus on children with solely low incidence disabilities (i.e., deaf, blind, deaf- blind, orthopedic impairment, and visual impairment).

- 2. Anyone who has a concern about an infant's growth or development may make a referral to East Valley SELPA. In the East Valley SELPA, the San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools (SBCSS) East Valley Operations Early Start team is responsible for providing evaluations and special education services to infants with solely low incidence disabilities as is Redlands Unified School Districts for infants and toddlers residing within the Redlands USD school boundaries. A child with a potential disability other than low incidence will be referred to the Inland Regional Center (IRC). If the Inland Regional Center receives a referral for a student with a low incidence disability, the information will be provided to the San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools or Redlands USD depending on the parent's residence.
- 3. Once a referral is accepted, the parent or guardian will be contacted to set up the initial intake interview. This interview consists of basic questions regarding the child's health, developmental history, diagnosis, if any, strengths, weaknesses, and needs. Discussion of the family's needs and concerns also occurs at this time. Necessary parental consent forms will be processed in a timely manner. The assessment team will assess the child in the familiar surroundings, such as the home, whenever possible. The evaluation will be completed within 45 days of receiving the referral.

Determining Eligibility

- 4. The SBCSS and Redlands USD Early Start staff will complete the evaluation, determine need for services via development of an Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP), and provide services for infants. All infants or toddlers potentially eligible for any Regional Center program will enter through a single point of entry at the Regional Center to determine eligibility for services.
- 5. The Regional Center shall determine the assessment tools it will use for determination of eligibility. The results of the testing will determine eligibility of the child for the program. A child being considered for Early Start services available through Regional Center will need to be evaluated in all five developmental areas (cognitive, physical, communication, social/emotional, and adaptive/self-help skills). The Regional Center has different eligibility criteria based on the age of the child:
 - a. For a child 23 months and younger, the developmental delay has to occur in at least one of the five developmental areas at 33% or greater. If a child is found eligible for Early Start prior to 24 months, he/she does not have to meet the new criteria.
 - b. For a child 24-36 months of age, a child must demonstrate a 50% delay in one area or 33% delay in two areas of development.

State - 17 CCR Title 17, Public Health, Division 2, Chapter 2, Article 2 - Evaluation and Assessment

52082 - Procedures for Evaluation and Assessment to Determine Eligibility for Infant/Early Start Services

- (a) The determination of eligibility for an infant or toddler shall be made with the participation of the multidisciplinary team including the parent.
- (b) Evaluation and assessment shall be based on informed clinical opinion and include:

(1) A review of pertinent records related to the infant or toddler's health status and medical history provided by qualified health professionals who have evaluated or assessed the infant or toddler;

- (2) Information obtained from parental observation and report; and,
- (3) Evaluation by qualified personnel of the infant's or toddler's level of functioning in each of the following areas:
 - (A) Cognitive development;
 - (B) Physical and motor development, including vision and hearing;
 - (C) Communication development;
 - (D) Social or emotional development; and,
 - (E) Adaptive development.
- (c) No single procedure shall be used as the sole criterion for determining an infant's or toddler's eligibility.

(d) Standardized tests or instruments may be used as part of the evaluation specified in 52082(b) above, and, if used, they shall:

(1) Be selected to ensure that, when administered to an infant or toddler with impaired sensory, motor or speaking skills, the tests produce results that accurately reflect the infant's or toddler's aptitude, developmental level, or any other factors the test purports to measure and not the infant's or toddler's impaired sensory, motor or speaking skills unless those skills are the factors the test purports to measure;

(2) Be validated for the specific purpose for which they are used.

(e) If standardized, normed or criterion referenced instruments are used as part of the evaluation specified in 52082(b) above, a significant difference between an infant's or toddler's current level of functioning and the expected level of development for his or her age shall be established when an infant's or toddler's age equivalent score falls one third below age expectation.

- (f) Procedures and materials for evaluation and assessment of infants and toddlers shall be selected and administered so as not to be racially or culturally discriminatory.
- (g) Infants or toddlers with solely low incidence disabilities shall be evaluated and assessed by qualified personnel of the LEA whose professional preparation, license or credential authorization are specific to the suspected disability.
- (h) Regional centers, LEAs and multidisciplinary teams shall not presume or determine eligibility, including eligibility for medical services provided through the Department of Health Services, for any other state or local government program or service when conducting evaluations or assessments of an infant or toddler or their family.

Individual Family Service Plan (IFSP)

- 6. An IFSP documents and guides the early intervention process for the special education service provider and the family with an infant or toddler between the ages of birth and thirty-six months, who has an identified disability or is at-risk of having disabilities. The IFSP is the vehicle through which effective early intervention is designed and implemented for a child identified as eligible for special education services in accordance with Part C of the IDEA.
- 7. Through the IFSP process, family members and service providers will work as a team to plan, implement, and evaluate services tailored to the family's unique concerns, priorities, and resources.

- 8. Developing an IFSP: The IFSP is one of the requirements under Part C, IDEA. It is to be developed after a multidisciplinary team completes an evaluation, which determines that a child is eligible for early intervention services.
- 9. The following are the federal regulations relating to the IFSP process:
 - a. An IFSP must be developed within 45 calendar days after the written referral is received
 - b. Parents shall be fully informed of their rights and with parental consent, a referral to the local family resource network shall be made.
 - c. Once the multidisciplinary team has established eligibility, arrangements for a convenient meeting date, time, and place must be made. A written notice should be given to the family with enough notice to ensure attendance
 - d. The meeting must be conducted in the parents' native language or main mode of communication (if the parents request).
 - e. Meeting participants must include parents, service coordinator, person(s) directly involved with evaluation; and may include other family members, advocates, or persons outside of the family, and persons to be providing services.
 - f. The IFSP is to be developed jointly by the family and the appropriate qualified personnel.
 - g. Review of the IFSP must be conducted annually or more frequently if the parents or service providers request an earlier IFSP and concerns/revisions will be addressed as needed.
- 10. Content of an IFSP: Specific components to be included on the IFSP form are:
 - a. A statement that describes the infant or toddler's present levels of physical development (including vision, hearing, and health status), cognitive development, communication development, social and emotional development, and adaptive development.
 - b. With the concurrence of the family, a statement of the family's resources, concerns and priorities related to meeting the special developmental needs of the eligible infant.
 - c. A statement of the major outcomes expected to be achieved for the infant or toddler and the family where services for the family are related to meeting the special developmental needs of the eligible infant or toddler.
 - d. The criteria, procedures, and timelines used to determine the degree to which progress toward achieving the outcomes is being made and whether modifications or revisions are necessary.
 - e. A statement of the specific early intervention services necessary to meet the unique needs of the infant or toddler as identified through the assessments regarding frequency, intensity, location, duration and the method of services delivery and ways of providing services in the natural environments.
 - f. A statement of the agency responsible for providing the identified services.
 - g. The projected starting date for service delivery and the anticipated duration of the services.
 - h. The title of a service coordinator responsible for the implementation of the plan and coordination with other agencies and persons.

- i. A statement of "other" services that the child or family needs, but are not required under Part C, and the steps that will be taken to secure those services (listing of non-required services does not mean they must be provided).
- j. Starting with the initial visit, and on-going throughout Early Start, the family shall be notified that Early Start services will be provided until the student turns three years of age. The steps to be taken in support of the transition of the toddler to preschool services provided under Part B, or other services as appropriate, shall be discussed and documented.

An excellent resource of online resources and explanation of the early start programs can be found on the department of developmental services website at: <u>https://dds.ca.gov/services/early-start/</u>

Transition from Part C to Part B

- 11. This section provides information about transition from Part C to Part B of the IDEA. This includes transition legal requirements, timelines and responsibilities for transition conference invitation, transition conference, transition plan, notification referral, late referrals, and summer birthdays.
- 12. The purpose of the transition IFSP is to allow the Early Start service coordinator and the school district to work together and share responsibility with ensuring services at age three adhering to regulatory requirements. In order to create a seamless process to support the child and their family transition should be addressed at every IFSP, including the initial meeting. This allows the family to get their questions and concerns addressed in a timely manner. Part of this discussion should include information regarding Early Start services stopping at age three.
 - a. The differences between Part C and Part B
 - i. There are major differences between Part C and Part B special education goals, ages, eligibility criteria, services, plans, location of services, service systems, and cost to families as denoted in the table below.

	Part C	Part B
Goal	To support the family to be able	To support a child's access to
	to support their children	their learning
Ages	Birth – 3 years	3 – 22 years
Eligibility Criteria	Developmental delays and	Eligibility condition that requires
	children at risk	special education
Services	Types and frequency of services	may vary both in Parts B & C
Plans	IFSP	IEP
Location of Services	Natural Environment	Least Restrictive Environment
Service Systems	Multi-agency	Education

Cost to Families	Possible Costs	Free
Cost to Fainines	rossible Costs	Free

b. Transition Procedures

California has determined that ALL children being serviced in Early Start programs are potentially eligible for district special education and related services at the age of three. Therefore, ALL children must be referred to Part B services. The service coordinators are required to make a referral to child's/family's school district of residence with or without the parent's consent. Parents should be informed about the mandatory referral process during transition planning discussions. In the event the family objects to Part B services, they may decline the assessment plan offered by the district.

- i. Transition Conference Invitation: The transition conference will occur no later than 90 days before the child's third birthday. The administrator and/or designee assigned to Early Start will make the arrangements for this meeting. The administrator and/or designee will schedule the meeting, including the time and location on a convenient date for the family and agreed to by the other agencies, including a district representative based on the family's school district of residence.
- ii. Transition Conference IFSP Meeting: The purpose of the transition conference is to plan the activities that will occur prior to the child's third birthday. A transition conference is part of an IFSP meeting so all IFSP requirements must be followed, including a review of information about the child and family current assessment, a review of services, progress toward meeting outcomes, and revision of any outcomes or services as needed. The transition conference must be held no later than 90 days before the child's third birthday or as early as nine months before the third birthday, with agreement of all parties. The IFSP team members who are required to attend the meeting include the parent, service coordinator, district representative, service providers, and family members or others invited by the parent. The transition conference is a good opportunity for the district and the family to begin a positive relationship.
- iii. Written Transition Plan: The written transition plan that is developed during the transition conference IFSP should include the individual steps and services to be taken to support the smooth transition of the child for service delivery models at age of three. The family's concerns and priorities regarding transition should be discussed and documented, as well as any necessary supporting resources required by the child and family.
- iv. Notification Referral: No later than 90 days before the child's third birthday, the administrator and/or designee assigned to Early Start, whether IRC or local educational agency (e.g., Redlands USD or SBCSS), must send a referral to the child's and family's school district of residence. The referral must include the child's name and date of birth, and the parent's contact information, including name, address, and phone number. The referral may also include Early Start coordinators name and contact information and the language spoken by the family. The district must maintain documentation of the written referral and has 15 calendar days to develop an assessment plan or prior written notice to deny assessment.
 - a) With parent consent, the administrator and/or designee may provide additional identifying information about the child and family, such as the current IFSP, current assessments, and other pertinent information about the child.
 - b) The district is required to act on referrals for children who are transitioning from Early Start throughout the year, in order to hold the IEP by the child's third birthday. After receiving the referral and obtaining the parent's consent on the assessment plan, the district is

responsible for conducting an evaluation in all areas of suspected disability. The district should also assess the child's strengths and needs to assist the IEP team to develop goals and determine appropriate services designed to ensure a free and appropriate public education (FAPE). An initial IEP meeting must be scheduled on or before the child's third birthday. The purpose of the IEP meeting is to review the results of the evaluation and assessment information and to determine if the child meets eligibility for special education services under Part B. All required components of the IEP meeting under Part B of IDEA must be met.

- c) Extenuating events/circumstances:
 - Late Referrals
 - In the case a child is referred to Early Start after they are two years six months of age, the initial IFSP will also serve as the transition conference.
 - If the child is referred to Early Start between 45 and 90 days prior to their third birthday, the Early Start service coordinator is required to:
 - (1) Conduct the initial evaluation and assessment.
 - (2) Conduct the initial IFSP meeting, if eligible.
 - (3) Develop a transition plan with appropriate transition steps and services.
 - (4) Refer the child to the LEA representative of the child's district of residence
 - For a child referred to Early Start between one and 44 days prior to the child's third birthday, the Early Start service coordinator may, but is not required to:
 - (1) Conduct the initial evaluation and assessment.
 - (2) Conduct the initial IFSP meeting, if eligible.
 - (3) Develop a transition plan.
 - (4) Provide the LEA representative notification of referral.
 - Early Start is required to make a referral to the district or assist the family in initiating contact with the district. The district's responsibility for a child referred to Early Start less than 90 days prior to their third birthday includes:
 - (1) Ensure that an initial evaluation under Part B is completed.
 - (2) Develop an individualized education program (IEP) by the child's third birthday if the child is determined eligible for Part B, even if the 60-day timeline for assessment expired after the child's third birthday.
 - Summer Birthdays
 - The LEA is responsible for holding an IEP to offer services before the child's third birthday even if the program is not in session; this includes summer breaks, midwinter breaks, and other non-instructional days. The recommendation is to hold the transition conference early enough to ensure that all evaluations and assessments are complete and the final IFSP and initial IEP meetings are held by the child's third birthday. The date to implement the preschool services will be determined during the IEP meeting as part of the Offer of FAPE.

Assessment Standards

For student transitioning from infant services into preschool programs:

- A. Assessment will be conducted by a multidisciplinary team as specified in the Assessment Plan, including an authorized early childhood education specialist that serves students with disabilities. Assessment may include:
- B. A comprehensive developmental history conducted by a credentialed school nurse or other qualified individual (to determine age of onset).
- C. A current psychological assessment conducted by a credentialed school psychologist or other qualified individual
- D. A current language assessment conducted by a Speech-Language Pathologist or other qualified individual
- E. A current play-based assessment conducted by the authorized early childhood education specialist
- F. Previous school history, education progress, and medical reports when applicable
- G. A current fine motor assessment conducted by an Occupational Therapist or other qualified individual
- H. A current gross motor assessment conducted by a Physical Therapist or other qualified individual
- I. A current vision assessment conducted by a Visual Impairment specialist or other qualified individual
- J. A current orientation and mobility assessment conducted by an Orientation and Mobility specialist or other qualified individual

The following is a summary of the transition from Part C to Part B requirements and local practices:

Age of Child	Activity	
At or before:	These activities will be undertaken:	
2 years 6 months	Service coordinator notifies parent(s) that transition planning will begin within the next 3 months and that an IFSP transition plan will be developed before the toddler is 2 years 0 months	
	developed before the toddler is 2 years 9 months. Parent consent is obtained to include an LEA preschool representative for a transition IFSP conference. The service coordinator notifies the LEA that there will be a transition IFSP preschool representative before the toddler is 2 years 9 months. Within 30 days, the family, service coordinator and the LEA agree on a date for the transition IFSP conference.	
2 years 9 months	 Transition IFSP conference is held with service coordinator, parent (s) and, preschool representatives of LEA. When possible, this meeting will be combined with the IFSP at 2 years 6 months. At the transition IFSP conference a projected date for conducting the final review(s) of the IFSP and the initial IEP is set including the identification of the persons responsible for convening the IEP/final IFSP review meeting(s). The date(s) is set collaboratively between the LEA staff, the parent(s) and the SBCSS or IRC service Coordinator. 	

	For students with birthdays between June 1 and August 30, IEPs will be held before June 1. Referrals will be made 60 days prior to June 1.	
	Discussion regarding the need to determine eligibility for an IEP and the requirement that parents provide consent for assessment to the student's district of residence.	
	Steps to prepare the toddler of changes in service delivery, including steps to help the toddler adjust to, and function in a new setting are discussed.	
	Service coordinator reviews transition material with family.	
No less than 90 days	Referral and notification of children receiving Early Start Part C	
prior to the third	Services is completed by appropriate LEA provider, and with parent	
birthday	consent includes all pertinent medical and Early Start records. LEAs	
	have 15 days to develop the assessment plan.	
2 years 11 months	Prepare for IEP meeting	
	Eligibility review for continued FNRC services takes place if appropriate.	
	At least 10 days prior to the IEP the LEA confirms the date of the IEP meeting with IRC. When possible, this meeting may be combined with the exit IFSP review. At times, the IEP meeting date may be tentatively set at the transition IFSP.	
By the child's 3 rd birthday	IEP and final IFSP meetings are held.	
2	Note: If the initial IEP meeting is also the final IFSP meeting, adequate	
	time must be given at the IEP meeting to review progress in achieving	
	IFSP outcomes before initiating discussion of the IEP.	
Between the ages of	Early Start administrator and/or designee will notify the parents that a	
24 and 30 months	transition conference will occur no later than 90 days before the child's	
	third birthday. The conference may occur up to nine months before the abild's third birthday, at the discretion of all parties. The family should	
	child's third birthday, at the discretion of all parties. The family should be advised that the school district representative will be invited to	
	attend the transition conference and that this meeting is part of a formal	
	IFSP meeting as well.	

SECTION II – POLICIES AND PROCEDURES PRESCHOOL THROUGH KINDERGARTEN

Purpose

The purpose of this document is to provide supplementary guidance to staff involved in the identification and education of children with disabilities, ages three to five. Unless addressed in this document, all other District policies and procedures regarding the education of students with disabilities are to be followed.

Search and Serve Policy

Each special education local plan area (SELPA) submitting a local plan to the superintendent must have in effect policies, procedures, and programs relating to child find and referral (CA Education Code [EC] § 56205). Each district, county office, or SELPA shall actively and systematically seek out all individuals with exceptional needs, birth through 21 years, including children ages three to five.

Individuals with exceptional needs between the ages of three and five years, inclusive, who are identified by the District as requiring special education and services, shall be eligible for preschool special education services.

A child is not eligible for special education and services if the child does not otherwise meet the eligibility criteria and his or her educational needs are due primarily to:

- Unfamiliarity with the English language;
- Temporary physical disability;
- Social maladjustment; and,
- Environmental, cultural, or economic factors.

When standardized tests are considered invalid for a child between the ages of three and five years, alternative means (e.g., scales, instruments, observations, interviews) shall be used as specified on the assessment plan.

Referral

A child can be referred to a school district through (a) the Individualized Family Service Plan (IFSP) process as he/she was previously identified as a child with a disability or (b) as an initial referral as a child with a suspected disability. If a request for special education assessment is made, the districts of the EV SELPA must follow established procedures for referring students for a special education assessment. If a parent submits a letter requesting a special education assessment, the District has 15 days to respond to the request for assessment.

Assessment

All initial assessments of three- and four-year old children are the responsibility of the school district where the parents reside. Each school district establishes its own early childhood assessment practices in accordance with the following state regulations.

State – California Education Code §56441.11

- (a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law or regulation, the special education eligibility criteria in subdivision (b) shall apply to preschool children, between the ages of three and five years.
- (b) A preschool child, between the ages of three and five years, qualifies as a child who needs early childhood special education services if the child meets the following criteria:
 - (1) Is identified as having one of the following disabling conditions, as defined in Section 300.8 of Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or an established medical disability, as defined in subdivision (d):
 - (A) Autism
 - (B) Deaf-Blindness
 - (C) Deafness

- (D) Hearing Impairment
- (E) Intellectual Disabilities
- (F) Multiple Disabilities
- (G) Orthopedic Impairment
- (H) Other Health Impairment
- (1) Serious Emotional Disturbance
- (J) Specific Learning Disability
- (K) Speech or Language Impairment in one or more of voice, fluency, language, and articulation
- (L) Traumatic Brain Injury
- (M) Visual Impairment
- (N) Established Medical Disability
- (2) Needs specially designed instruction or services as defined in Sections 56441.2 and 56441.3.
- (3) Has needs that cannot be met with modification of a regular environment in the home or school, or both, without ongoing monitoring or support as determined by an individualized education program team.
- (4) Meets eligibility criteria specified in Section 3030 of Title 5 of the California Code of Regulations.
- (c) A child is not eligible for special education and services if the child does not otherwise meet the eligibility criteria and his or her educational needs are due primarily to:
 - (1) Unfamiliarity with the English language
 - (2) Temporary physical disabilities
 - (3) Social maladjustment
 - (4) Environmental, cultural, or economic factors
- (d) For purposes of this section, "established medical disability" is defined as a disabling medical condition or congenital syndrome that the individualized education program team determines has a high predictability of requiring special education and services.
- (e) When standardized tests are considered invalid for children between the ages of three and five years, alternate means, including scales, instruments, observations, and interviews, shall be used as specified in the assessment plan.

Individualized Education Program (IEP)

The IEP team shall discuss the child's present levels of performance, determine eligibility, develop goals (and objectives as appropriate), and determine the appropriate general education and/or special education program services to meet the child's needs. IEPs for preschool students follow the procedures and guidelines in the IEP chapter of this manual, in addition:

A. Present levels of performance and annual goals and objectives are to be aligned to the preschool curriculum;

- B. Services are to be designed to meet the unique needs of the child and his/her family; and,
- C. Services may be provided in an individual or small group setting.

Services must include, when appropriate:

- A. Observing and monitoring the child's behavior and development in his/her environment
- B. Presenting activities that are developmentally appropriate for the child and are specially designed, based on the child's needs, to enhance the child's development;
- C. Interacting and consulting with family members, preschool teachers, and other service providers, as needed, to demonstrate appropriate activities;
- D. Assisting parents to seek and coordinate other services in their community that may be provided to the child by various agencies;
- E. Providing opportunities for the child to participate in play and explorative activities, to develop selfesteem and pre-academic skills;
- F. Providing access to developmentally appropriate equipment and specialized materials; and,
- G. Providing related services, including parent counseling and training to help parents understand the special needs of their child and their child's development.

Program and Service Options

Whether preschool, and/or a specific preschool setting, would be appropriate for an eligible preschool-age student must be determined individually based on the unique needs of each student and is an individualized determination based on the unique educational needs of the particular student. The term "unique educational needs" is to be broadly construed and includes the student's academic, social, emotional, communicative, physical, and vocational needs. While an LEA is not required by law to provide general education preschool, the fact that an LEA does not offer a public, general-education preschool program does not relieve it of its duty to provide a FAPE to preschoolers with disabilities.

Depending on the child's "unique educational needs," the IEP team will determine the appropriate educational services that support the needs and development of the child. Opportunities are offered for the child to participate in age- appropriate activities in the least-restrictive educational setting. Placement decisions are driven by the child's strengths and needs. Below is the continuum of services available for preschool students requiring special education.

Continuum of Services

The IEP team determines the specific services that are appropriate for each preschool child eligible for special education. The options are listed below.

- A. Inclusive Community Setting
- B. The child's regular environment
- C. Public preschool program with Related Services
- D. Public preschool program with Consult and Collaboration from the Special Education Staff
- E. Public preschool program with Specialized Academic Instruction
- F. Separate preschool program with Specialized Academic Instruction for majority of day
- G. Separate preschool program with Specialized Academic Instruction for majority of day utilizing alternate curriculum standards
- H. Nonpublic School
- I. Alternative Education
- J. Home/Hospital
- K. Instruction in non-classroom setting

The Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP) has taken the position that the obligation to provide interaction with typically developing students may be satisfied by considering alternative methods for meeting the student's unique needs in the Least Restrictive Environment (LRE).

The "California Preschool Guidelines" (CA Department of Education, Sacramento, 2015) encompasses specific guidelines on Including Children with Disabilities or Other Special Needs. This section provides a broad framework for early childhood educators to help in planning and implementing quality educational programs for the inclusion of young children with disabilities or other special needs in regular early care and education settings. Program approaches for children who do not qualify for special educational services but who have such special needs as behavioral or communication issues are also offered in these Guidelines.

Another excellent resource is the "Inclusion Works! – Creating Child Care Programs That Promote Belonging for Children with Special Needs" (CA Department of Education, Sacramento, 2009). This publication is dedicated to describing inclusive, supportive environments that teach children about differences and about respecting and valuing other people regardless of ability.

Inclusive programs provide many benefits: peer modeling, a higher-level curriculum, and improvement in language usage, social skills and overall development. However, it is important to remember that a special education case carrier needs to be designated to work with the general education teacher and that any supportive services need to be provided by trained special education personnel. Sometimes instructional assistants provide services to such children under the direction of a credentialed special education teacher.

Transition from Preschool to Kindergarten

Preschool children identified as individuals with exceptional needs must be reassessed prior to transitioning from a preschool program to kindergarten or first grade. (EC 56445) This reassessment may include: standardized testing, criterion referenced testing, observation and/or review of records (34CFR §300.305). Personnel providing special education services to the child are responsible for completing this reassessment and writing a summary report. Whenever possible, the IEP team review meeting should include a kindergarten or first grade teacher to ensure that a smooth transition occurs. After enrolling in kindergarten or first grade, the child's progress should be monitored to determine the need for continuing special education program services. (EC §56445(c)).

An IEP transition meeting must be held before a student, currently receiving special education and services, transitions to kindergarten. At the meeting, the IEP team must judge whether the child is still eligible for special education and services.

To prepare for the transitional IEP meeting, the following should be implemented: Classroom staff reviews the current classroom assessments, portfolios, and anecdotal records.

School based team comprised of the site administrator/designee, special and general education teacher, psychologist, and other related service providers meet and review child's file as well as current assessments. The

IEP team will make recommendations pertaining to the continued eligibility of the student for special education and services; the team's recommendations are recorded.

Based on the recommendations, the team determines if additional assessments are needed. If the team determines that additional assessments are needed, an assessment plan must be developed and provided to the parent.

** If the team recommends that the student may no longer be eligible for special education, an assessment plan must be developed. Refer to Evaluations section. If the team does not believe that further assessments are needed, the parent must be informed in writing in the form of a prior written notice with an accompanying copy of the *Parents' Rights and Procedural Safeguards* and be advised that if they disagree they may request assessments.

All staff responsible for the student's IEP goals must determine the student's present levels of performance, at a minimum, in all four curricular domains. Suggested goals for the coming year should be developed for discussion at the IEP meeting.

Representatives from the student's receiving school of residence are invited to the IEP meeting.

At the IEP meeting, the IEP team identifies and documents any means of monitoring to ensure continued success of the student if the team recommends less intensive programs or services for the student.

If the IEP team determines that the student will exit from special education, it completes the present levels of performance and documents the student's learning style. This information is to be provided to the student's kindergarten teacher.

State Assessment Requirements for Preschool Desired Results System

The California Department of Education (CDE), Early Education and Support Division (EESD), has established the Desired Results (DR) System to improve program quality in early care and education programs across the state. The DR system meets both statewide assessment and required federal reporting for preschool special education. All preschool-age children (3-, 4-, and 5-year-olds not enrolled in kindergarten) in California who have an IEP participate in the DR system. It was developed based on six Desired Results – four (4) for children and two (2) for their families.

DR1: Children are personally and socially competent

DR2: Children are effective learners

DR3: Children show physical and motor competence

- DR4: Children are safe and healthy
- DR5: Families support their child's learning and development

DR6: Families achieve their goals

The DR system consists of the following components:

A. Desired Results Developmental Profile (2015) A Developmental Continuum from Early Infancy up to Kindergarten Entry: The DRDP© (2010) assessment instruments are designed for teachers to observe, document, and reflect on the learning, development, and progress of children, birth through 12 years of age, who are enrolled in early care and education programs and before-and after-school programs. The assessment results are intended to be used by the teacher to plan curriculum for individual children and groups of children and to guide continuous program improvement.

- B. Desired Results Parent Survey: The Parent Survey is designed to assist programs in gathering information from families about (1) the family members' satisfaction with their child's program and how it supports the child's learning and development; and (2) family members' perceptions of their progress toward reaching the two Desired Results identified for families. Families in the program are asked to complete the Parent Survey once a year and return it to their classroom. Families complete this survey anonymously to ensure that their opinions and concerns are kept confidential.
- C. Environment Rating Scales (ERS): The ERS are used to measure the quality of the program environment (e.g., child-teacher interactions, children's interactions and activities, use of language, health and safety practices, space, and materials). The ERS are required instruments for yearly program self-evaluation and used for the reviews conducted CDE/EESD program staff.
- D. Program Self Evaluation: The Program Self Evaluation addresses: family and community involvement; governance and administration; funding; standards, assessment, and accountability; staffing and professional growth; opportunity and equal educational access; and approaches to teaching and learning. Program quality is assessed annually through the required self-evaluation and the reviews conducted by CDE/EESD program staff.

Desired Results also support special educators, administrators, and families in implementing the CDE's assessment system for preschool-age children with Individualized Education Programs (IEPs) by:

- A. Assuring the inclusion of preschool children with IEPs in the Desired Results Assessment System.
- B. Refining the Desired Results Developmental Profile access (DRDP access)
- C. Aligning the DRDP access with the other DRDP instruments, California's Preschool Learning Foundations, and Preschool Curriculum Frameworks.
- D. Refining and managing the statewide DRDP data collection system for preschool special education (SEDRS) to meet federal requirements.
- E. Providing useful information and reports to programs about DRDP assessment results.
- F. Providing resources and activities to assist California's preschool special education community to understand, use, and benefit from this statewide system.

Preschool State Performance Plan Indicators

The Special Education Annual Performance Measures are a series of focused monitoring reports required by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEA) and compiled by the CDE. Two specific indicators measure preschool performance as outlined below.

Indicator 6 – Preschool Least Restrictive Environment – The percent of children aged 3 through 5 with IEPs attending a: (a) Regular early childhood program and receiving a majority of special education and related services in the regular program; (b) Separate special education class, separate school or residential facility.

Providing preschool student services in the least restrictive environment (LRE) is so crucial that both Federal and State education departments monitor the settings in which preschool services are made available. The following language is the definition of State Performance Indicator 6: Percent of preschool children with IEPs who received special education and related services in settings with typically developing peers (i.e., Head Start, State or other public preschool, private preschools, reverse mainstream classrooms, group childcare of child development centers.). Because this is monitored, it is critical for each LEA to offer a full continuum of services to meet the unique needs of each individual student in the least restrictive environment.

Indicator 7 – Preschool Assessment – Percent of preschool children, aged 3 through 5, with IEPs who demonstrate improved: (a) positive social-emotional skills (including personal relationships); (b) acquisition of knowledge and skills (including early language/communication and early literacy); and (c) use of appropriate behaviors to meet their needs.

CHAPTER IX – SECONDARY TRANSITION & THE INDIVIDUAL TRANSITION PLAN

SECTION I – OVERVIEW OF TRANSITION SERVICES AND RESOURCES

Purpose

The purpose of this section is to provide Individualized Education Program (IEP)/Individual Transition Plan (ITP) teams with information regarding transition services for students with disabilities, ages 16 and older, and to assist middle school and senior high school staff in carrying out their responsibilities for determining and providing transition instruction and services.

Transition services focus attention on how the student's education program in senior high school can be planned to help the student meet his or her goals for a successful transition to adult living. The Individualized Education Program/Individual Transition Plan (IEP/ITP) meeting serves as a communication and planning vehicle among parents, students, appropriate community agency representatives, and District staff, and enables them, as equal participants, to make joint, informed decisions regarding the student's transition needs, appropriate transition services and activities, educational program supports and placement, and the degree to which other agency representatives will participate.

The IEP/ITP sets forth in writing a commitment of resources necessary to enable the student with a disability to receive appropriate transition instruction and services as part of his or her special education program.

Transition services are a coordinated set of activities that are listed below.

- A. Designed with an outcome-oriented process that promotes movement from school to post-school activities, including post-secondary education, vocational training, integrated employment (including supported employment), continuing and adult education, adult services, and independent living or community participation.
- B. Based on the individual student's needs, taking into account the student's preferences and interests, as they are determined through the process of assessment.
- C. Documented on the IEP/ITP and are inclusive of the student's need for:
 - 1. Instructional services
 - 2. Related services;
 - 3. Community experience objectives for the development of employment and other post-school adult living objectives; and,
 - 4. The acquisition of daily living skills and functional vocational evaluation, if appropriate.

Key Points to Remember

- Transition Services begin no later than the first IEP to be in effect when the child turns 16.
- Best practice is to develop an ITP with the student at the age of 15½ so that it will be in effect when the child reaches the age of 16.

The ITP must:

A. Be updated annually;

- B. Include measurable postsecondary goals and annual goal statements that are specific to the student, and not generic for all students;
- C. Include age-appropriate transition assessments in the areas listed below.
 - 1. Education/training
 - 2. Employment
 - 3. Independent living when appropriate

Include a statement or attachment of the course of study the student should follow to reach their postsecondary goals; and

Include a statement indicating that the child has been informed of their rights one year prior to the age of majority.

SECTION II – INDIVIDUALIZED EDUCATION PROGRAM (IEP)/INDIVIDUAL TRANSITION PLAN (ITP) PLANNING

Prior to the IEP/ITP Meeting

- A. Assessment and IEP/ITP focus for students begins by age 16. For students 16 and older, transition assessment requires the inclusion of the student's strengths and needs for interagency services and community linkages as appropriate.
- B. Participants to be invited to the IEP/ITP meeting include:
 - 1. The parent/guardian of the student;
 - 2. The student for whom an Individual Transition Plan is being developed;
 - 3. At least one general education teacher of the student (if the student is, or may be, participating in the general education program);
 - 4. At least one special education teacher of the student, or if appropriate, at least one special education provider of the student
 - 5. An administrator or administrative designee
 - 6. A person who is knowledgeable about the assessment procedures used to assess the student including assessments to determine transition planning for the student, is familiar with the results of the assessment, and is qualified to interpret the results; and
 - 7. As appropriate, representatives of interagency services and community linkages when being considered for the student

Students with disabilities ages 16 and older shall, in addition to their parents/guardians, receive written notification of the IEP/ITP meeting inviting them to participate as a member of the IEP/ITP team. The notification will, in addition to identifying District staff who will attend the meeting, also include a list of agency representatives to be invited, as necessary.

The school must take steps to notify and encourage parent and student presence and participation at the IEP/ITP meeting by inviting them to the IEP/ITP meeting with the Notification to the Parent/Guardian to Participate in Individualized Education Program Meeting form in the parent's primary language, if feasible. The notice will indicate that transition services will be addressed in addition to the other IEP elements. Along with the written

notification, a copy of the *Parents' Rights and Procedural Safeguards* shall be provided to both the parents and the student.

A. Preparing the Student for the IEP/ITP Meeting. In order for the student to knowledgeably participate in the IEP/ITP meeting, the student shall be provided instruction on his or her role, rights, and procedural safeguards. The student should also possess an understanding of their assessment results and have a voice concerning the development of their postsecondary education and employment goals. This instruction shall be provided prior to the meeting by school staff responsible for the delivery of special education services.

SECTION III - COMPLETING AN INDIVIDUAL TRANSITION PLAN (ITP)

An Individual Transition Plan (ITP) must be completed in time to be in effect when the student reaches 16 years of age. Therefore, annual IEPs conducted when the student is 15 or older, must include an ITP. Form 3 of the EV SELPA WebIEP (EV-50) contains the ITP. The following guidance is provided in completing the ITP.

Age-Appropriate Transition Assessment

A student's transition services are determined by using a variety of assessment tools that are culturally, developmentally, and linguistically appropriate. Transition assessment instruments and procedures should provide the Individualized Education Program (IEP)/Individual Transition Plan (ITP) team functional as well as developmental information necessary for determining the student's course of study and development of their postsecondary educational and employment goals. Effective transition assessment guides the student's interests and needs, which in turn, assists the student with developing lifelong education and employment training goals.

Age-Appropriate transition assessment:

- A. Is an ongoing process of collecting data on the individual's needs, preferences, and interests as it relates to the student's future educational, employment, and personal/social environmental pursuit.
- B. Is the common thread in the transition process.
- C. Forms the basis for defining goals and services to be included in the IEP/ITP.
- D. Includes activities, assessments, content, environments, instruction, and/or materials that reflect a student's chronological age.

It is appropriate to use a combination of the following types of assessments:

- A. Paper and Pencil tests
- B. Structured student and family interviews
- C. Community or work-based assessments (situational)
- D. Curriculum-based assessments

Examples of age-appropriate informal and formal assessments include:

Interviews or questionnaires	Formal adaptive behavior scale – Vineland
Curriculum-based assessments	Independent Living Assessment
Interest inventories	Personality or preference tests
Preference assessments	Aptitude tests
Transition planning inventories	Achievement tests (Woodcock Johnson)

Functional skill inventories	On-the-job training evaluations
Direct observations	Measures of self-determination
Anecdotal records	Career development measures

In order to effectively document assessment results:

A. Describe the assessments/instruments used annually in education/training, employment and independent living

Include:

- A. Name and date of tool used
- B. Brief summary of results (learning style inventories; career interests, aptitudes or values assessments, etc.)
- C. Outcomes of any work, training or community service

Transition Goals

The student's IEP must include appropriate measurable postsecondary goals that cover education or training, employment, and, if appropriate, independent living.

Postsecondary goals refer to those goals that a student hopes to achieve after exiting high school. A postsecondary goal is not the process of pursuing or moving toward a desired outcome, but the identification of what the desired outcome will be. Examples of Transition Goals:

Education/Training

Post-Secondary Goal: Upon completion of high school, I will attend in the local State College.

Annual Goal: When given a computer with internet, the necessary websites (FAFSA), and copy of personal information, Student will improve in the area of education/training by completing 1 financial aid application and 1 admissions application with 100% accuracy in 16 of 20 trials (one accurate trial = one accurately completed section of the applications) as measured by frequency of correct trials within 6-week time periods.

Post-Secondary Goal: Upon graduation from high school, I will attend community college and participate in the welding industry certificate program meeting the requirements to attain an entry-level certificate.

Annual Goal: Given a self-assessment on personal traits, a welder job description, and appropriate websites on welding, Student will improve in the area of education/training by creating a statement that includes 10 reasons he will be a quality welder with 100% accuracy in 8/10 trials (1 accurate trial=1 reason corresponding to welding) as measured by frequency of correct trials within 8-week time periods.

Employment

Post-Secondary Goal: After high school, I will be employed in a clothing store job.

Annual Goal: Given an application, a copy of personal information, and 10 opportunities, Student will improve in the area of employment readiness by completing a clothing store application with 100% accuracy and 80% mastery (1 accurate opportunity=1 application accurately completed) as measured by frequency of correct opportunities within 8-week time periods.

Post-Secondary Goal: Upon completion of college, I will work as a teacher.

Annual Goal: Given the district's teacher mentor program, a journal to write mentor program experiences, and internet access to research teacher education required coursework, Student will improve in the area of employment readiness by writing an essay documenting expectation for a future career in teaching with 100% accuracy in 2/3 trials (1 accurate trial=1 rubric score of 3/4) as measured by rubric recording within 10-week time periods.

Post-Secondary Goal: After high school, I will work full-time at a job in an office.

Annual Goal: Given an office phone, scenarios, and scripts, Student will improve in the area of employment readiness by practicing speaking with customers and communicating the correct information based on the scenario, for 10 different scenarios with 100% accuracy in 8/10 trials (1 accurate trial=1 scenario with information accurately communicated) as measured by frequency of correct trials within 6-week time periods.

Post-Secondary Goal: Upon completion of school, I will work as a cashier.

Annual Goal: Given independent work time, math worksheets with varying operations, and a calculator, Student will improve in the area of employment readiness by completing math problems with 100% accuracy in 4/5 trials (1 accurate trial= 1 worksheet with 10/10 problems correct) as measured by frequency of correct trials within 6-week time periods.

Post-Secondary: Upon completion of school, I will work at a local business.

Annual Goal: Given results of an interest inventory, small group instruction on how to read the classifieds, and classified ads, Student will improve in the area of employment readiness by selecting one local business of interest with 100% accuracy and 80% mastery of 5 opportunities (1 accurate opportunity = 1 preferred local business of interest) as measured by frequency of correct opportunities within 8-week time periods.

Post-Secondary: Upon completion of school, I will work as a mechanic.

Annual Goal: Given an internship, 10 opportunities, and 3 entry level mechanic tasks, Student will improve in the area of employment readiness by completing each task correctly with 100% accuracy and 80% mastery of opportunities (1 accurate opportunity = 3 tasks accurately completed) as measured by frequency of correct opportunities within 10-week time periods

Independent Living

Post-Secondary Goal: Upon completion of high school, I will live with friends in a home or apartment.

Annual Goal: Given 5 different categories (gas, living, groceries, utilities, leisure), consumer math worksheets, and 10 opportunities, Student will improve in the area of independent living by completing expense records for the 5 categories with 100% accuracy and 80% mastery (1 accurate opportunity=1 worksheet with all 5 categories accurately computed) as measured by frequency of correct opportunities within 6-week time periods.

Post-Secondary Goal: After high school, I will shop and prepare simple meals for myself.

Annual Goal: Given a community grocery store, a shopping cart, and a shopping list with visuals, Student will improve in the area of independent living by independently locating all items on the shopping list and placing them into the cart with 100% accuracy in 8 out of 10 trials (1 accurate trial=1 shopping trip with all items located and placed into cart) as measured by frequency of correct trials across 6-week time periods.

Annual Goal: Given a task analysis, ingredients, and a recipe, Student will improve in the area of independent living by preparing a simple meal, for 5 different meals with 100% accuracy in 4/5 trials (1 accurate trial=1 accurately prepared meal) as measured by frequency of correct trials across 6-week time periods.

Post-Secondary Goal: Upon completion of school, I will live on my own.

Annual Goal: Given direct instruction, practice opportunities, and written instructions Student will improve in the area of independent living by identifying the correct bus route and riding the bus to the grocery store and back with 100% accuracy in 16 out of 20 trials (1 accurate trial = 1 correct identification of route, and ride to grocery store and back) as measured by frequency of correct trials within 10-week time periods.

Course of Study

The National Secondary Transition Technical Assistance Center (NSTTAC) define courses of study as "a multiyear description of coursework to achieve the student's desired post-school goals, from the student's current to anticipated exit year."

The course of study must intentionally and explicitly reflect each student's secondary and postsecondary transition goals and be written in a generic manner so that it is portable across district and/or state lines. Student progress towards achieving a high school diploma or certificate of completion should be monitored at least once annually with consideration given to attendance, grades, credit status and other educational performance measures. The course of study should also be reviewed at least once annually for all students.

Course of Study: Courses of study are defined as a multi-year description of coursework that explicitly connect to the student's desired post-school goals, from the students' current to anticipated exit year. Transcripts are not considered a course of study.

Freshman	Sophomore	Junior	Senior
English I	English II	English III	English IV
Social Science (Personal Growth, Geography)	Social Science (History)	Social Science (American Government)	Social Science (Economics)
Math (Algebra I)	Math (Intermediary Algebra)	Math (Geometry)	Elective
Science (Biology)	Science (Physical Science)	Science (Chemistry)	Elective
PE	PE	Elective	Elective
Elective	Elective	Elective	Elective

The chart below reflects a sample course of study for a diploma bound student:

A sample course of study for a certificate bound student may include:

Functional Academics	Domestic Domain	Community Domain	Vocational Domain
English Language Arts	Grooming & Hygiene	Social Behavior	Career Exploration
Listening & Speaking	Personal Safety	Community Resources	Work Related Training
Math	Life Skills	Recreation and Leisure	Future Living
		Communication Skills	Work Based Learning

Eight Criteria of a Compliant IEP/ITP

Listed below are eight criteria to ensure compliance when conducting an Individualized Education Program/Individual Transition Plan (IEP/ITP).

- A. Measurable postsecondary goals are listed in the areas of postsecondary education and training, employment, and independent living if needed.
- B. Measurable goals are updated annually
- C. Postsecondary goals are based on age-appropriate transition assessments.
- D. Transition services are listed that assist students to achieve their postsecondary goals.
- E. Transition services include a course of study that aligns with postsecondary goals. (The course of study is not a printout of the student's academic transcript.)
- F. Annual IEP/ITP goals are listed that relate to the student's postsecondary goals and transition service needs.
- G. There is evidence that the student was invited to the IEP/ITP.
- H. There is evidence that agencies were invited to the IEP/ITP.

Age of Majority/Transfer of Rights

It must be clearly documented on the Individualized Education Program (IEP)/Individual Transition Plan (ITP), at least one year before the student's 18th birthday that the student has been informed that his or her procedural rights and safeguards will transfer from the parent to the student upon reaching the age of 18, unless the student has been determined under State law to be incompetent or the parent/guardian of the student has been legally determined the student's conservator.

SECTION IV - HIGH SCHOOL GRADUATION AND COMMENCEMENT PARTICIPATION

Each school district of the EV SELPA establishes graduation requirements for the receipt of a high school diploma in alignment with California education code. During a student with disabilities senior year, each IEP team must work closely with the student's high school counselor to determine the student's eligibility to graduate with a regular high school diploma. Once determined eligible, the student and student parents must be provided with prior written notice that the District's obligation to provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) does not apply to students with disabilities who have graduated from high school with a regular high school diploma.

However, the District is obligated to make available a free appropriate public education to students who have received a certificate of completion and have not been awarded a regular high school diploma until the student becomes 22 years of age. The student who receives a certificate of completion may remain in school and receive FAPE through the high school semester when the student's 22nd birthday occurs.

Students who meet diploma requirements and special education students who qualify for a certificate of completion are eligible to participate in graduation ceremonies. A student with disabilities who meets the criteria for a certificate of completion is eligible to participate in any graduation ceremony and any school activity related to graduation in which students of similar age without disabilities would be eligible to participate.

CHAPTER X – STUDENT DISCIPLINE

SECTION I – GENERAL GUIDELINES

The following guidelines on disciplining students with disabilities are written to supplement, not supplant, local education policies and procedures pertaining to suspension and expulsion, which is the foundation for discipline for all students. Most of this information is derived from the California Education Code Section 48900 and Individual with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) Title 34 of the Code of Federal Regulations (34 C.F.R.).

Suspension

Suspension means removal of a student from ongoing instruction for adjustment purposes. However, "suspension" does not mean any of the following:

- Reassignment to another education program or class at the same school where the student will receive continuing instruction for the length of the day prescribed by the governing board for students of the same grade level.
- Referral to a certificated employee designated by the principal to advise students.
- Removal from the class, but without reassignment to another class or program, for the remainder of the class period without sending the student to the principal or the principal's designee as provided in § 48910. Removal from a particular class shall not occur more than once every five school days.

Expulsion

Expulsion means a removal of a student from (1) the immediate supervision and control, or (2) the general supervision of school personnel, as those terms are used in § 46300.

Removal

"Removal," as used in federal regulations such as those related to manifestation determination (MD) meetings, is a generic term used to describe any removal of a student for disciplinary purposes from ongoing instruction for any length of time.

Change of Placement

Removal of a student for disciplinary purposes is considered a change of placement if the removal is for more than ten consecutive school days or the student has been subjected to a series of removals that constitute a pattern:

- Because the series of removals total more than ten cumulative school days in a school year;
- Because the student's behavior is substantially similar to the student's behavior in previous incidents that resulted in the series of removals; and
- Because of factors such as the length of each removal, the total amount of time removed and the proximity of the removals to one another.

Legal Requirements

State

Suspension or Expulsion [48900 - 48927]

A student shall not be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion unless the superintendent or the principal of the school in which the student is enrolled determines that the student has committed an act as defined pursuant to any of subdivisions (a) to (r), inclusive:

- (a) (1) Caused, attempted to cause, or threatened to cause physical injury to another person.
 (2) Willfully used force or violence upon the person of another, except in self-defense.
- (b) Possessed, sold, or otherwise furnished a firearm, knife, explosive, or other dangerous object, unless, in the case of possession of an object of this type, the pupil had obtained written permission to possess the item from a certificated school employee, which is concurred in by the principal or the designee of the principal.
- (c) Unlawfully possessed, used, sold, or otherwise furnished, or been under the influence of, a controlled substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing with § 11053) of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind.
- (d) Unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell a controlled substance listed in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 11053) of Division 10 of the Health and Safety Code, an alcoholic beverage, or an intoxicant of any kind, and either sold, delivered, or otherwise furnished to a person another liquid, substance, or material and represented the liquid, substance, or material as a controlled substance, alcoholic beverage, or intoxicant.
- (e) Committed or attempted to commit robbery or extortion.
- (f) Caused or attempted to cause damage to school property or private property.
- (g) Stole or attempted to steal school property or private property.
- (h) Possessed or used tobacco, or products containing tobacco or nicotine products, including, but not limited to, cigarettes, cigars, miniature cigars, clove cigarettes, smokeless tobacco, snuff, chew packets, and betel. However, this section does not prohibit the use or possession by a pupil of his or her own prescription products.
- (i) Committed an obscene act or engaged in habitual profanity or vulgarity.
- (j) Unlawfully possessed or unlawfully offered, arranged, or negotiated to sell drug paraphernalia, as defined in Section 11014.5 of the Health and Safety Code.
- (k) (1) Disrupted school activities or otherwise willfully defied the valid authority of supervisors, teachers, administrators, school officials, or other school personnel engaged in the performance of their duties.

(2) Except as provided in Section 48910, a pupil enrolled in kindergarten or any of grades 1 to 3, inclusive, shall not be suspended for any of the acts enumerated in this subdivision, and this subdivision shall not constitute grounds for a pupil enrolled in kindergarten or any of grades 1 to 12, inclusive, to be recommended for expulsion. This paragraph shall become inoperative on July 1, 2018, unless a later enacted statute that becomes operative before July 1, 2018, deletes or extends that date.

- (l) Knowingly received stolen school property or private property.
- (m) Possessed an imitation firearm. As used in this section, "imitation firearm" means a replica of a firearm that is so substantially similar in physical properties to an existing firearm as to lead a reasonable person to conclude that the replica is a firearm.
- (n) Committed or attempted to commit a sexual assault as defined in Section 261, 266c, 286, 288, 288a, or 289 of the Penal Code or committed a sexual battery as defined in Section 243.4 of the Penal Code.

- (o) Harassed, threatened, or intimidated a pupil who is a complaining witness or a witness in a school disciplinary proceeding for purposes of either preventing that pupil from being a witness or retaliating against that pupil for being a witness, or both.
- (p) Unlawfully offered, arranged to sell, negotiated to sell, or sold the prescription drug Soma.
- (q) Engaged in, or attempted to engage in, hazing. For purposes of this subdivision, "hazing" means a method of initiation or preinitiation into a pupil organization or body, whether or not the organization or body is officially recognized by an educational institution that is likely to cause serious bodily injury or personal degradation or disgrace resulting in physical or mental harm to a former, current, or prospective pupil. For purposes of this subdivision, "hazing" does not include athletic events or school- sanctioned events.
- (r) Engaged in an act of bullying. For purposes of this subdivision, the following terms have the following meanings: (1) "Bullying" means any severe or pervasive physical or verbal act or conduct, including communications made in writing or by means of an electronic act, and including one or more acts committed by a pupil or group of pupils as defined in Section 48900.2, 48900.3, or 48900.4, directed toward one or more pupils that has or can be reasonably predicted to have the effect of one or more of the following: (A) Placing a reasonable pupil or pupils in fear of harm to that pupil's or those pupils' person or property. (B) Causing a reasonable pupil to experience a substantially detrimental effect on his or her physical or mental health.
- (C) Causing a reasonable pupil to experience substantial interference with his or her academic performance.
- (D) Causing a reasonable pupil to experience substantial interference with his or her ability to participate in or benefit from the services, activities, or privileges provided by a school.

(2) (A) "Electronic act" means the creation or transmission originated on or off the school site, by means of an electronic device, including, but not limited to, a telephone, wireless telephone, or other wireless communication device, computer, or pager, of a communication, including, but not limited to, any of the following: (i) A message, text, sound, or image.

(ii) A post on a social network Internet Web site, including, but not limited to: (I) Posting to or creating a burn page. "Burn page" means an Internet Web site created for the purpose of having one or more of the effects listed in paragraph (1). (II) Creating a credible impersonation of another actual pupil for the purpose of having one or more of the effects listed in paragraph (1). "Credible impersonation" means to knowingly and without consent impersonate a pupil for the purpose of bullying the pupil and such that another pupil would reasonably believe, or has reasonably believed, that the pupil was or is the pupil who was impersonated.

(III) Creating a false profile for the purpose of having one or more of the effects listed in paragraph (1). "False profile" means a profile of a fictitious pupil or a profile using the likeness or attributes of an actual pupil other than the pupil who created the false profile. (iii) An act of cyber sexual bullying.

(1) For purposes of this clause, "cyber sexual bullying" means the dissemination of, or the solicitation or incitement to disseminate, a photograph or other visual recording by a pupil to another pupil or to school personnel by means of an electronic act that has or can be reasonably predicted to have one or more of the effects described in subparagraphs (A) to (D), inclusive, of paragraph (1). A photograph or other visual recording, as described above, shall include the depiction of a nude, semi-nude, or sexually explicit photograph or other visual recording of a minor where the minor is identifiable from the photograph, visual recording, or other electronic act. (II) For purposes of this clause, "cyber sexual bullying" does not include a depiction, portrayal, or image that has any serious literary, artistic, educational, political, or scientific value or that involves athletic events or school-sanctioned activities.

(B) Notwithstanding paragraph (1) and subparagraph (A), an electronic act shall not constitute pervasive conduct solely on the basis that it has been transmitted on the Internet or is currently posted on the Internet. (3)

"Reasonable pupil" means a pupil, including, but not limited to, an exceptional needs pupil, who exercises average care, skill, and judgment in conduct for a person of his or her age, or for a person of his or her age with his or her exceptional needs.

In addition to the reasons specified in California Education Code 48900, a student may be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion if the superintendent or the principal of the school in which the student is enrolled determines that the student has committed sexual harassment as defined in § 212.5 of the EC. For the purposes of this chapter, the conduct described in Section 212.5 must be considered by a reasonable person of the same gender as the victim to be sufficiently severe or pervasive to have a negative impact upon the student's academic performance or to create an intimidating, hostile or offensive educational environment. This section shall not apply to students enrolled in kindergarten and grades 1 to 3, inclusive.

A student in grades 4 to 12, inclusive, may also be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion if the superintendent or principal of the school in which the student is enrolled determines that the student has caused, attempted to cause, threatened to cause, or participated in an act of hate violence as defined in § 233 of the EC.

Additionally, a student enrolled in any of grades 4 to 12, inclusive, may be suspended from school or recommended for expulsion if the superintendent or the principal of the school in which the student is enrolled determines that the student has intentionally engaged in harassment, threats or intimidation, directed against district personnel or students, that is sufficiently severe or pervasive to have the actual and reasonably expected effect of materially disrupting class work, creating substantial disorder, and invading the rights of either school personnel or students by creating an intimidating or hostile educational environment.

Suspension shall be imposed only when other means of correction fail to bring about proper conduct. However, a student, including a student with a disability, as defined in § 56026 of the EC, may be suspended for any of the reasons enumerated in § 48900 upon a first offense if the principal or superintendent of schools determines that the student violated subdivision (a), (b), (c), (d), or (e) of § 48900 or that the student's presence causes a danger to persons or property or threatens to disrupt the instructional process.

SECTION II – SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS FOR STUDENTS WITH DISABILTIES

Manifestation Determination (MD)

An IEP meeting to conduct a manifestation determination (MD) must be held within ten school days of the decision to remove a student for disciplinary purposes if the removal constitutes a change in placement.

Local Procedures

As a general rule, students with a disability may be suspended in the same manner as students without a disability for the first ten days of suspension. After ten days of suspension, a student may be suspended up to ten additional days subject to specific limitations to be discussed later.

Students with a disability may also be expelled provided that the student continues to receive special education services pursuant to an IEP.

The procedures pertaining to suspension and expulsion for both identified students with a disability and students not yet identified as eligible for special education are explained in detail below.

Suspension Procedures for Identified Student with Disability Needs

A district superintendent or designee may suspend a student with a disability for up to five consecutive school days for a single incident of misconduct and for up to 20 school days in a school year, as long as the suspension(s) does not constitute a change in placement (see definition above) pursuant to federal regulations. If, for the purpose of adjustment, a student enrolls in or is transferred to another general school class or a continuation school or class, the total number of days of suspension shall not exceed 30 days.

The principal or designee should monitor the number of days, including portions of days that students with valid IEPs have been suspended during the school year. If a student misses even a portion of the school day due to disciplinary action, that entire day counts as a day of suspension.

Administrators should be cautious about sending students home as a disciplinary consequence with or without the consent of the parent. While the district administrator may not consider it a suspension at the time, legally it meets the definition of suspension and must be counted towards the student's total days of suspension. It is recommended that the district consider any days of suspension beyond ten cumulative to constitute a change of placement, which would require a manifestation determination (MD) meeting as described below.

Changing the placement of a student with a disability from a general school site to a community day school requires an IEP team meeting and parental consent unless it is done as a result of post-expulsion placement or as an interim alternative educational setting.

Note: As with general education students, suspension should only be imposed when other means of correction fail to bring about proper conduct. In addition, because of the limited number of days that a student with a disability can be suspended, the number of legal requirements involved and the fact that suspension is not generally an effective deterrent for students with a disability, administrators are encouraged to use suspension sparingly and develop other more proactive means of discipline.

Removals for 1 to 10 Cumulative Days

A student with a disability may be suspended in the same manner as a student with no disability for the first ten cumulative days of suspension. They can be removed from school and the school is not responsible for providing any special education services during the period of the removal. However, it is recommended that the IEP team meet to consider whether the student needs additional services and/or supports when the student is nearing ten days of suspension as the days of suspension are likely interfering with the student's ability to make progress on his/her IEP goals.

Removals in Excess of Ten Cumulative Days

Once the decision is made to suspend a student for the 11th day, the administrator must determine whether the removal constitutes a change of placement, as defined above. Accordingly, it is recommended that districts consider all suspensions of 11 or more cumulative days to be a change in placement.

If the removal does constitute a change of placement, the district can still suspend the student, but the process becomes more complicated. Additionally, the federal timelines for a manifestation determination (MD) meeting will likely not line up with the state timelines regarding suspensions. The district will have to conduct a manifestation determination (MD) but by the time this is accomplished the suspension will more than likely have already been implemented. This is because the manifestation determination (MD) process is designed for disciplinary cases where expulsion is at issue, and the law assumes that IEP teams are including behavioral interventions for students with disabilities who have repeated suspensions.

Manifestation Determination Procedures

On the date on which the decision is made to make a removal for disciplinary reasons that constitutes a change in placement, the district must notify the parents of that decision and provide the parents with a Notice of Procedural Safeguards.

Add assessment/determined to use current assessment, if available

Using EV-82, the IEP team meets to review assessment and all relevant information in the student's file, including any relevant information provided by the parent to determine:

- A. If the conduct in question was caused by or had a direct and substantial relationship to the student's disability; or
- B. If the conduct in question was the direct result of the districts failure to implement the IEP

If either of the previous conditions is found to be true, the behavior shall be determined to be a manifestation of the students' disability. If neither condition is met, the behavior is not a manifestation of the students' disability.

Behavior IS NOT a Manifestation of the Disability

If the IEP team determines that the student's behavior was not a manifestation of his/her disability, the student may be disciplined in accordance with the procedures for students without disabilities except that the student shall continue to receive services to the extent necessary to participate in the general education curriculum, although in another setting, and to progress toward meeting the goals set out in the student's IEP. However, the decision regarding the extent and location of services during the removal will be determined by the IEP team. The IEP team will also review the student's behavior plan, or, in the case where there is no behavior plan, consider the need for developing one and/or the need for an FBA.

Behavior IS a Manifestation of the Disability

When the behavior is found to be a manifestation of the student's disability or a direct result of the failure to implement the IEP, the IEP team must:

- A. Either conduct an FBA and develop a BIP, or when a BIP has already been developed, review the current BIP and modify it as necessary; and
- B. Return the student to the placement from which the student was removed, unless the parent and district agree to a change of placement.

If the behavior is a manifestation of the student's disability or a direct result of the failure to implement the IEP, the district is not required to expunge the suspension or expulsion recommendation from the student's record. The district is only required to take actions A and B above.

Exceptions to the Manifestation Determination Rule

School staff may remove a student to an interim alternative educational setting (IAES) for not more than 45 school days, without regard to whether the behavior is determined to be a manifestation of the student's disability, when the student commits one of the following acts:

A. Carries or possesses a weapon, as defined in 18 USC 930 (g) (2), to or at school, on school premises or to or at a school function under the jurisdiction of the district.

- B. Knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs, as defined in 34 CFR 300.530(i) (2), while at school, on school premises or at a school function under the jurisdiction of the district.
- C. Sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance as defined in 21 USC 812(c), while at school, on school premises or at a school function under the jurisdiction of the district.
- D. Has inflicted serious bodily injury upon another person as defined in USC § 1365(h)(3), while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of the district. Serious bodily injury means:

Substantial risk of death.

- A. Extreme physical pain.
- B. Protracted/obvious disfigurement.
- C. Protracted loss/impairment of function of a bodily member, organ or mental faculty.

The interim alternative educational setting shall be determined by the IEP team. For most districts there are few options to use as an IAES. The most common placements tend to be community schools and in some case home instruction. Prior to assigning a student to home instruction, districts should check with the SELPA and/or their own legal counsel for recent rulings on this placement option.

Expulsion Procedures for Identified Student with Disability Needs

Expulsion is always a change in placement. Prior to expelling a student with disabilities, the district must conduct a manifestation determination (MD). If the IEP team determines that the behavior is a manifestation of the student's disability, the district must terminate expulsion proceeding and implement the manifestation determination (MD) procedures outlined above under suspension. This is true even if the behavior is one that requires mandatory expulsion under state or federal laws. If the IEP team determines that the behavior in question is not a manifestation of the student's disability, the district governing board may continue with expulsion proceedings. In the event of an expulsion, the governing board will determine the placement and all other aspects of the expulsion for a student with a disability in the same manner that it does for students who are not disabled. Whenever a student with a disability is expelled, the IEP team will meet to determine the extent of services necessary to enable the student to appropriately progress in the general curriculum, although in another setting, and appropriately advance toward achieving the goals set out in the student's IEP. If the parent does not agree with the decision of the IEP team, the parent may file for a due process hearing as described in the Due Process Appeals section of this policy. However, the district may proceed with disciplinary action.

Services Post-Expulsion

Any student with a disability who is expelled shall continue to receive services during the term of the expulsion to the extent necessary to enable the student to appropriately progress in the general curriculum, although in another setting, and appropriately advance toward achieving the goals set out in the student's IEP. The type and extent of services will be determined by the IEP team.

Readmission

Readmission procedures for students with disabilities shall be the same as those used for all students. Upon readmission, an IEP team meeting shall be convened, and a new IEP will be developed to address the student's needs in the new environment.

Suspension of Expulsion

The Governing Board's criteria for suspending the enforcement of an expulsion order shall be applied to students with disabilities in the same manner as they are applied to all other students except that an IEP meeting shall be held to review and amend the existing IEP as appropriate. If a student is placed on a suspended expulsion and engages in another act that would cause his or her expulsion to be reinstated, the IEP team must hold a second manifestation determination (MD) meeting on the new conduct prior to reinstating the expulsion.

Notification to Law Enforcement Authorities

Prior to the suspension or expulsion of any student, including any student with a disability, the principal or designee shall notify appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities of any act of assault with a deadly weapon which may have violated Penal Code 245 (assault with a deadly weapon or firearm).

Within one school day after a suspension or expulsion of a student with disabilities, the principal or designee shall notify appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities, by telephone or other appropriate means, of any act by the student which may violate EC 48900(c) or (d), relating to the possession, use, offering or sale of controlled substances, alcohol, or intoxicants of any kind.

The principal or designee shall notify appropriate city or county law enforcement authorities, by telephone or other appropriate means, of any act by the student which involves the possession or sale of controlled substances or a violation of Penal Code 626.9 or 626.10.

Transmittal of Records

A district reporting a crime committed by a student with a disability must ensure that copies of the student's special education and disciplinary records are transmitted for consideration by the appropriate authorities to whom the district reports the crime. These records may only be transmitted to the appropriate authorities as permitted by the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA) and corresponding state law. In the absence of a subpoena, the reporting district will request written parental consent for the exchange of information prior to transmitting any special education or disciplinary records. The district should consult legal counsel if there is a question about whether authorities have a right to view and/or receive student records.

Due Process Appeals

If the parent/guardian disagrees with the determination that the student's behavior was not a manifestation of his/her disability or with any decision regarding placement in an interim alternative educational setting, the parent/guardian has a right to appeal the decision to a hearing officer. If the student's parent/guardian initiates a due process hearing to challenge the interim alternative educational placement or the manifestation determination (MD), the student shall remain in the interim alternative educational setting pending the decision of the hearing officer or the expiration of the 45-school daytime period, whichever occurs first, unless the parent/guardian and district agree otherwise. If school personnel maintain that it is dangerous for the student to continue to be placed

in the current placement (placement prior to removal to the interim alternative education setting) while the due process proceedings are pending, the Superintendent or designee may request an expedited due process hearing.

Local Forms

Suspensions and/or expulsions should be documented using district general education forms. A Manifestation Determination Form is available in WebIEP for IEP teams to use.

SECTION III – RIGHTS OF STUDENTS NOT YET ELIGIBLE FOR SPECIAL EDUCATION

A student who has not been officially identified as a student with disabilities may assert the procedural safeguards granted to a student with a disability only if the district had knowledge that the student had a disability before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action occurred. The decision as to whether the district had prior knowledge shall be made by the appropriate district special education administrator.

The district shall be deemed to have had knowledge that the student had a disability if before the behavior that precipitated the disciplinary action:

- A. The parent/guardian expressed concern to supervisory or administrative personnel of the district or a teacher of the student, in writing, that the student needs special education or related services; or
- B. The parent or guardian requested an evaluation of the student for special education eligibility; or
- C. The teacher of the student or other district personnel expressed specific concerns directly to the district's director of special education or other supervisory district personnel about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the student.

The district would be deemed to not have knowledge that a student is disabled if the parent/guardian has not allowed the student to be evaluated for special education services or has refused services. In addition, the district would be deemed to not have knowledge if the district had conducted an evaluation and determined that the student was not an individual with a disability. If the district did not have knowledge of the disability, the student shall be disciplined in accordance with procedures established for students without disabilities.

If a request is made for an evaluation of a student during the time period in which the student is subject to disciplinary measures, the law requires that the evaluation shall be conducted in an expedited manner. Until the evaluation is completed, the student shall remain in the educational placement determined by school authorities, which may include suspension or expulsion without educational services. If the student is eventually found eligible for special education services, the district shall develop an IEP subject to the procedures for identified student with a disability.

CHAPTER XI – RESOLUTION STRATEGIES

SECTION I – ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION (ADR)

The East Valley SELPA embraces the tenets of resolving differences in a collaborative and meaningful manner. To do so, in place is a SELPA-wide ADR initiative and accompanying processes. The focus of the initiative is to build a foundation for strong relationships between all stakeholders based on intentional and proactive planning. The SELPA provides training to parents and educators to support the initiative; the cornerstone of the which is the EV SELPA ADR Cadre and a SELPA program manager who facilitates the Cadre. All gather regularly at the SELPA for training and to strategize on best practices to resolve conflict. In addition, the following steps for enabling ADR are in place. The first three are to support parents and district staff to reach agreement informally while the final is to resolve the conflict formally in an IEP or resolution meeting.

- A. A parent or district staff member may request ADR from the SELPA. ADR is entirely voluntary and must be agreed to by all involved parties. The SELPA program manager gathers information from all involved and works to clarify the issues and address concerns or needs.
- B. The SELPA program manager conducts a file review of the issue in conflict to gather information and offer analysis of the current area of conflict. Being a third party, a fresh perspective or opinion may result.
- **C.** A SELPA program specialist may be asked by the SELPA program manager, with permission from the parent, to make a student observation. This process provides the opportunity for further exploration of the issue at conflict as the program manager works with the stakeholders to come to a resolution to the conflict.
- D. If the conflict is not resolved, a formal meeting is scheduled. This can be a resolution session or an IEP team meeting and will include pre-meeting preparation along with follow-up tasks. The SELPA program manager calls on a member of the of the ADR Cadre to act as a neutral facilitator who clarifies the agenda and meeting outcomes, enforces working agreements, keeps the group focused on the resolution and process, encourages problem solving, monitors time, encourages participation by all team members, and visually records outcomes to gain a collaboratively reached, signed IEP or settlement document.

During COVID-19, the EV SELPA is also engaged in ADR practices specific to disagreements and conflict that may result from distance learning. The EV SELPA developed a plan based on the principles of conflict resolution as drawn from the components of the CADRE Continuum of Dispute Resolution & Practices and to build capacity. Specifically, the plan identifies three stages. The end goal of the EV SELPA ADR COVID-19 plan is for the practices and strategies incorporated in it to become a way of working and communicating throughout the SELPA that allows educators and parents to confidently and more independently engage in difficult, yet productive conversations that result in positive outcomes for students while further enhancing parent-school relationships as well as developing and deepening an understanding of distance learning as a means to provide special education services that can meet students' unique needs.

Stage I focuses on using multiple communication, engagement, and training tools and strategies as preventive measures. Communication is enhanced through the use of online, social media mechanisms, parent meetings, and stakeholder trainings.

Stage II addresses managing disagreements and misunderstandings through the use of assistance programs as well as technical advisors and coaches. This involves parent-to-parent and teacher-to-parent assistance options so that parents and teachers trained in communication strategies related to dispute resolution as well as knowledgeable

about the distance learning options within a district are available to assist parents who do not feel heard or do not feel their concerns are addressed. In addition, technical advisors and coaches can assist all involved as they manage disagreements.

Stage III is managing the conflict. The current EV SELPA ADR Cadre and program manager supports as outlined above are in place. In addition, consultants and professional mediators can be made available to assist districts with working through the most challenging conflict situations and those that remain unresolved as they arise specifically from issues around distance learning and the impact of COVID-19 on special education.

Email evselpa@sbcss.net for more information.

SECTION II – DUE PROCESS

Due Process ensures children with disabilities receive a free and appropriate public education (FAPE). Due process is a requirement under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) that provides a regulatory basis for a formal set of policies and procedures implemented by schools and districts for children with disabilities. These policies and procedures are described in the East Valley SELPA Notice of Procedural Safeguards, otherwise known as Parents' Rights. SELPA school districts provide the Parents' Rights annually to parents of children with disabilities.

The East Valley SELPA Program Manager for Due Process provides support and technical assistance to member district's Special Education Directors and Administrators to help ensure compliance with state and federal laws and regulations regarding special education and due process procedures. This is comprised of Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR), Early Resolution Sessions, Mediations as well as participation in Due Process Hearings. This also includes notifications of parent rights and procedural safeguards and compliance with mandated timelines associated with assessment and placement of children with disabilities.

The East Valley SELPA is a strong advocate for Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR). This is an option that provides for a neutral facilitator to bring the parties together during a disagreement. This option can help provide a resolution to the disagreement sooner without the time, expense, and emotional toll of a due process hearing.

Mediation

Parents may also seek resolution through mediation only prior to filing a request for a due process hearing. The conference is an informal proceeding conducted in a non-adversarial manner to resolve issues related to the identification, assessment, or educational placement of a child or to a Free and Appropriate Education (FAPE). Mediation only requests are also maintained by the Office of Administrative Hearings.

Due Process Hearings

Procedures for a due process hearing may be initiated by a parent, student, or a public agency anytime there is a proposal to initiate or change, or refusal to initiate or change, the identification, assessment, educational placement, or the provision of a free and appropriate public education.

Any party to a hearing has the right to be accompanied and advised by an attorney and/or individuals with special knowledge or training. During due process, the parties may present evidence, confront, cross-examine, and compel attendance of witnesses; prohibit the introduction of evidence that has not been disclosed at least five days prior to the hearing; obtain a written or electronic record of the hearing; and obtain written findings of fact within forty-five days from the receipt of the initial request for a hearing.

Proceedings are held by the Office of Administrative Hearings and the decision of the hearing officer is final and binding on both parties; however, either party may appeal to a court within ninety days of the final decision. Parents have the right for a hearing to be open to the public. Requests for a hearing are sent to the <u>Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) Special Education Division</u>, 2349 Gateway Drive, Suite 200, Sacramento, CA 95833. Requests for a due process hearing must include the student's name, residential address, the name of the student's school, a description of the problem, facts about the problem and proposed resolution(s). A copy of the Parent Rights and Procedural Safeguards may be requested from any of the East Valley SELPA Member school districts or directly from the East Valley SELPA.

Complaints

Parents may file a state compliance complaint when they believe that a school district has violated federal or state special education laws or regulations. A written complaint must specify at least one alleged violation of federal and state special education laws. The violation must have occurred not more than one year prior to the date the complaint is received by the California Department of Education (CDE). When filing a complaint, parents must forward a copy of the complaint to the school district at the same time they file a state complaint with the CDE. (34 CFR 300.151–153; 5 CCR 4600). Complaints alleging violations of federal and state special education laws or regulations may be mailed to:

California Department of Education Special Education Division Procedural Safeguards Referral Service 1430 N Street, Suite 2401 Sacramento, CA 95814 Phone: 800-926-0648 Fax: 916-327-3704

For complaints involving issues not covered by federal or state special education laws or regulations, school districts have uniform complaint procedures.

CHAPTER XII – EAST VALLEY SELPA ADMINISITRATIVE PROCEDURES

SECTION I – ADDITIONAL SUPPORT ASSESSMENT (ASA) GUIDEBOOK

Table of Contents: Using the ASA Forms

Introdu	action	
ASA P	Process Step – by – Step	
Step 1:	Prepare the ASA Tracking Form and obtain consent for assessment The ASA Tracking Form EV-9	
Step 2:	Distribute Forms to Teacher Form A: Additional Support Rubric for School Staff Form B: Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale Form C: Student's Progress on Goals	
Step 3:	Conduct Interviews Form D: Teacher/School Staff Interview Form E: Parent/Guardian Interview Form F: Student Interview	
Step 4:	Arrange Data Collection by Classroom Staff if Applicable Form G1: Frequency Data Sheet Form G2: Frequency of Prompting Data Sheet Form H: Duration Data Sheet Form I: Scatterplot Data Sheet Form J: Latency Data Sheet	
Step 5:	Complete Observations Form K1: Observation and School Day Analysis Form K2: Observation and School Day Analysis Form K3: Observation and School Day Analysis Form L: Time Sampling Data Sheet Form M: Evaluator's Peer Comparison Time Sampling Data Sheet (if applicable)	
Step 6:	Consider Supports and Generate ASA Report Form N: Evaluator's Scoring for Support Consideration Sheet Form O: ASA Report Form P: Aide Training and Fading Plan (if applicable)	

Step 7: Hold IEP Meeting	
References	

List of ASA Forms

Form	ASA	Spanish	Fillable
	Step	Version	PDF
ASA Tracking Form and EV-9	1		
Form A: Additional Support Rubric for School Staff	2		
Form B: Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale	2		
Form C: Student's Progress on Goals	2		
Form D: Teacher/School Staff Interview	3		
Form E: Parent/Guardian Interview	3	\checkmark	\checkmark
Form F: Student Interview	3	\checkmark	
Form G1: Frequency Data Sheet	4		
Form G2: Frequency of Prompting Data Sheet	4		
Form H: Duration Data Sheet	4		
Form I: Scatterplot Data Sheet	4		
Form J: Latency Data Sheet	4		
Form K-1: Observation and School Day Analysis	5		
Form K-2: Observation and School Day Analysis	5		
Form K-3: Observation and School Day Analysis	5		\checkmark
Form L: Time Sampling Data Sheet	5		
Form M: Evaluator's Peer Comparison Time Sampling Data Sheet (if applicable)	5		
Form N: Evaluator's Scoring for Support Consideration Sheet	6		
Form O: ASA Report	6		
Form P: Aide Training and Fading Plan (if applicable)	6		

ASA Tracking Form

Student		DOB	
School		Teacher	
STEP	FORM S	DATE S	NOTES
1 Obtain	EV-9 distributed	Date:	
Consent for	EV-9 signed	Date:	
Assessment	60-day timeline	Date:	
	Form A: Additional Support Rubric	Date distributed:	
2		Date returned:	
2 Distribute	Form B: Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating	Date distributed:	
Forms	Scale	Date returned:	
	Form C: Student's Progress on Goals	Date distributed:	
		Date returned:	
3	Form D: Teacher/School Staff Interview	Date:	
Conduct Interviews	Form E: Parent/Guardian Interview	Date:	
	Form F: Student Interview	Date:	
4	□ Form G1: Frequency Data Sheet	Date:	
Data	□ Form G2: Frequency Data Sheet	Date:	
Collection by Classroom	 Form H: Duration Data Sheet Form I: Scatterplot Data Sheet Form J: Latency Data Sheet 	Date:	
Staff		Date:	
	\Box Other:	Date:	_
		Date:	
5	Form K1: Obs. & School Day Analysis	Date:	
Complete	Form K2: Obs. & School Day Analysis	Date:	
Observations	Form K3: Obs. & School Day Analysis	Date:	
	Form L: Time Sampling Data Sheet	Date:	
	Form M: Evaluator's Peer Comparison	Date:	
6 Consider	Form N: Evaluator's Scoring for Support Consideration Sheet	Date:	
Supports & Generate	Form O: ASA Report	Date:	
Report	Form P: Aide Training & Fading Plan (if applicable)	Date:	
7	IEP Held	Date(s):	

Hold IEP Mtg IEP Signed	Date:	
-------------------------	-------	--

Introduction

The goal for all students with disabilities under the Individual with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) is to develop independence in the Least Restrictive Environment (LRE) (20 U.S.C. §1400(C) (1); CFR. §300.1. Additional support may only be included in the Individualized Education Program (IEP) within the context of this goal. The addition of Intensive Individual Services (1:1 aide) to a student's IEP is only one way to support independence in the LRE. Aides should not be provided without first considering less intrusive alternatives that do not compromise students' abilities to develop as independent citizens. The determination of a need for additional support is made through a carefully planned assessment. Whenever additional support is considered, the student's total educational program must be carefully reviewed with an emphasis on the following four areas:

A. Health and Personal Care

The Health and Personal Care area may include, but are not limited to, self-help and bathroom needs, assistance during meals, and specialized care or medical procedures.

Behavior

Some students may require additional support due to behavior challenges. The first step in the support process is to ensure appropriate behavioral goals are included in the IEP and implemented with fidelity. If challenges persist, a Functional Behavior Assessment (FBA) and Behavior Intervention Plan (BIP) may be appropriate. Aide support or Intensive Individual Services for behavioral challenges should <u>not</u> be recommended without such supports already in place. Aide support may at times be appropriate on a time limited basis in order to assist with the implementation of a BIP.

Instruction

This area includes instructional support to facilitate on-task behavior through curriculum adaptations, prompts, reinforcement, accommodations and modifications, and specialized instructional strategies.

Inclusion

The inclusion area includes support during activities with general education peers. Support may be needed to ensure safety or to facilitate peer interaction. Transition support from classroom to classroom, recess to class and reverse, or between activities may also be indicated. The use of less restrictive supports, such as peer buddies and existing resources, should always be considered prior to assigning aide support.

The Additional Support Assessment (ASA) Guidebook provides a 7-step process for collecting the necessary information to identify additional student supports. A primary evaluator is assigned to conduct the assessment and lead the team through the ASA process from the referral stage to the IEP. All stages are described in this ASA Guidebook. The ASA Guidebook and accompanying ASA Forms are available within the Staff Portal of the EV SELPA website at https://documents.eastvalleyselpa.org/login



STEP 1: Prepare the ASA Tracking Form



What?

The *ASA Tracking Form* is an organizational sheet for the evaluator. The form is used to keep track of all completed ASA steps, the forms used, and the dates all activities were initiated and/or completed. The *ASA Tracking Form* is included in the front section of this Guidebook. It can also be downloaded from the staff portal of the EV SELPA website.

ASA Tracking Form

When?

As soon as the *Assessment Plan (EV-9)* has been provided to the parent, the evaluator prepares the *ASA Tracking Form* by entering the identifying student information at the top of the form. The form is now ready to use.

Why?

Federal and state law require assessments to be conducted within a specific time frame. It is therefore important to complete all ASA steps in a timely manner to meet the student's needs and avoid being out of compliance.

How?

As soon as the *Assessment Plan (EV-9)* has been provided to the parent, the evaluator notes the date the form was provided on the *ASA Tracking Form* and calculates the 60-day timeline (the latest date the ASA must be presented to the parent in an IEP meeting). The 60-day timeline is then recorded on the *ASA Tracking Form*. The remaining parts of the form is filled out as the respective activities are completed.

STEP 1: Obtain Consent for Assessment

	Date of Birth:	
Description of evaluation of	procedures, tests, recends, or reports used in	deciding to property this processes.
	et your child's individual education needs, this :	
areas checked by the local or	docation arency (LEA)(dotrict, Texts and proce	darcs conducted purposed to these assessments
include, but are not limited t	in, classroom observations, rating scales, intervi	ews, record services, one-on-one testing, or some
other types or combinations	of tots.	
Evaluation Area		Examiner Title
	here assessments measure reading, spelling,	
	many shifts, and or experied harwholes.	
	and toning is gathered to determine how	
your child's health affacts scho-		
	These assessments measure how well your	
shill bide, remembers, and re-		
	write measure eterruphs and weaknesses in	
processing information.	and the second s	
Contraction of Contraction	deation Development - These assessments	
persona your chief a chieve to	independent of the language and speak clearly	
and appropriately.		
	a suscenaria manage bow well your child	
	a small and large mascle activities. Perceptual	
and or elevated shifts may also	he meaned	
	promote will indicate how your shift fach	
	ith others, takes care of personal needs at home,	
school and in the community.		
	assessments indicate how your child takes care	
of personal needs at home, who		
	- These assessments relate to training, education,	
employment and where appropri-		
Other (Describe area of any		
	sment - (Describe abcruative methods of	
manning the child, if applicable	States - Location states are selected at	
Pannis Guedans have pret	tections under state and fisheral procedural safeg IL SAFEGUARDS for an explanation of these t	sand provincess. Please refer to the enclosed
	action and an edgenal please contact.	tion, if you would nee forther dealerships and
District Contact	Peaking	Plana
	Position	Plana
District Contact: Ernal Address:		
District Contact Email Address:	NED BEFORE ASSESSMENT CAN BEED OW	
District Contact: Email Address: THIS FORM MUST BE SHO Please check the following its	NED BEFORE ASSESSMENT CAN BEGIN (See m., is appropriate.	statement of Notice of Procedural Subguards)
District Contact Frencil Address: THES FORM MEST BE SAGE Please check the following its	NED BEFORE AMENAMENT CAN BEER (her	statement of Notice of Procedural Safeguards)
District Contact Frank Address: THIS FORM MEST BE SOL Please check the following its I give informed consult for) understand: 1) that the results of	NLD BEFORE ASSESSMENT CAN BEGIN (for m, m appropriate, m; data,	statement of Notice of Procedural Saleguards) the assumed according to the Assument Plan above to them at an Individualized Education Program Ter
District Context: Erenil Address: THES FORM MEST BE SAC Please check the following its orderstand: 1) that the routine understand: 2) that to expect	NED BEFORE AMENAMENT CAN BEER (her	statement of Notice of Procedural Saleguards) the assumed according to the Assument Plan above to them at an Individualized Education Program Ter
District Contact Frend Address: THIS FORM MEST BE SEC Please check the following like "I give informat consust for a sudentsed: 1) that the results o meeting, and 2) that to special presens hearing officer.	NED REFORE AMEXIMENT CAN RECEN (hose ma to appropriate. 	statement of Notice of Procedural Subgrands) the assumed according to the Assumption Plan above to them at an Individualized Education Program Ten
District Contact Enail Address THIS FORM MUST BE SM2 Please check the following its of give informat consent for a understand. 1) that the reach or moreing, and 2, that no special process hearing efficat. DI days consent to conduct th	NED BEFORE ASSESSMENT CAN BEGIN (her ms, as appropriate, as dalar, all be endlowed, and that I will be invited to dece electrical assessment or service will be provided will as seconsent doctried above.	statement of Notice of Procedural Sologuards) In amound according to the Accession Plan above when at an Individualized Education Program Tes boat my written permission soloso ordered by due
District Contact: Encol Address: THES FORM MEST RESOL Please check the following its orderstand: 1) that the resolution meetings and 2) that to special process hearing offlow. Il days constant to conduct the statement to conduct the	NED REFORE AMEXIMENT CAN RECEN (hose ma to appropriate. 	statement of Notice of Procedural Sologuards) In amound according to the Accession Plan above when at an Individualized Education Program Tes boat my written permission soloso ordered by due
District Contact: Encol Address: THES FORM MEST RESOL Please check the following its orderstand: 1) that the resolution meetings and 2) that to special process hearing offlow. Il days constant to conduct the statement to conduct the	NED BEFORE ASSESSMENT CAN BEGEN (been on a paperspectral, are shall be confident assessment as a pro- shall be confident assessment as arrive will be provided wi assessment described above, as meconsent described above, as an plan bielen Lyss approval. Home Plane: (statement of Notice of Procedural Sologuards) In amound according to the Accession Plan above when at an Individualized Education Program Tes boat my written permission soloso ordered by due
District Contact: Final Address: THES FORM NEXT BE SIG Please check the following its understand. 1) that the resolution understand. 2) that the resolution proves baseing office. 1) days constant to contact the 11 days constant to contact 10 days constant to contact 11 days constant to contact 11 prefer to discuss the assess Parent Constitution Multi Studie	NED BEFORE ASSESSMENT CAN BEGIN the ms is appropriate. 	statement of Notice of Procedural Subgrands) to annual descripting to the Assessment Fite above these are a high-balander Education Fragmen Ten boot any written permission values ordered by dar) - Weak Plenz: () - Barc
Datist Contact Femil Address THE FORM MENT BE SHO Proceedings of the second indextand (1) that the reads v indextand (1) tha	NE DEFORT ASSESSMENT CAN RECEN (be me, or appropriate,, v. v. sep data, the confidential, and that I will be invited to check document and excluded also etc. mean plan before I give approval. Home Plane: (mit Signature	statement of Notice of Procedural Subgrands) Is assessed according to the Assessment Phagen Ten thost any written promission subco-related by due) - Work Plance () - Banc
Datist Contact Femil Address THE FORM MENT BE SHO Proceedings of the second indextand (1) that the reads v indextand (1) tha	NED BEFORE ASSESSMENT CAN BEGIN the ms is appropriate. 	statement of Netice of Procedural Schegarsh) Ne anomal according to the Associated These how- the anomal according to the Associated These in Progens Teods are written pominism solution advant by dat) - Work Plane: () - Bare:
District Contact: Femal Address: THES FORM MENT BE SHOP Proceedings of the second indextood () that the resolve membrane and () that the resolve membrane and () that the resolve of the second () of the second process baseling of the () profers to decises the answer Promet Coardinal Adult Stadie () Profers to decises the answer Promet Coardinal Adult Stadie () PAPELCARED (CONSEN) LEA and/or EPP scan for service	NTE REFORE AMENNENT CAN BEAD years on an appropriate. (1) (1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(statement of Notice of Procedural Subgrands) Is assessed according to the Assessment Phagen Ten thost any written promission subco-related by due) - Work Plance () - Banc
District Constant Firmil Addresses THES FORM SELST BE SIGE Firme check the Indening Inte They indening the Indening Inte Internet Constant Internet in the meeting and 25 that is to special addresses I being efficient. I days constant to conduct the Internet Constrained Internet Internet Parent Constrained Internet Internet Parent Constrained Internet Internet Parent Constrained Internet Internet Parent Constrained Internet Parent Constrained Internet Parent Constrained Internet	NED REFORE AMESSMENT CAN BEAM (here me, ne propriedu). 30 (dd.). 40 (dd.). 41 (dd.). 4	statement of Notice of Prescherd Natiguashly 1 searned a standard go day Assessment Para days 1 searned a standard go day Assessment Para days boot ity writing permission states or strong by day) - Note Planci () -
District Constants Firmel Addresses THES FORM MILT BE SACE THES FORM MILT BE SACE THES INFORMATION OF A SACE THESE ADDRESS AND A SACE INFORMATION OF A SACE INFORMATION OF A SACE THESE ADDRESS AND A SACE THESE ADDRESS ANDRESS AND A SACE THESE ADDRESS AND A SACE THESE	NTE REFORE AMENNENT CAN BEAD years on an appropriate. (1) (1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(1)(statement of Notice of Prescherd Natiguashly 1 searned a standard go day Assessment Para days 1 searned a standard go day Assessment Para days boot ity writing permission states or strong by day) - Note Planci () -
Derivat Constant Terral Addresses TERN FORM NUMP BLANG Plana check the following its □ give informat consumption 1 days constant to conduct the 1 days constant to conduct the 1 days constant to conduct the 1 days constant to conduct the Plana to the terral terral for any terral Constant Addit Stade (IF APPLIC ADD 1 DOSSEN TEA and ter 27 hans for anyto Plana Chandrad Addit Stade Plana Chandrad Addit Stade Plana Chandrad Addit Stade Plana Chandrad Stade Stade	NED REFORE AMESSMENT CAN BEAM (here me, ne propriedu). 30 (dd.). 40 (dd.). 41 (dd.). 4	statement of Nesis of Procedured Sologarship to ensume a scientific to the Assessment Prace there to the series and biobiobaland of Adocsino Program Ten- tors by version pointena science studies y the y - Nork Prace: () - () - Nork Prace: () - brow: — Desc. — De

What and When?

The Assessment Plan (EV-9) is a document on which a parent or guardian consent to student assessment(s). The EV-9 must be provided to parents or caregivers for signing within 15 days of a request for additional support. When the Local Education Agency (LEA) receives the EV-9 with a consenting signature, the IEP team has 60 days to conduct the assessment and hold an IEP team meeting to review the results and recommendations.

Assessment Plan - EV-9

Why?

Federal and state law require parental or guardian consent to assess students for the purposes of determining appropriate specialized IEP services. This includes any assessment to determine if additional support is necessary to meet the student's IEP goals and achieve educational benefit.

How?

The entire Assessment Plan (EV-9) must be filled out in the WebIEP system. The box titled "Other" is checked, and the assessment is described as *Additional Support Assessment*. The examiner's title is then added. Appropriate examiner staff may include psychologists, program specialists, behavior specialists, and others with the skills to conduct such assessments. In the following example from WebIEP (figure 1), the Additional Support Assessment will be conducted by a school psychologist:

Other		
Purpose: (Describe area of assessment)		
Additional Support Assessment		
Spanish Translation:		
2 - 22 - 2007 A.B.		
Examiner Title(s):		
Occupational Therapist	Adapted PE Teacher	Counselor
Early Start Service Coordinator	Hearing Specialist	Nurse
Orientation & Mobility Specialist	Orthopedic Impairment	Physical Therapist
 Orientation & Mobility Specialist 		
Contentation & Mobility Specialist	Specialist	Program Specialist
Resource Specialist		 Program Specialist Special Education Teacher

Figure 1: Screen from EV-9 of WebIEP

STEP 2: Distribute Forms to Teacher

Form A: Additional Support Rubric for School

		Additional Support Rubric fo	or School Staff (Form A)	
Student:		DOB	School:	Dute:
Name/tible of staff fill	ng out this form:			
irections: For each horizo	initial raw, circle the description th	at best describes the student. Use the follo	cwing kny.	
D+ No concerns	1+ Mit concerns	2= Mild to moderate concerns	3= Maderate to severe concerns	4+ Severe concerns
		Health and Pers	onal Care	
 General good health. Ha problems tering care of personal resolutes appropriate for age. 	 Mild or occasional health concerns, Alergies or other elevenic health conditions: May need vortal nerrinders to somplice ap- appropriate personal care. 	 Chronic Issuth concerns. Needs and iterate with health care needs, Needs we had reminders and other prompts to complete age appropriate personal care (i.e., waiting hands, using the restaury, wiping much). May have occurrent ordering acceleris. 	3. Specialized teachs care proceeders. Limited readility and/or physicallimitations requiring questialised assists eas/regiment (stander, outline, gold trainer, shearshine, arc.). Stock- physical assistsmess with frequently, and/or personal needs.	4. Very Specialized hearts care procedures by special (cristed start) (i.e., di-size, tracherosom, catherersback), Elverg pyrioid assistance with receip years of size tasks, House divert 3.5 amittances for the respirity of the day.
	a de la compañía de l	Dehavis	7	
 No behavior concerni. Holious directions without insepart rank seleni. Sociations well. 	 Semerimes needs prompts to follow directions and socialize. Only necessariant relia coefficies with poor or ytaff. 	 Has problems following directions but can be managed successfully with behavior goals and/or a behavior intervention plan. 	 Service problem behaviors that occur regularly. May be physically appreciate to self or others: Regulars a Balance Intervention Plan and dear supervision for safety. 	4. Serious daily behavior problems with potential input to self and others. May single, A BP is being inspiratemented with highly and ratef has been trained in orisis reareageneet, Requires share what approxime and times to keep self and others take.
		Instruction	en.	
 Participates is whole data i subaction with flex or ne sentimient. Stays on task. 	 Participates in groups at instructional least with some prompts and for reinforcement to day anitalis. 	 Difficulty participating in whele class instruction. Requires small groups and foregasting tempts and the minimum and Requires frequent redinating. 	 Definitive participating in a large group. Requires four tablemblaff ratio, does processly, hexagour prompts, and using tables tableges and adaptations net typical for setting or age. 	 Needs constant 21 support for group participation. Requires constant we had and physical presents. Needs 1: interactional strategies to lowelly. Requires significant accommodations and modifications out typical for artifling engin.
		Inclusio		
 Participates is general education with feat readifications. Transitions independently and sociations well. 	 Participates is gen edia/th accommodations and modifications, Occasional ner index to finish servit, transition, and interact socially with opens. 	 Participates in gen ed with visual tra pertulant and occasional within perspec- ficiency of the second statement of the second statement baseds recollications and accommodations. Socialization consult was required adult havin. 	 Been not participate in period without utal' in class procintly for direct instruction, safety, mobility, or behavior metricing. Requires staff to facilitate social instruction. Difficulty following union rectifives and schedules. Needs transfere support. 	 Participation is goved may require additional staff for divert instructional and antimation support. Reception of their supervision from class to class. Always requires insufficient and a accommodations. Rawly university.

What?

The *Additional Support Rubric for School Staff (Form A)* is a rubric designed to rate the student's need for support in the four areas of Health and Personal Care, Behavior, Instruction, and Inclusion. The rubric is typically filled out by the student's teacher(s), but other relevant staff may also be asked to provide input. Although the form contains instructions, it may be helpful if the evaluator reviews the instructions with the teacher or other school staff when distributing it.

When?

After obtaining parental/guardian consent for assessment in step 1, the evaluator provides the student's teacher and any relevant school staff with various forms (see step 2, page 2), including the *Additional Support Rubric for School Staff (Form A)* and establishes a timeline for its completion. In addition to the teacher(s), relevant school staff may include medical/health staff, related service providers, and others who have knowledge of the student's referral needs.

Why?

The teacher and other relevant school staff have unique day-to-day knowledge about the student's functioning in the educational setting. The *Additional Support Rubric for School Staff (Form A)* provides a structured way for teachers and other staff to rate the student's needs in the four assessments areas of 1) Health and Personal Care, 2) Behavior, 3) Instruction, and 4) Inclusion. This ensures all areas of need are considered.

How?

The Additional Support Rubric for School Staff (Form A) consists of four rows with each corresponding to one of the four assessment areas listed above. Each assessment area is rated on a scale of 0 to 4 with 0 = No Concerns, 1 = Mild Concerns, 2 = Mild to Moderate Concerns, 3 = Moderate to Severe Concerns, and 4 = Severe Concerns. The rating which best describes the student is circled in each assessment area. In the following example (figure 2), the teacher has rated the student with no concerns (0) in the area of Health and Personal Care, mild concerns (1) in the area of Behavior, mild to moderate concerns (2) in the area of Instruction, and mild to moderate concerns (2) in the area of Inclusion.

Health and Personal Care							
0. Generating and health. No problems taking care of personal needs as appropriate for age.	 Mild or occasional health concerns. All ergies or other chronic health conditions. May need werbal reminders to complete age-appropriate personal care. 	 Chronic health concerns. Needs assistance with health care needs. Needs verbal reminders and other prompts to complete age-appropriate personal care (i.e., washing hands, using the restroorn, wiping mouth). May have occasional toileting accidents. 	3. Specialized health care procedures. Limited mobility and/or physical limitations requiring specialized assistance/equipment (stander, walker, gait trainer, wheelchair, etc.). Needs some physical assistance with feeding, toileting, and/or personal needs.	4. Very Specialized health care procedures by specially tracheotomy, tracheotomy, cathererization). Direct physical assistance with most personal care tasks. Needs direct 1:1 assistance throughout the day.			
		Behavior					
 No behavior concerns. Follows directions without frequent reminders. Socializes well. 	 Somerittee meeds prompts to follow directions and socialitie. Only occasional mild conflicts with peer or staff. 	2. Has problems following directions but can be managed successfully with IEP behavior goals and/or a behavior intervention plan.	3. Problem behaviors occur every week, but rarely every day. Behavior Intervention Plan is implemented. Most problem behaviors happen during specific predictable times or activities and require close supervision. May be physically aggressive to self or others.	4. Serious daily behavior problems with potential injury to self and others. May elope. A Behavior Intervention Plan is being implemented and staff has been trained in crisis management. Requires dose visual supervision at al times to keep self and others safe.			
	Instruction						
 Participates successfully in all whole class instruction at instructional level. Stays on task with no problem. 	 Participates in all whole class at instructional level with few prompts and/or reinforcement to stay on task. 	 Participates in whole class instruction with frequent prompts and reinforcement. Requires frequent redirecting to stay on task. Participates in group instruction with few prompts. 	3. Participates in preferred whole and group instruction with frequent prompts and individualized reinforcement. Requires low student/staff ratio, close presimity, constant prompts, and unique strategies during non- preferred or difficult instruction.	4. Needs constant individual support for whole and group participation. Requires constant prompts throughout the day. Needs individual instructional strategies to benefit. Requires significant accommodations and modifications not typical for setting or age.			
Inclusion							
0. Participates in general education with few modifications. Transitions independently and socializes well.	 Participates in gen ed with accommodations and modifications. Occasional reminders to finish work, transition, and interact socially with peers. 	 Participates in gen ed with visual supervision and occasional verbal proprists. Requires visual shadowing to transition. Needs modifications and accommodations. Socialization sometimes requires adult help. 	3. Does not participate in gen ed without classroom staff in close proximity during some specific and/or predictable activities to support instruction, ensure safety and behavior monitoring. Requires staff to support social interactions and transitions.	4. Participation in gen ed requires additional staff in close proximity for individual direct instructional, behavioral, and social support throughout the day. Requires adult direct supervision from class to class. Always requires modifications and accommodations. Requires supervision for safety throughout the day.			

Figure 2: Form A

STEP 2: Distribute Forms to Teachers

Form B: Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale



What and When?

The *Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale (Form B)* is used to rate the student's behavior compared to peers. After obtaining parental/guardian consent for assessment in step 1, the evaluator provides the student's teacher with various forms (see step 2, page 2), including the *Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale (Form B) and* establishes a timeline for its completion.

Form B

Why?

To determine possible supports, it is helpful to discover how the student is functioning in comparison to peers in the same setting. If the student is struggling relative to peers, different or additional supports may be needed.

How?

The *Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale (Form B)* is filled out by the teacher(s) and consists of a list of behaviors with a corresponding key for rating. Each behavior is rated on a scale of one to four with 1 = not a problem, 2 = a mild problem less than 29% of the time, 3 = a problem 30-69% of the time, and 4 = a significant problem 70-100% of the time. The percentages are approximations. The ratings below in figure 3 indicate the student has difficulty attempting and completing tasks. Moreover, there is difficulty working independently and using non-task time appropriately. Once the teacher has completed the form, the evaluator will pay particular attention to scores of 3 or 4, which may indicate a need for different or additional support.

1	2	3	4
No Problem	A mild problem less than 29% of the time	A problem 30-69% of the time	A significant problem 70-100% of the time

Compared to most peers in the class, this student:					
Rating	Behavior	Rating	Behavior		
3	Attempts assigned tasks	3	Works independently for appropriate time		
4	Completes tasks	2	Uses non-task time appropriately		

Figure 3: Form B

STEP 2: Distribute Forms to Teacher

Form C: Student's Progress on Goals

Progress on Goals Goal number Goal Component Targeted Mastery					
Ocal number	ObjA	Obj B	Overall	Met	Not Me
Notes:					
Notes:					
Notes					
Notes:					
Notes:					
Notes:					
Notes:					
Notes:					
Notes:					

What and When?

The *Student's Progress on Goals (Form C)* is used to determine if a student is progressing in the educational setting. After obtaining parental/guardian consent for assessment in step 1, the evaluator provides the student's teacher and any relevant school staff with various forms (see step 2, page 2), including the *Student's Progress on Goals (Form C)* and establishes a timeline for its completion. In addition to teacher(s), relevant school staff may include related service providers and others who write and implement IEP goals.

Form C

Why?

In order to make an informed, accurate, and defensible decision about current functioning and needs, it is imperative to review data on progress towards IEP goals.

How?

Referring to current progress data, the teacher or service provider fills out the *Student's Progress on Goals* (*Form C*). In figure 4 below, the teacher is reporting progress on objective B of goal number 1.

Student		Teacher		IEP date			
Progress on Goals							
Goal number	Goal Component Currently Targeting (check one)			Progress Noted on This Goal Component?			
	Obj A	Obj B	Overall	yes	no		
1		Х		Х			

Figure 4: Form C

STEP 3: Conduct Interviews

Form D: Teacher/School Staff Interview



What and When?

The *Teacher/School Staff Interview (Form D)* is used to verify previously collected information and get additional input from the student's teacher and/or relevant school staff. After step 2 has been completed and the evaluator has received the *Additional Support Rubric (Form A)*, the *Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale (form B)*, and the *Student's Progress on Goals (Form C)*, it is time to schedule an interview with the teacher and other school staff when applicable.

Form D

Why?

The teacher and school staff typically spend the most time with the student and are therefore in a unique position to provide relevant information on current functioning and needs. The *Teacher/School Staff Interview (Form D)* provides an opportunity for the evaluator to obtain additional knowledge and formulate clarifying questions about
information provided on previous forms. Moreover, it is an opportunity for the teacher or school staff to ask their own questions about the process.

How?

The evaluator schedules the interview on a date and time convenient to all parties. The interview is best conducted either in-person, virtually, or by telephone. The *Teacher/School Staff Interview (Form D)* is available in a fillable PDF.

STEP 3: Conduct Interviews

Form E: Parent/Guardian Interview

		UPPORT ASSESSME			
1 '		upport Assessme ardian Interview (Fo			
PStudient.	T then you	Date	in cy		-
Name DOB					
DOB		Time			
Interviewer		Person			-
		Interviewed			
					_
		ort, what are your though			
		ort, what are your though the past? Were they suc		Soco	esstu
				Sato	essfo Ni
What supports have you				Suco	essful No
What supports have you				Soco Yes	ess?u
What supports have you Support	r child received in		asatu?	Succ. Yes	essful

Form E

Why?

What and When?

The *Parent/Guardian Interview (Form E)* is used to conduct a structured interview with the parent or guardian. After step 2 is complete and the evaluator has received

- the Additional Support Rubric (Form A)
- the Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale (form B) and
- the Student's Progress on Goals (Form C)

it is time to obtain information from the student's parent or guardian through the interview process. It is important the forms above are completed and returned to the evaluator before engaging in the interview process. This is because the information on these forms is analyzed and probed further during the interview.

Federal Law requires the use of a variety of assessment tools and strategies to gather relevant, functional, developmental, and academic information about the child, *including information provided by the parent* (20 U.S.C. 1400 (c) (5) and (d)). Parents know their children better than anyone and are essential members of the IEP team.

How?

It is best practice to conduct the parent interview via phone, virtually, or in person. When conducted in this manner, the evaluator can obtain additional information or clarify and expand on questions and answers. If the parent is unavailable, the evaluator may send home the questionnaire with instructions to return it within a given time frame. The *Parent/Guardian Interview (Form E)* is available in both English and Spanish as needed. It is also available in a fillable PDF.

STEP 3: Conduct Interviews

Form F: Student Interview

	Student Interview (Form F)
Student Name:	Date of Sinh:
interviewer:	Date of interview:
What do you like best about solv	neci?
Do you have any difficulties at a	cheo? If yes, during what part of the day ido they happen? Whe
around you and what are you do	ping? What is the class doing?
What have services under your have a	difficial sharing?
What happens when you have a	difficult situation?
What happens when you have a	diffout shadon?
What happens when you have a	diffect shadon?
What happens when you have a What do you try to do to make t	

What and When?

The *Student Interview (Form F)* is used to conduct a structured interview with the student when feasible. After step 2 has been completed and the evaluator has received the *Additional Support Rubric (Form A)*, the *Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale (form B)*, and the *Student's Progress on Goals (Form C)*, it is time to schedule an interview with the student when appropriate and feasible.

Form F

Why?

The student interview is an opportunity for the student to share their school experience. Questions prompt the student to reflect on their likes, dislikes, strengths, weaknesses, how they use their own strategies to succeed, what staff is currently doing to help, and how that help is working. This information can assist the team in identifying supports which are acceptable to the student.

How?

The evaluator determines if an interview is feasible based on the student's unique circumstances, communication skills, age or developmental level. When an interview is possible, it is important to establish rapport and trust before beginning the process. The *Student Interview (Form F)* is available in a fillable PDF.

STEP 4: Arrange Data Collection by Classroom Staff if Applicable

Form G: Frequency Data Sheet



Form G1

What and When?

The *Frequency Data Sheet (Form G1)* is used to collect data on how often a student engages in a behavior. After conducting interviews, the evaluator is knowledgeable about the student concerns. If daily specific and objective data is needed over a period of time, the evaluator may decide to arrange for data to be collected by classroom staff.

Why?

Data collection by classroom staff over a period of days may provide a more complete picture of the various dimensions of the behavior(s) of concern. Knowing how often the behaviors are occurring, and whether there is an increase or decrease in positive behaviors or challenging behaviors, can assist the team in determining the need for additional support.

How?

The *Frequency Data Sheet (Form G1)* is arranged in a table to allow for quick data entry during instruction. The behavior identified for change is defined in the second row. For each date, staff places a frequency check in the corresponding row of boxes every time the behavior occurs. At the end of the observation period on the given date, the checks are added to determine the total number of behaviors in the "total checks" column. If relevant, a daily or weekly average can also be calculated. To calculate the *average number of behaviors per <u>day</u>*, add the numbers in the "Total Checks" column to calculate a grand total. Divide the grand total by the number of days during which data were collected. If the *average number of behaviors per <u>week</u>* is desired, divide the grand total by the number of weeks during which data were collected. In figure 5 on the following page, the evaluator is documenting how often a student is leaving his seat and wandering around in the classroom. The student emitted a grand total of 18 occurrences of the target behavior during 5 days of data collection. The average number of target behaviors per day was calculated at 3.6 behaviors per day by dividing the grand total (18) by the number of days during which data were collected (5).



Figure 5: Form G1

STEP 4: Arrange Data Collection by Classroom Staff if Applicable

Form G2: Frequency of Prompting Data Sheet



Form G2

Why?

What and When?

The *Frequency of Prompting Data Sheet (Form G2)* is used to collect data on how often a student needs various types of prompts. After conducting interviews, the evaluator is knowledgeable about the student concerns and can decide if more specific information is needed. If daily and objective data is warranted over a period of time, the evaluator may decide to arrange for data to be collected by classroom staff.

Data collection by classroom staff over a period of days may provide a more complete picture of the student's needs for assistance. Knowing how often various prompts are provided can assist the team in determining the need for additional support.

How?

The frequency of Prompting Data Sheet (Form G2) is arranged in a table to allow for quick data entry during instruction. The top row is used to enter identifying student information. A key, which identifies each prompt, is located beneath the top row. The date of data collection is noted in column 1. Next, the starting and end time of the data collection period are entered in columns 2 and 3. The specific activity or lesson is written in column 4. Columns 5-12 are used to enter a tally under the applicable prompt each time it is given. The sum or total number of prompts given during the activity is noted in the last column. The bottom row is used to record the sum or total number of each individual prompt as well as the total number of all combined prompts throughout all data collection dates. An example is displayed in figure 6 on the next page.

Student:			DOB:		Teacher:			Setting:				
Prompting Key →	G Gestural	V Visual	M Model	VB Verbal	P	PP art Physica	I	Full	FP Physical		0 Othe	er
Date	Ti	me	Act	ivity				Frequency	/ Tallies			
Date	From	to		ivity	G	v	м	VB	PP	FP	0	Total
11-12- 21	10:15	11:15	multip	ath: lication sheet	111 111		11					16
11-13- 21	10:15	11:15	indepe	ath endent ork	//	//	/	111				11
11-14- 21	8:30	9:00		g ready urnaling	//	/		111				8
Notes:			1		Total: 10	Total: 3	Total: 3	Total: 19	Total:	Total:	Total:	Grand Total: 35

Figure 6: Form G2

STEP 4: Arrange Data Collection by Classroom Staff if Applicable

Form H: Duration Data Sheet



What and When?

The *Duration Data (Form H)* is used to collect data on how long a student engages in a behavior. After conducting interviews, the evaluator is knowledgeable about the student concerns. If more specific and objective daily information is needed over a period of time, the evaluator may decide to arrange for data to be collected by classroom staff.

Form H

Why?

Data collection by classroom staff over a period of days may provide a more complete picture of the various dimensions of the behaviors of concern. Moreover, such information can assist with the generation of baseline data and the formulation of objectives and annual goals. Data collection by classroom staff may also capture infrequent behaviors or those not observed during the specific times the evaluator conducts a student observation. Some behaviors occur at very high rates or very closely together. As such, it may be difficult to obtain a reliable frequency count. Examples might include screaming or wandering around in the classroom. These behaviors starts and ends. This method of data collection helps the evaluator determine how long the target behavior lasts and if the duration is decreasing, increasing, or staying the same over time.

How?

Begin by indicating the date of the observation in the first column. Using a time measuring device (stopwatch, phone, clock, etc.), write the time the behavior starts in the second column. Write the ending time when the behavior stops in the third column. Document the total amount of time the behavior occurred from start to finish in the fourth column. In figure 7 on the next page, the staff is measuring the length of time Jason is out of his seat during instruction. The staff recorded 5 instances of the target behavior. The duration of each behavior was recorded in the "Duration of Behavior" column, and the total duration of all behaviors was calculated by adding all numbers in the column and recording the sum at the bottom of the column (73 minutes). Finally, the average duration of each behavior was derived by dividing the total duration of all behaviors (73 minutes) by the total number of behaviors (5). In figure 7, the student was out of his seat for an average of 14.6 minutes during the time the data were collected.

Student:		DOB:	Teacher:		Setting:	
Jason Friday		07/24/2014	Simmo	ns	Classroom instruction and small grou	n
Juson mudy		07/24/2014	511110	15	tables	٢
			r	Description of Behavior	tables	
				escription of behavior		
Jason leaves	his assigned	area (seat, sma	all group table	, carpet, line) and wande	ers around the classroom	
			- · ·			
Date	Time behavior	Time behavior	Duration of	Notes		Initials
	began	ended	behavior			
02/17/2020	0.50	9:02	9 minutes			
02/17/2020	6:55	9:02	9 minutes			
02/17/2020	11:15	11:35	20 minutes			
02/17/2020	11.15	11.55	20 minutes			
02/18/2020	8:20	8:32	12 minutes			
02/16/2020	0.20	0.52	12 minutes			+
02/18/2020	9:29	9:53	24 minutes			
02/10/2020	5.25	5.55	24 minutes			
02/18/2020	12.15	12:23	8 minutes			
02/10/2020	12.15	12.23	Total Duration:		Calculate average duration ↓	<u> </u>
			. etar baración.			
			73 minutes	Total duration divided by total n	umber of benaviors =	
/				14.6 minutes average du	Iration	
<u></u>	/	/		·		

Figure 7: Form H

STEP 4: Arrange Data Collection by Classroom Staff if Applicable

Form I: Scatterplot Data Sheet





Why?

What and When?

The *Scatterplot Data Sheet (Form I)* is a data collection method designed to discover the frequency and any patterns between a behavior and certain time periods during the day. After conducting interviews, the evaluator is knowledgeable about the student concerns. If more specific, daily, and objective information is needed over a period of time, the evaluator may decide to arrange for data to be collected by classroom staff.

Data collection by classroom staff over a period of days may provide a more complete picture of the various dimensions of the behaviors of concern. Moreover, such information can assist with the generation of baseline data and the formulation of objectives and annual goals. Data collection by classroom staff may also capture infrequent behaviors or those not observed during the specific times the evaluator conducts a student observation. Scatterplot data give staff a quick visual of how often and during which time slots a behavior occurs. This is important to discover, because certain activities or times of day may be associated with problem behaviors. Knowing this, the staff may be able to change the environment or schedule to prevent problem behaviors or gain a better understanding of when additional support may be indicated.

How?

The target behavior is written in the "Key Section" on top of Form I. This section has room for three different behaviors if needed, represented by the letters A, B, and C. To simplify directions, only two behaviors are being measured in Figure 8 on the next page. The definitions of the behaviors are written adjacent to the corresponding letters. Next, the data collection dates are added to each of the five columns in the table, which represent the five school days of the week. The table is divided into 15-minute time slots throughout the day from 7:30 in the morning to 3:30 in the afternoon. As an example, when the student exhibits behavior A, the letter "A" is written in the cell that corresponds to the correct date and time interval. In figure 8, the student hit peers or staff on Monday, September 12, at least once during the time frame from 8:00 - 8:15, and again within the time frame from 8:30 - 8:45. Hitting also occurred later in the morning and afternoon on Monday. Spitting occurred at least once during the week, but only on Monday in the time frame from 8:30 - 8:45. Student absences are indicated by drawing a vertical line through the time slots as shown in the example for Friday. If no target behaviors occur at all on a given day, indicate this by writing *no problem behavior* down the appropriate date column as shown for Wednesday. At the end of the week the behavioral events are analyzed for patterns. The scatterplot in figure 8 below indicates the student hits mainly during the morning. This is important to know as additional support should be considered only when they are needed.

The number of behaviors per day or week can be calculated by adding the As, Bs, and Cs for each day and writing the sums in the bottom row as shown in the example.

Time ↓	Mon	9/12	2	Tues	9/13	ļ į	We	d 9/1	4	Thur	s 9/15	5	Fri S	9 /16	
7:30															
7:45														,	
8:00		Α			Α										
8:30		A B									Α				
8:45					Α										
9:00															
9:15															
9:30															
9:45															
10:00								'							
10:15									2						
10:30								0)						
10:45															
11:00								τ	3						
11:15									5						
11:30									<u> </u>						
11:45									<u> </u>						
12:00								(<u> </u>						
12:15									3						
12:30															
12:45									<u> </u>						
1:00								0	2						
1:15									2						
1:30		Α						0	2						
1:45															
2:00		Α						<u>c</u>	2						
2:15									۰						
2:30															
2:45															
3:00														1	
3:15	-														
3:30	-							_							
Behaviors	A	В	с	A	В	с	A	В	с	A	в	С	A	В	с
Totals	4	1		2						1					

Figure 8: Form I

STEP 4: Arrange Data Collection by Classroom Staff if Applicable

Form J: Latency Data sheet

			SELPA				
			SUPPORT ASSES		(ASA)		
1							
This data at cleanners a	wet measures the elique heff or use during a sta	ed duration from left observation.	e staff direction to the i	utiation a	é a cladiné respo	nan. Prawide a	ару
Studers:		008			Incha-		
Setting		Oserver	if spaticities		Date of observ	ntion (17 spoli	-
	The factor					_	
Char a	that describe		Tana dan ina puny	Tene as	int repairs	Literary	-
19.840				· · ·			
0.44	tool descript		Terre direction gives			Literry	1.4
0.44	Stat descine		Time devices gives	200.00	and a ganded	Lifewy	1
76 Arc							-
0.4*	Staf descine		Teu destilo por	Tere de	dant responded	Lifewy	14
No. Marci							
0	test describe		Teru denzia puro	Time as	ins reported	Literary	14
							Т
New .							_
0.44	teal descine		Terus direction gives	-Time ex	dant rangemented	Literary	1.4
							Т
200							
				_			_
Sec.							
East Vollay 8	Inter a linear						



Why?

What and When?

The *Latency Data Sheet (Form J)* is used to determine the time elapsed from a directive to a student response, or how long it takes for a student to initiate a response to a directive. After conducting interviews, the evaluator is knowledgeable about the student concerns. If more specific, daily, and objective information is needed over a period of time, the evaluator may decide to arrange for data to be collected by classroom staff.

Data collection by classroom staff over a period of days may provide a more complete picture of the various dimensions of the behaviors of concern. Such information also assists with the generation of baseline data and the formulation of objectives and annual goals. Data collection by classroom staff may also capture infrequent behaviors or those not observed during the specific times the evaluator conducts a student observation. Latency data can discover how long it takes for a student to respond or if the amount of time between a directive and the initiation of the response has decreased or increased over time. This type of data is useful when measuring and analyzing the behavior of students who have difficulty responding to directives within an appropriate time frame. It can also measure the student's response to different interventions.

How?

The directive is written on Form J in the "Staff Directive" column (see figure 9 on the next page). This recording method requires an object to measure time (watch, phone, clock, etc.). The timer starts when the directive is given and stops when the student begins the response. Both times are noted on the form. In figure 9, the student was given four different directives. The total time from the demand to the student's response initiation is recorded in the latency column. The total latency is calculated by adding all the latencies in the latency column and writing the sum at the bottom of the column in the "Total Latency" cell. The average latency is calculated by dividing the total latency by the total number of directives. As illustrated in figure 9, the student responded after 8 minutes on average (32 minutes divided by 4 directives).

This data sheet measures the elapsed duration from a staff directive to the initiation of a student response. Provide a copy to classroom staff or use during a student observation.

Student:		DOB:			Teacher:		
Dora Millie		02/19/20	16		Miss Daisy		
Setting:		Observer (i	f applicable):		Grade:		
Classroom		Corie Cou	inselor		Kindergarten		
Date	Staff directive		Time directive given Time student respond			Latency	
04/26/2021	Go to your seat and s	8:30	8:38		8 minutes		
Notes:							
Date	Staff directive		Time directive given	Time stu	ident responded	Latency	
04/26/2021	Go to the carpet and your square	9:00	9:12		12 minutes		
Notes:	•						
Date	Staff directive		Time directive given	Time stu	ident responded	Latency	
04/20/2024	0	10:00	10:07		7 minutes		
04/30/2021	Go line up, standing l Lauren	benina	20.00				
Notes:		benina	20.00				
		penina	Time directive given	Time stu	ident responded	Latency	
Notes:	Lauren			Time stu 8:35	ident responded	Latency 5 minutes	
Notes: Date	Lauren Staff directive		Time directive given		ident responded		
Notes: Date 04/30/2021	Staff directive Go to your seat and s		Time directive given		ident responded		

Figure 9: Form J

Form K, Page 1: Observation & School Day Analysis





Why?

What and When?

At this stage, the evaluator has collected information from multiple team members and knows the specific needs to focus on during an observation. Classroom staff may also be collecting data if specified by the evaluator. It is now time to schedule a direct observation of the student in the educational environment. A 3-page form, the *Observation & School Day Analysis (Form K1-3)* is available for this purpose. Page 1 is used to observe elements of the educational setting, including the current teacher to student ratio, schedules, reinforcers, equipment, devices, environmental variables, accommodations, modifications, strategies, and, if relevant, how a Behavior Intervention Plan is being implemented.

It is important to consider factors in the educational setting as they may affect the student's functioning. For example, a lack of schedules or the absence of appropriate equipment might impact the ability to function independently. Simple changes or additions to the setting, such as the implementation of a more individualized reinforcement system or changing the seating arrangement, could make a positive difference.

How?

The evaluator arranges day(s) and time(s) to observe the student. Whenever possible, the evaluator observes in all relevant settings and does so in the least intrusive manner possible. If the student has difficulty in unstructured settings, an observation must be conducted during those times, including recess or lunch. Similarly, if problems are present during specific health or medical procedures, the evaluator may observe these procedures when appropriate. Some instructional times or subjects might present more problems than others. The evaluator makes plans to observe during times when problems reportedly occur. Form K1 can be printed out and written on by hand. The form is also available in a fillable PDF.

Form K, Page 2: Observation & School Day Analysis



What and When?

At this stage, the evaluator has collected information from multiple team members and knows what specific needs to focus on during an observation. Classroom staff may also be collecting data if specified by the evaluator. It is now time to schedule a direct observation of the student in the educational environment. A 3-page form, the *Observation & School Day Analysis (Form K1-3)* may be used for this purpose. Page 2 is used to observe the specific tasks required of the students in the setting, if any assistance was needed during the observation, and how it was provided.



Why?

Observing how the student performs the required tasks provides important information about the need for support. The goal is independence to the maximum extent possible. Does the student need peer support, technology, or other assistance to perform more independently? Additional supports are always considered in a hierarchy of least to most restrictive to respect and maximize the student's autonomy and independence.

How?

The evaluator arranges day(s) and time(s) to observe the student. Whenever possible, the evaluator observes in all relevant settings and does so in the least intrusive manner possible. If the student has difficulty in unstructured settings, an observation must be conducted during those times, including recess or lunch. Similarly, if problems are present during specific health or medical procedures, the evaluator may observe these procedures when appropriate. Specific instructional times or subjects might present more problems than others. The evaluator makes plans to observe during times when problems reportedly occur. Form K2 can be printed out and written on by hand. The form is also available in a fillable PDF.

Form K, Page 3: Observation & School Day Analysis



What and When?

At this stage, the evaluator has collected information from multiple team members and knows what specific needs to focus on during an observation. Classroom staff may also be collecting data if specified by the evaluator. It is now time to schedule a direct observation of the student in the educational environment. A 3-page form, the *Observation & School Day Analysis (Form K1-3)* may be used for this purpose. Page 3 is used to record any additional notes or narrative data if needed.



Why?

Narrative notes can provide valuable information that is not included on specific questionnaires. Page 3 of Form K contains space to record any additional or narrative information.

How?

The evaluator arranges days and times to observe the student. Whenever possible, the evaluator observes in all relevant settings and does so in the least intrusive manner possible. If the student has difficulty in unstructured settings, an observation must be conducted during those times, including recess or lunch. Similarly, if problems are present during specific health or medical procedures, the evaluator may observe these procedures when appropriate. Specific instructional times or subjects might present more problems than others. The evaluator makes plans to observe during times when problems reportedly occur. Form K3 can be printed out and written on by hand. The form is also available in a fillable PDF.

Form L: Time Sampling Data Sheet



What and When?

The *Time Sampling Data Sheet (Form L)* is used during a student observation if the evaluator wants to supplement observational data with information derived from time sampling. Time sampling refers to a variety of methods to record behavior at specific moments. The result is an estimate of the target behavior, expressed as the % of intervals the student engages in the target behavior.



Why?

Sometimes it is helpful to derive data from time sampling in order to estimate the rate at which a student engages in the target behavior. Time sampling data can also be used to establish baselines for goals and formulate objectives and annual targets. For example, if time sampling estimates a student's on-task behavior at 30% of intervals, an annual goal might be an increase of on-task behavior to 70% of intervals as measured by time sampling. Conversely, time sampling may also indicate a student is performing satisfactorily and that no intervention or additional support is needed.

How?

Time Sampling involves observing whether a behavior occurs or does not occur during specified time periods. Once the length of an observation session is decided, the observational time period is broken down into smaller intervals that are all equal in length. A watch, stopwatch, app, or other device is used to alert the observer to the beginning and ending of intervals. The observer calculates the % of intervals in which the behavior occurs. There are 3 distinct types of time sampling methods, including momentary, partial, and whole interval. Which one is selected, depends on the nature of the target behavior as described on the next page.

Before beginning, the evaluator fills out the top of the data sheet with the student's identifying information. The target behavior is clearly defined, and the classroom activity is noted on the form. The evaluator checks the desired type of interval recording in the appropriate box. Finally, the length of each interval is determined. In the example in figure 10, each momentary time interval has been set at 1 minute, 0 seconds.

Therefore, if 10 intervals are used, the total duration of the observation is 10 minutes. If all 30 intervals are used, the total duration of the observation is 30 minutes.

×	I				
🖾 Momentary ↓	🗆 Partial Interval ↓	🗆 Whole Interval ↓			
Score a plus (+) if behavior occurs	Score a plus (+) if behavior occurs at any	Score a plus (+) if behavior occurs throughout			
precisely when interval ends and a	point during the interval and a minus (-)	the entire interval and a minus (-) if it does not.			
minus (-) if it does not.	if it does not.				
Best for very frequent behaviors that last for longer periods of time.					
lust for longer perious of time.	and the hard to catch.	across intervals.			
Length o	f each interval: 1 minutes _	seconds			

Figure 10: Form L

Momentary Interval recording is best for very frequent behaviors that last for longer periods of time, including on-task behavior or staying in seat. The observer scores whether the behavior occurs (+) or does not occur (-) at the precise moment the interval ends. Momentary interval recording provides an estimate of a behavior rather than the documentation of every occurrence. It is easy to do, since the observer only has to attend to the student at the end of every interval. A disadvantage of this method is the tendency to underestimate a behavior. Specifically, the student may engage in the behavior throughout the interval but stop right before the end of it. Due to this, momentary interval recording should not be used with dangerous behaviors where an underestimation is problematic.

Partial Interval recording is best for low-rate behaviors that happen quickly, behaviors that are hard to catch, and behaviors for which a decrease is desired. Examples include specific aggressive behaviors to self or others. The observer scores a (+) if the behavior occurs or a (-) if it does not occur at any point during the interval. Partial interval recording provides an estimate of a behavior rather than the documentation of every occurrence.

Whole Interval recording is best for ongoing behaviors that will continue across intervals, especially behaviors targeted for an increase, including attending, writing, reading, playing, etc. It may underestimate behaviors but still provides data that can be measured and compared over time. The observer scores a (+) if the behavior occurs and *continues* throughout the entire interval and a minus (-) if it does not.

To derive the final percentage for all interval methods, the evaluator adds all plus signs, divides the sum by the total number of scored intervals, and multiplies by 100. The result is the percentage of intervals in which the behavior occurred. In the example below in figure 11, the evaluator scored the occurrence of the behavior in 4 out of 10 intervals, or in 40% of intervals ($4 \div 10 \times 100 = 40\%$).



Figure 11: Form L

Form M: Evaluator's Peer Comparison (if applicable)

<image><section-header><section-header><form><form>

Form M

Why?

What and When?

The *Evaluator's Peer Comparison Data Sheet (Form M)* is used during a student observation if the evaluator decides to supplement observational data with information derived from time sampling. Time sampling refers to a variety of methods to record behavior at specific moments. The result is an estimate of the target behavior, expressed as the % of intervals the student engages in the behavior. The *Evaluator's Peer Comparison Data Sheet (Form M)* uses time sampling to compare the student to a group of peers in the educational setting during either a 10-minute observation with each interval set at 20 seconds or a 30-minute observation with each interval set at 1 minute.

To identify student supports, it is helpful to discover how the student is functioning in comparison to peers in the same setting. If the student is struggling relative to peers, more individualized supports may be needed. The evaluator acquired peer comparison information from the teacher with the *Teacher's Peer Comparison Rating Scale (Form B)* in step two of the ASA process. This information was based on ratings of a more subjective nature. The evaluator may determine time sampling is needed to inform the team more objectively about the extent to which the student differs from peers. Such data may also assist with the establishment of baselines for goals and formulation of objectives and annual targets. If time sampling estimates a student's on-task behavior at 30 %, while the peer group performs at 70 %, the difference appears large and suggestive of a different intervention or additional support. An annual goal might be an increase of on-task behavior to a percentage that aligns closer with that of peers. Time sampling may also indicate a student is performing satisfactorily in relation to peers, and that no additional support is needed. If both the target student and peers are performing poorly, the problem may be unrelated to student factors.

How?

The evaluator obtains a stopwatch or other timing device and fills out the identifying student information on the top of the *Evaluator's Peer Comparison Data Sheet Data Sheet (Form M)*. It is then determined which peers will be observed during the observation. The evaluator can observe the whole class, same gender, table group, or other small group. The order in which the peers will be observed is decided. The evaluator selects a 10-minute or 30-minute observation period. At the very moment the interval ends, the target student is observed, and the word "Yes" is circled if the student is engaged in the target behavior. The word "No" is circled if the target student is not. The evaluator scores the target student, then immediately looks at the next peer in the established order. The sequence is continued in this fashion, cycling through the peer group to reach the end of the observation. Percentages for the student and peers are calculated. In the following example (figure 12), the target behavior of being on-task was observed in 9 out of 30 intervals (30%) for the target student and in 21 out of 30 intervals for the peer group (70%). The target student appears to struggle relative to peers and may possibly benefit from different or additional of support.

		1		2		3	4	1		5	6	i
Student	Yes	No	Yes	(No)	(Yes)	No	Ves	No	Yes	No	Yes	NO
Peers	Yes	No	(Yes)	No	Yes	No	(es)	No	Yes	No	(es)	No
		7		8		9	1	0		11	1	2
Student	Yes	NO	Ves	No	Yes	NO	Yes	NO	Yes	No	Yes	NO
Peers	Yes	No	Yes	NO	Ves	No	Yes	No	les	No	Yes	No
		13		14	1	15	1	.6		17	1	8
Student	Yes	(No)	Yes	NO	Yes	No	Ves	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
Peers	Yes	No	(Yes)	No	Yes	No	(Yes)	No	Ves	No	Ves	No
		19		20	1	21	2	2		23	2	4
Student	Yes	(No)	Yes	(No)	Yes	No	Ves	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
Peers	Yes	No	(Yes)	No	Yes	No	(Yes)	No	Yes	No	Yes	No
		25		26		27	2	28		29		30
Student	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	(No
Peers	Yes	No	(Yes)	No	Yes	No	(Yes)	No	Yes	No	(Yes)	No
Calculate the Student: N Peers: N		Yes inte	ervals:	_9	/30	x 100 =	30) %	s (30) an (stude (peers	nt)	ng by 100.	

Figure 12: Form M

STEP 6: Consider Supports and Generate ASA Report

Form N: Evaluator's Scoring for Support Consideration Sheet



Form N

What and When?

At this stage in the ASA process, the evaluator has completed interviews, reviewed student progress, analyzed data, and conducted one or more observations in relevant settings. It is now time to synthesize all the collected information and consider student supports. The Evaluator's Scoring for Support Consideration Sheet (Form N) assists with this task. However, all previously collected information from steps 1-5 must be considered when selecting supports.

Why?

A careful review of all collected information from steps 1-5 is necessary to ensure the selection of appropriate supports. Skipping steps or the failure to consider information from all relevant team members may result in the selection of supports which are either insufficient or too restrictive to realize the goal of maximum student independence.

How?

The evaluator carefully reviews all collected information from ASA steps 1-5 and examines the *Additional Support Rubric (Form A)* which was previously completed by the student's teacher and/or other school staff. In the following example, the teacher rated the student with a "1" in Health & Personal Care, a "3" in Behavior, a "3" in Instruction, and a "4" in Inclusion on Form A as illustrated in figure 13 below.



Figure 13: Form A with teacher's ratings

The evaluator transfers the teacher's/school staff's ratings from Form A (*Additional Support Rubric*) to Form N (*Evaluator's Scoring for Support Consideration Sheet*) as illustrated below in figure 14:

	TABLE A : Teacher/School Staff Ratings									
Area		Rating (circle)								
Health	0	(1)	2	3	4					
Behavior	0	1	2	3	4					
Instruction	0	1	2	3	4					
Inclusion	0	1	2	3	(4)					
	\downarrow	\downarrow	\checkmark	\downarrow)→					

Figure 14 : Form N. The teacher's ratings are transferred to Form N, Table A.

Next, on Form N, the evaluator matches each area's rating to its suggested supports in Table B on Form N. One or more supports can be considered for each rating within the matching support level. For example, if the teacher rated the student's need at a level 1 (mild) in the area of Health and Personal Care, several support considerations are listed in the level 1 support column in table B, Form N, as circled below in figure 15.

		Та	ble B	
Rating of 0 No concerns	Rating of 1 Mild	Rating of 2 Mild to moderate	Rating of 3 Moderate to severe	Rating of 4 Severe
Level 0 Support	Level 1 Support	Level 2 Support	Level 3 Support	Level 4 Support
Consider No additional support needed, or consider accommodations, modifications, supplementary aids, and services	Consider Accommodations, modifications, supplementary aids, and services Peer buddy support	Consider Accommodations, modifications, supplementary aids, and services Peer buddy support Develop/revise goals Develop/revise PEA/BIP Develop/revise pers. health care plan	Consider Accommodations, modifications, supplementary aids, and services Peer buddy support Develop/revise goals Develop/revise FBA/BIP Develop/revise pers. health care plan Consultation Collaboration Staff training and/or coaching "Intensive Individual Services (see table C)	Consider Accommodations, modifications, supplementary aids, and services Peer buddy support Develop or revise goals Develop/revise FBA/BIP Develop/revise pers. health care plan Consultation Collaboration Staff training and/or coaching "Intensive Individual Services (see table C)

Figure 15: Form N, Table B

Additional guidelines exist for Intensive Individual Services (1:1 aide) within the level 3 and level 4 columns. Teacher or staff ratings on Form A alone, are insufficient to assign Intensive Individual Services. Ratings within columns 3 and 4 must be supported by the information collected by the evaluator in Steps 1-5 of the ASA process. Stated differently, if the teacher's/staff's ratings suggest a need for Intensive Individual services, the information and data collected by the evaluator throughout the ASA process must demonstrate a similar need. In addition, if behavior concerns exist, behavior goals and/or a Behavior Intervention Plan must be in place prior to the consideration of Intensive Individual Services. In some cases, a time-limited aide may be assigned to implement a new Behavior Intervention Plan. The guidelines for Intensive Individual Support (1:1 aide) are summarized in figure 16 on the next page.

 Guidelines for Intensive Individual Support Scores of 3 or 4 in two or more areas are needed for Intensive Individual Services A Behavior Intervention Plan must be in place if considering Intensive Individual Services in the area of behavior The need for Intensive Individual Services must be identified by Form A and supported by the data and information collected throughout the ASA process 								
Sample Scores	Consider Intensive Individual Services?							
Two or more scores of 3 and no scores of 4	Consider Partial day							
One or more scores of 3 and one score of 4	Consider Partial or Full day							
Two or more scores of 4, with or without scores of 3	Consider Full day							

Figure 16: Criteria for Intensive Individual Support

The additional guidelines for Intensive Individual Services are also summarized in Table C on Form N. When Intensive Individual Services are suggested in Table B/Form N, the evaluator refers to Table C/Form N to review whether a partial or full-day aide is indicated. The arrow in figure 17 below is pointing to the location of Table C/Form N:

					008	
1. Dontes						
	tor circl	as the natings in Table A before a		kaleis för School Staff e matching supports level in Table & betom (addition <u>na arvas</u> , Refer to Table C below to determine whet		
1000000	3. C			School Staff Ratings		
Area		Rating (circle)				
Health	0	1	2	3		. 4
Behavior	0	1	2	3	<u></u>	4
Instruction	0	1	1	1	<u></u>	4
inclusion	0	1	2	3		4
_	÷.	+	*	*	/	+
		Rating of 1	Rating of 2	ng Supports Levels Rating of 3		Rating of 4
Rating of 0 No concerns		Mild	Mild to moderate	Moderate to severe	Severe	
Level 0 Sup		Level 1 Support	Level 2 Support	Level 3 Support	14	evel 4 Support
exercise to additional apport seeds or controller controller additions, addit	d 76.	Constant Accommodutions, modifications, supplementary ads, and other supports Peer loadity support	Consider Automotive modifications, supports supports Perr Evoldy support Develop/revise goals Develop/revise goals Develop/revise goals Develop/revise goals	Example Assemption of the suggests with, and other suggests here loadly suggests banking baywell banking baywell baywell baywell baywell baywell baywell baywe	Consider Accommodati supplementar Peer buddy su Develop or re- Resize RBA/BS Develop/resize Consultation Collaboration Staff training of	ere, modifications, y aids, and other supports opert due goals F e pers, health care plan
			*TABLE C: Criteria for intensis	ve Individual Services (3:1 aide)	1.000	
the ratings for	ore the			ddition, the data and information collected the is in place if considering intensive individual Se Aide Constr.	invices in the a	
Two or more scores of a and no scores of 4 One or more scores of 3 and one score of 4				Consider pertial day aide		
		of 4, with or without scores of	1	Consider full day aide		

Figure 17: Form N, Table C.

The process of analyzing scores and matching them to supports is summarized below in three steps:

- 1. Review the teacher's/school staff ratings from Form A (*Additional Support Rubric*) and transfer them to Table A on Form N (*Evaluator's Scoring for Support Consideration Sheet*)
- 2. Match each circled rating to its corresponding support level on Form N, table B, and consider one or more supports from this level
- 3. If Intensive Individual Services (1:1 aide) are suggested (Level 3 or 4 Supports only), check the additional criteria on Form N, table C, to ensure all criteria are appropriately met

Intensive Individual Services (1:1 aide) is only one support from many that promotes successful delivery of educational benefit in the LRE. Unless Intensive Individual Services (1:1 aide) is assigned with the goal of fostering independence, it may restrict the student's access to the general curriculum and decrease social opportunities. The more independent students are, the more they can do without direct assistance from an adult. It is important to keep this point in mind when recommending supports. There are many ways to foster student autonomy and independence, including the consideration of the following supports:

- Accommodations, modifications, supplementary aids, and services
- Peer Support
- Develop/revise goals
- Develop/revise FBA/BIP
- Develop/revise Personal Health Care Plan
- Consultation services with specialists to support areas of need

- Collaboration services with specialists to support areas of need
- Staff training and/or coaching

The following pages include examples of accommodations, modifications, and strategies that can support the student in the educational environment. These examples are less restrictive than Intensive Individual Services. Less restrictive supports should always be considered when appropriate to foster independence in the LRE.

Examples of Accommodations, Modifications, and Strategies

- HEALTH
 - Provide visual schedule for personal care tasks, such as handwashing and toileting
 - Provide trained classroom personnel to perform special medical procedures and provide training in the proper dispensing of medications
 - Provide student with private location and time to perform procedures
 - o Involve school health staff, parents, teachers, and others in periodic review
 - Allow preferential seating as indicated by need
 - Adapt recess, physical education, and transportation
 - Develop health care and emergency plan
 - Establish health alert system whereby every staff member involved with student is aware of the health problem and of proper procedures
 - Provide a beeper/paging system for trained personnel
 - Arrange for in-service to other students and staff with parent/student permission
- INSTRUCTION & INCLUSION

Presentation accommodation (changes the way information is presented)

- o Listen to audio recordings instead of reading text
- o Learn content from audiobooks, movies, videos, and digital media instead of reading print versions
- Work with fewer items per page or line
- Work with text in a larger print size
- o Have a "designated reader" someone who reads test questions aloud to student
- Hear instructions spoken aloud
- Record a lesson, instead of requiring note taking
- o Get class notes from another student
- See an outline of a lesson
- o Use visual presentations of verbal material, such as word webs
- Get a written list of instructions

Response accommodations (changes the way student complete assignments or tests)

- Give responses in a form (spoken or written) that's easier for the student
- Dictate answers to a scribe who writes or types
- Capture responses on an audio recorder
- Use a spelling dictionary or digital spellchecker
- Use a word processor to type notes or give answers in class

• Use a calculator or table of "math facts"

Setting accommodations

- Work or take a test in a different setting, such as a quiet room with few distractions
- Sit where the student learns best (for example, near the teacher or in the back up against the wall)
- Use special lighting or acoustics
- Take a test in a small group setting
- Use sensory tools such as an exercise band that can be looped around a chair's legs (so fidgety
- \circ students can kick it and quietly get their energy out) Timing accommodations
- Take more time to complete a task or a test
- Have extra time to process spoken information and directions
- o Take frequent breaks, such as after completing a worksheet Scheduling accommodations
- Take more time to complete a project
- Take a test in several timed sessions or over several days
- Take sections of a test in a different order
- Take a test at a specific time of day

Organization skills accommodations

- o Use an alarm to help with time management
- Mark texts with a highlighter
- Use a planner or organizer to help coordinate assignments
- Receive study skills instruction

Writing accommodations

- Allow student to use ideas from a word/idea bank
- Allow student to write about segments of the same topic for several days
- After a topic has been chosen, assist the student in developing a visual outline/graphic organizer
- Keep pictures available to help generate ideas
- Require a minimal amount of writing per day-gradually increase the expectations (be prepared to start with very little!)
- Allow student to bring a picture from home to write about
- Allow lists and simple sentences-help student to gradually become more complex
- o Allow student to dictate ideas to teacher, classroom assistant, or volunteer
- Provide a list of words for the student to use
- Provide a clearly written topic sentence and an informal outline to get the student started on a paragraph or essay
- Allow student to write about a special interest

Other strategies

- Build background knowledge prior to presenting classroom books:
 - Read a book about the topic at the student's level
 - Summarize the book with basic text and pictures and read with student
 - Develop vocabulary cards and review
 - Ask students WH questions
 - Practice sequencing main events
 - Watch videos
- Trace words and numbers if student works at this level

- Fill in blank sentences with traced words
- Use manipulatives in math
- Provide worksheets in similar color to that of peers (with similar content area at student's level)
- Write answers to questions on a white board that student copies onto a worksheet
- Color code questions and their answers for matching tasks
- Draw out answers on white board
- Provide choices of answers that student circles
- o Provide fewer problems on worksheets and assessments
- Enlarge text and use high contrast (refer to VI itinerant)
- o Use pictures/visuals as much as possible
- Provide topic boards with pictures depicting relevant vocabulary for the story or topic
- Tape number line to student's desk
- o Identify any needed technology
- Provide social skills training
- Utilize peer support:
 - To find the correct page in books
 - To read a book to student and ask pre-drafted WH questions
 - To help count manipulatives
 - To write words for the student to trace
 - To paraphrase
 - To play educational games
 - To reinforce student (way to go, high fives, etc.)
 - To walk with student during transitions between classes
 - To eat with student at lunch (Lunch Buddy program)
 - To socialize with student at recess
- BEHAVIOR
 - Ensure behavior goals and/or a Behavior Intervention Plan are implemented
 - Arrange a "check-in" time to organize the day
 - Pair the student with another student who is a good behavior model for class projects
 - Use non-verbal cues to remind the student of rule violations
 - o Develop an individualized reinforcement system aligned with student's preferences
 - Follow low-interest activities with high interest activities, so student gets a break from difficult or less interesting activities
 - Use break cards and/or schedule regular breaks throughout the day
 - Provide activities and objects for self-regulation (calming music, stress-balls, etc.)
 - Use a visual schedule for the day's activities and mini-schedules within the main schedule
 - Ensure student has an alternative communication system if non-speaking
 - o Provide transition cards and advance notifications of upcoming transitions
 - o Prepare the student for changes in schedule when feasible
 - Use a hierarchy of prompts to ensure success and increase independence
 - Identify student's preferred activities and interests and incorporate into instruction and reinforcement systems
 - Use visual supports and task analyses to increase understanding and decrease frustration

STEP 6: Consider Supports and Generate ASA

Form O: ASA Report



What and When?

At this stage in the ASA process, the evaluator has gathered all needed information from team members, observed the student, and considered supports. It is now time to summarize all the information in an assessment report. The *Additional Support Assessment (ASA) Report (Form O)* is used for this purpose. It is formatted as a fillable PDF with sections designed to report on the various information collected throughout the ASA process.

Form O

Why?

A report is written, so all team members have access to the assessment information and recommendations during the upcoming IEP meeting.

How?

The evaluator reviews all collected information and summarizes it in the appropriate spaces on the *Additional Support Assessment (ASA) Report (Form O)* before the IEP meeting. If Intensive Individual Support (1:1 aide) is recommended, the evaluator fills out the *Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P)* and attaches it to the report. The *Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P)* is described on the next page.

STEP 6: Consider Supports and Generate ASA Report

Form P: Aide Training and Fading Plan (if applicable)

4.



What and When?

When the Additional Support Assessment (ASA) results in a recommendation of any level of Intensive Individual Support (1:1 aide), the evaluator facilitates the completion of the *Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P)* and attaches it to the *ASA Report (Form O)*. *The Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P)* provides an opportunity for the team to clarify several aspects related to Intensive Individual Support, including:

- 1. Days and times an aide is needed
- 2. Tasks the student needs assistance with
- 3. Settings in which assistance is needed
 - Writing an independence and fading goal
- 5. Planning for progress monitoring
- 6. Identifying aide training needs
- 7. Identifying the date to review the continued need for support

Why?

The use of Intensive Individual support is only one support from many that assists the student in achieving educational benefit in the LRE. Unless this support is assigned with the goal of fostering independence, it may restrict the student's access to the general curriculum and decrease social opportunities. In order to ensure instructional aides are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to foster independence rather than dependence, it is necessary to plan ahead and consider the aforementioned areas.

How?

The evaluator refers to collected assessment data and consults with the teacher and other team members to generate the *Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P)*. A relevant goal, which reflects increasing levels of independence, is written collaboratively, and progress monitoring procedures are decided. The goal is transferred to the student's IEP document. Any specific aide training needs are determined and detailed on the form. Training considerations may vary depending on the specific student. For example, if the student is referred for behavioral difficulties, the aide may need training in behavior intervention procedures. Student use of assistive technology may necessitate aide training in the same technology. Once the *Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P)* is complete, it is attached to the *ASA Report (Form O)* and presented at the upcoming IEP. The *Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P)* is available as a fillable PDF.

STEP7: Hold IEP Meeting



When?

An IEP is held when all preceding steps 1-6 are complete. The IEP must be held within 60 days of receiving parental or guardian consent for assessment.

Why?

The purpose of the IEP team meeting is the sharing of assessment recommendations. This is the opportunity for the team to review all assessment data carefully and seek team consensus for possible supports.

How?

The evaluator makes the ASA Report (Form O) and, if applicable, the Aide Training and Fading Plan (Form P) available to all IEP team members and reviews each section, including recommendations. Team consensus is sought when selecting supports. All supports are properly documented in the IEP. If the team selects Intensive Individual Services (1:1 aide), those services are detailed on the IEP, including the provider of services, location of services, frequency, duration, delivery model, and the starting and end date. An example of the addition of daily half-day Intensive Individual services for a student attending a regular classroom is shown below in figure 18 as it appears on the Special Education and Related Services Form 5 (EV-50), within WebIEP.

Primary Service Service Codes	Status Add 🗸	
Service: Intensive Individual	~	
Class Number: Class Numbers Service Provider: Class Type: School: District:		
Provider: District of Service		
Location: Regular Class/ Public School		
Freq.: Daily V Duration (Minutes): 180		
Delivery Model: Individual ~		
Start Date: 08/21/2021 MMDDYY End Date: 08	8/21/2022 MMDDYY	
Add New Service		

Figure 18: EV-50, Form 5 of WebIEP

References

Shasta County Special Education Local Plan Area, Guidelines When Requesting Additional Aide Support; October, 2017:

https://www.shastacoe.org/uploaded/Dept/selpa/Aide_Forms/Aide_referral_guidelines_12-13-12.docx

Office of P-12 Education: Office of Special Education, Special Education Field Advisory; Guidelines for Determining a Student with a Disability's Need for a Oneto-One Aide; January, 2012: <u>http://www.p12.nysed.gov/specialed/publications/1-</u> <u>laide-jan2012.pdf</u>

Resource Packet for "Teaching Them to Fish": Facilitating Student Independence and Fading Close Adult Support, 2018:

https://www.lehsd.org/cms/lib/NJ50000067/Centricity/Domain/1039/Handouts%20for %2012.2018.pdf

Berrien Regional Education Service Agency; Procedural Guidelines for Determining the Need, Supervision, and Fading of Student Aides; February, 2016:

https://berrienresa.org/UserFiles/Servers/Server_148518/File/Education%20Services/Special %20Education/R esources/Procedures%20for%20Student%20Aid.pdf

Paraeducators: Tools and Resources for Schools and IEP Teams: <u>https://charterselpa.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2017/11/paraeducators_guideline.pdf</u>

Riverside County Special Education Local Plan Area; Procedural Guidelines for Related Services Independence Assistance: 2017 (revised)

https://www.rcselpa.org/uploads/files/files/Related%20Services%20IA%20Guidelines%2011 %202009%20R10- 17.doc.pdf

Teaching All Students: Staff Guide to Accommodations and

Modifications, 2006:

https://www.shaker.org/Downloads/Accommodations_and_Modification

<u>s_Guide.pdf</u> Section 504: Sample Accommodations and Modifications:

http://www.warmlinefrc.org/uploads/5/9/5/8/5958794/section 504 acco

modations.pdf

SECTION II - INTER-SELPA TRANSFERS

Purpose

The Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement was developed to assist Local Education Agencies (LEAs) within the East Valley SELPA (EV SELPA) to (1) document inter-SELPA transfer agreements for the provision of special education services to a student with a disability in a setting outside of the student's LEA/SELPA of residence, and (2) to provide a mechanism to transfer funds if it is determined to be necessary.

The Transfer Agreement is initiated when the individualized education program (IEP) team, including a district office representative, determines that the special education services that a student needs are not available within the district. <u>It is NOT required when a LEA accepts a student based on a parental request for inter-district transfer. The LEA that accepts the transfer agreement assumes responsibility for the provision of services, for reporting attendance, and for counting the pupil in CALPADS.</u>

Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement

An Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement is initiated under either of the following circumstances:

- A. For the transfer of a student with an IEP from a LEA that is a member of the EV SELPA to a program operated by an LEA that is not a member of the EV SELPA.
- B. For the transfer of a student with an IEP from an LEA that is a not a member of the EV SELPA to a program operated by an LEA that is a member of the EV SELPA.

Procedures

LEA of Residence (Sending District) is Within EV SELPA:

- District level Special Education Administrator discusses case with EV SELPA administrator when it has been determined the student's identified needs cannot be met within the LEA/SELPA of residence.
- EV SELPA Administrator discusses case with the SELPA administrator from outside of EV SELPA. Discussion shall include possible transfer agreement, potential costs and responsibilities, and IEP meeting date/time.
- If decision is made to place student in LEA program that is not within the EV SELPA, an IEP meeting is held to make the offer of FAPE. District level Special Education Administrator completes and signs the EV SELPA Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement form and sends it to the EV SELPA immediately.
- EV SELPA administrator signs the transfer form and EV SELPA obtains signatures from the LEA and SELPA of service/attendance. A photocopy is kept for tracking purposes until it is signed by receiving LEA.
- A new Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement must be approved annually should the student continue to receive special education services by the other LEA/SELPA.

LEA of Residence (Sending District) is Not Within EV SELPA

- District level LEA Special Education Administrator or SELPA administrator from outside EV SELPA contacts EV SELPA administrator when it has been determined the student's identified needs cannot be met within the student's district of residence/SELPA. Discussion shall include possible transfer agreement, potential costs and responsibilities, and IEP meeting date/time.
- If decision is made to place student in LEA program that is within the EV SELPA, an IEP meeting is held to make the offer of FAPE. District level Special Education Administrator completes the inter-SELPA transfer document applicable to that SELPA and follows the procedures required.
- EV SELPA administrator and LEA Special Education Administrator sign the transfer form and keep a photocopy of it for tracking purposes.
- A new Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement must be approved annually should the student continue to receive special education services by the other LEA/SELPA.

LEA of Attendance (Receiving LEA):

- Review and approve or disapprove the proposed Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement.
- Retain copy of completed and signed Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement form and return original copy to EV SELPA.
- Place student in district database for CALPADs purposes.
- Complete IEP within SELPA student database system.

East Valley SELPA:

• Maintain a master list of all Inter-SELPA Transfer Agreement forms.

SECTION III – INTERIM PLACEMENT PROCEDURES

In order to facilitate the transition of an individual with exceptional needs, the new school in which the pupil enrolls shall take reasonable steps to promptly obtain the pupil's records.

Upon receipt of a request from an educational agency where an individual with exceptional needs has enrolled, a former educational agency shall send the pupil's special education records, or a copy thereof, to the new educational agency within five working days (CA Education Code Section 56325).

<u>Transfers to a District from a District Outside of the SELPA</u>. If the child has an Individualized Education Program (IEP) and transfers into a district from a district not operating programs under the same Special Education Local Plan Area (SELPA), in which he or she was last enrolled in a special education program within the same academic year, the Local Educational Agency (LEA) shall provide the pupil with a Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE), including services comparable to those described in the previously approved IEP, in consultation with the parents, for a period not to exceed 30 days, by which time the LEA shall adopt the

previously approved IEP or shall develop, adopt, and implement a new IEP that is consistent with federal and state law.

<u>Transfers from District to District within the same SELPA</u>. If the child has an IEP and transfers into a district from a district operating under the SELPA of the district in which he or she was last enrolled in a special education program within the same academic year, the new district shall continue, without delay, to provide services comparable to those described in the existing approved IEP, unless the parent and the LEA agree to develop, adopt and implement a new IEP that is consistent with federal and state law. It is recommended that at least an IEP Amendment be done to reflect the change in location and provider.

<u>Transfers from District to District from Outside of State</u>. If the child has an IEP and transfers from an educational agency outside the state to a district within the state within the same academic year, the LEA shall provide the pupil with a free appropriate public education, including services comparable to those described in the previously approved IEP, in consultation with the parents, until the LEA conducts an assessment.

SECTION IV – LOW INCIDENCE

As part of the Local Plan submitted to the State, each SELPA must describe how funding for specialized books, materials, equipment, and services will be distributed within the SELPA. These guidelines have been developed to provide a summary of legal requirements and local procedures for students with low incidence disabilities. In addition to this policy, all requirements outlined under the Annual State Low Incidence Funding Update will be observed.

Legal Requirements

Education Code Section 56836.22 provides for funds to purchase "specialized books, materials and equipment as required under the student's individualized education program (IEP) for students with low incidence disabilities as defined in Section 56026.5. As specified in Education Code 56026.5, a low incidence disability eligible for use of low incidence funding means a severe disabling condition with an expected incidence rate of less than one percent of the total statewide enrollment in kindergarten through grade 12. For purposes of this definition, severe disabling conditions are hearing impairments, vision impairments, and severe orthopedic impairments of any combination thereof. For purposes of this definition, vison impairments do not include disabilities with the function of vision specified in Section 56338).

One of the following disabling conditions must be the primary or secondary disability in order for a student to be eligible to receive equipment and/or services specifically through low incidence funds:

- Hearing Impairment (def. Means a hearing impairment, whether permanent or fluctuating, that adversely affects a child's educational performance but is not included under the definition of deafness.)
- Deafness (def. Means a hearing impairment that is so severe that the child is impaired in processing linguistic information through hearing, with or without amplification, that adversely affects a child's educational performance)

- Visual Impairment (def. Including blindness means an impairment in vision that, even with correction, adversely affects a child's educational performance. The term includes both partial sight and blindness.)
- Orthopedic Impairment (def. Means a severe orthopedic impairment that adversely affects a child's educational performance. The term includes impairments caused by a congenital anomaly; impairments caused by disease (e.g., poliomyelitis, bone tuberculosis), and impairments from other causes (e.g., cerebral palsy amputations, and fractures or burns that cause contractures).
- Deaf-Blindness (def. means concomitant hearing and visual impairments, the combination of which causes severe communication, developmental, and educational needs that they cannot be accommodated in special education programs solely for children with deafness or children with blindness.)

As a condition of receiving these funds, the SELPA will ensure that:

- the appropriate books, materials and equipment are purchased.
- the use of items is determined necessary through the IEP process and/or assessment.
- the books, materials and equipment are reassigned within the SELPA once the district/student that originally received the items no longer needs them.
- an inventory of low incidence equipment is maintained at the SELPA.

Special supplies and equipment purchased with State funds are the property of the State and will be available for use by children with disabilities throughout the State. The Clearinghouse for Specialized Media and Technology (CSMT) is available to facilitate the distribution of unused materials and equipment.

In addition to the equipment fund, the annual State Budget Act may appropriate funds to be used to provide specialized services to students with low incidence disabilities. Education Code Section 56363(b)(16) states "Specialized services for low-incidence disabilities, such as readers, transcribers, and vision and hearing services."

Equipment purchased with low incidence funds is the property of the State of California. These item(s) are considered "On Loan" to the students who are qualified by the nature of their disability to access materials purchased with low incidence funds.

Low Incidence Funding

The Governor's budget for 2020-2021 included a significant increase in low incidence funding. The funds are provided for students with a primary or secondary low incidence disability. In keeping with the philosophy of the EV SELPA Local Plan and Fiscal Allocation Plan, the additional funding provided in 2020-2021 will be combined with the low incidence funding traditionally provided. Fifteen percent (15%) of the combined funds will remain with the SELPA for the implementation of the EV SELPA Low Incidence Policy and Procedures to purchase "specialized books, materials and equipment as required under the student's individualized education program (IEP) for students with low incidence disabilities as defined in Section 56026.5." The remaining 85% of the combined funds will be passed through to each

district based on the district's low incidence pupil count of students with a primary or secondary low incidence disability the prior October (pupil census date).

Responsibility

Low Incidence funding is legally the responsibility of the SELPA, including accountability of how the funds are used; reassignment of specialized books, materials, and equipment within the SELPA; and sharing with other SELPAs. To meet this responsibility, the SELPA will establish procedures and guidelines for purchases through the Low Incidence fund.

The East Valley SELPA Low Incidence Committee has established guidelines and procedures for purchases through the Low Incidence Fund.

The Low Incidence Committee may include:

Specialist for the hearing impaired

Specialist for the orthopedically impaired

Specialist for the visually impaired

Speech language pathologist

Specialist knowledgeable in assistive technology

Occupational therapist

Physical therapist

Information technology specialists

District administrators

SELPA administrator

Other SELPA staff

Each District in the East Valley SELPA is responsible for accessing this fund in accordance with the criteria established in these guidelines and procedures. This includes, but is not limited to, student assessment to determine the unique educational need for specialized books, materials, or equipment as well as the submission of a written report and request to include the need for specialized services, materials, and equipment; not supplanting; assisting with inventorying equipment; and notifying the SELPA when items need repair and are available for reassignment.

Eligibility

Funds may be used for all students with the Low Incidence disabilities as defined in law, for both primary and secondary eligibilities. Districts must enter the low incidence eligible disability as either the primary or secondary disability on the student's IEP. Some students identified as having an orthopedic impairment may not be eligible because they do not have a "severe orthopedic impairment" as per the definition of Low Incidence disabilities in Education Code56026.5. For purposes of the EV SELPA Low Incidence procedures, a severe disability limits a student's access to the curriculum and/or the educational setting.

Education Code Section 56320(g) requires that persons knowledgeable of that disability conduct the assessment of a student with a suspected low incidence disability. A low incidence disability does not guarantee the use of low incidence funds. The IEP team reviews assessment data and determines the most appropriate items or services needed to address the student's unique educational needs. These items or services may or may not be "specialized." Items, which are found in most classrooms, would not be acquired through low incidence funds.

Low Incidence Procedures

The EV SELPA Low Incidence Committee developed and has made available to its member districts and SBCSS EV-Ops for accessing materials and equipment to serve to appropriately identified and assessed students with low incidence disabilities. Contact 909-252-4507 or evselpa@sbcss.net for the procedures.

SECTION V - NONPUBLIC SCHOOL/AGENCY SELPA FUNCTIONS

The East Valley SELPA, at the request of its member districts, engages in a centralized nonpublic school/agency (NPS/A) contract and invoice process. Annually, the EV SELPA develops master contracts for nonpublic schools and nonpublic agencies as well as engages in annual rate negotiations to establish competitive rates. The EV SELPA processes and pays invoices established via the EV SELPA NPS/A procedures and guidelines as well as initiates quarterly fiscal transfers for payment. The EV SELPA also assists its member districts in compliance with AB 1172. A description of the SELPA's Nonpublic School work is included in the East Valley SELPA Fiscal Allocation Plan. The following procedures apply.

In July 1999, the East Valley SELPA, at the request of its member districts, centralized the NPS/A contract and invoice process. The following procedure has been developed to facilitate the centralized process. A description of the SELPA's Nonpublic School work is included in the East Valley SELPA Fiscal Allocation Plan.

District Responsibility

- A. Through the IEP process, it is each district's responsibility to determine NPS/A educational placement/ service(s), including the provider.
- B. The IEP shall include the student's special education service(s) to be provided by the NPS/A including start date and end date (as applicable) and transportation needs.
- C. The district is responsible for entering and maintaining student data in the East Valley SELPA student information system (WebDA) for NPS/A placements. This includes:
 - 1. adding new student records
 - 2. updating records
 - 3. exiting students

Change of District within East Valley SELPA. If the student has moved from an EV SELPA member district (Colton, Redlands, Rialto, Rim of the World, or Yucaipa-Calimesa) to another EV SELPA member district, and has a current IEP for NPS, the receiving district may choose to continue the current IEP.

- 4. Immediately upon placement in NPS/A, the district MUST update WebDA with the current student address, district of residence, attending school, resident school, and then update services to reflect the change of district. (Note: WebDA changes for district of residence, attending school and resident school will then be reflected in WebIEP and the new district will have access to the WebIEP record)
- 5. In WebIEP, complete an NPS/A Contract Development Information (EV-97) form, sign the EV-97 (must be signed by the district Special Education Director or designee), and forward it to the SELPA along with a copy of signed IEP.

Interim Administrative Placement and 30-Day/Annual IEP Review (student with IEP from district outside of EV SELPA). An Interim Administrative Placement must be made on the student's first day of attendance in the district when a student moves to the district with a current IEP from outside of EV SELPA, this includes a student with an IEP for NPS/A. Within 30 days of the administrative placement, an IEP meeting must be held.

- 6. Immediately upon placement in NPS/A, the district MUST enter the student's data into WebIEP utilizing the Interim Administrative Placement (EV-58) page and verify the data for completeness.
- 7. In WebIEP, complete an NPS/A Contract Development Information (EV-97) form, sign the EV-97 (must be signed by the district Special Education Director or designee), and forward it to the SELPA along with a copy of signed IEP.

30-Day/Annual IEP Review. As applicable, the IEP team may decide to continue the current non-EV SELPA IEP with NPS/A placement OR develop a new IEP for placement in either NPS/A or a district program. If the district determines a district program is appropriate, it must do so based on student data. This can include a Triennial Assessment.

- 8. Continue the NPS placement. Send IEP Notice of Meeting (EV-30) indicating the purpose of meeting as both the 30-day Review and Annual Review of Progress. At the meeting, update present levels and goals & objectives as necessary; verify and file as complete in WebIEP.
- 9. Place in District Program. Send IEP Notice of Meeting (EV-30) indicating the purpose of meeting as both the 30-dayReview and Annual Review of Progress. If the Triennial is also done at this time, the30-day/Annual IEP review meeting will also constitute the new Triennial date and the next Tri must be conducted within three years from this date. At the meeting, update present levels and goals & objectives as necessary; verify and file as complete in WebIEP. Complete a Nonpublic School Change Notice (EV-94) and forward it to SELPA.

Subsequent IEP Meetings. All subsequent IEPs, including Annuals, Amendments, and Triennials must be conducted in WebIEP. A new EV-97 and copy of the signed IEP must be submitted to SELPA each time a new IEP or Amendment is completed where changes were made. This notifies and allows the SELPA to update services on the student's ISA.

10. Districts must use the Nonpublic School Student Change Notice (EV-94) to communicate any non-IEP related changes in student status (i.e., address change, returning to district, transferred out of district, graduated, or aged out).

SELPA Responsibility

- A. Annually, the SELPA will negotiate the Nonpublic School/Agency Master Contracts on behalf of its member districts and initiate purchase orders.
- B. Individual Student Agreements (ISA's) will be initiated by the SELPA upon receipt of the EV-97and signed IEP, based on each student's IEP.
- C. The SELPA will maintain digital/electronic files for the NPS/A contracts, invoices, and attendance.
- D. The SELPA will audit NPS/A invoices prior to approval for payment. The audit will include:
 - 1. Adherence to the NPS/A Master Contract rates and calendar days of operation
 - 2. Adherence to the student's ISA, including start date and end date (as applicable), number of days of actual attendance (including number of days authorized for extended year based on the student's IEP)
 - 3. Service rates per the Master Contract; and
 - 4. Mileage

Based upon the audit, the SELPA will obtain corrected invoices as necessary and submit to County Schools Internal Business for payment processing.

The SELPA will prepare quarterly transfer reports for review by EV SELPA Steering and the EV SELPA Board of Directors. The transfers will be made following the EV SELPA Steering Committee review.

The SELPA will provide districts with NPS ADA data for P-1, P-2, and Annual. Districts must input this data into the State Revenue software.

The SELPA will monitor NPS/A programs and make periodic site visitations.

- 5. SELPA staff will typically attend CDE On-Site Reviews on behalf of member districts.
- 6. SELPA supports its member districts and NPS/As with AB1172 compliance including:
 - a. Consulting with NPS/As to review documentation and provide verification of the annual Behavior Training.
 - b. Collaborating with district staff to jointly conduct pre-placement visits (required prior to placement of an EV SELPA student at an NPS if no other EV SELPA students are placed at the NPS).
 - c. Providing guidance, support, and oversight to member districts to conduct Annual NPS Monitoring Visits.

NPS/A Compliance Monitoring Process

NPS Behavior Training Verification Process

AB1172 requires each NPS/A to provide annual behavior training to all staff that encounter students during the school day. The NPS is required to obtain verification of the training from each contracted agency. The EV SELPA will review the documentation and provide the verification for NPS/As with which EV SELPA holds the contract on behalf of its member districts. If an individual LEA holds a contract with an NPA independent of the EV SELPA, the LEA will review the documentation and provide the verification.

AB1172 behavior training requirements:

- A. Training was selected and conducted by the NPS/A and met the following requirements:
 - 1. Be conducted by persons licensed or certified in fields related to the evidence-based practices and interventions being taught.
 - 2. Be taught in a manner consistent with the development and implementation of individual education programs.
 - 3. Be consistent with the requirements of Article 5.2 (commencing with EC § 49005) of Chapter 6 of Part 27, relating to pupil discipline.

Training included the following:

- 4. Positive behavioral intervention and supports, including collection, analysis, and use of data to inform, plan and implement behavioral supports.
- 5. How to understand and address challenging behaviors, including evidence-based strategies for preventing those behaviors.
- 6. Evidence-based interventions for reducing and replacing challenging behaviors, including de-escalation techniques.

NPS Pre-Placement Visit

AB1172 requires that an LEA visit a Nonpublic School prior to placement of a student at the facility if the LEA does not already have a student at that facility or has not had a student at the facility during the current school year. As EV SELPA holds the master contract with the Nonpublic Schools, the SELPA represents all member districts in this activity.

When an LEA is considering the placement of a student at an NPS, the LEA representative will contact the EV SELPA to identify whether any students from EV SELPA are currently placed or were placed during the current school year. If no students are placed or were placed during the current school year, the LEA representative contacts the Program Manager to coordinate a Pre-Placement visit to the NPS. The EV SELPA Program Manager will complete the appropriate form in conjunction with the LEA representative. The EV SELPA Program Manager will submit the form to CDE.

EV SELPA Mental Health staff will conduct the Pre-Placement Visit on behalf of its member districts if a student is being considered for placement at a Residential Treatment Center (RTC).
NPS Annual Monitoring

AB1172 requires that the LEA conduct an annual monitoring visit for each student placed at an NPS. The annual monitoring includes student observation, facility walk-through/visit and review of student progress toward goals. The LEA conducts the annual monitoring using the designated EV SELPA form and submits the form to the EV SELPA when completed. EV SELPA will submit the forms to CDE on behalf of its member districts and maintain a database to ensure all placed students are reviewed annually.

SECTION VI – PARENTALLY PLACED PRIVATE SCHOOL STUDENTS

Introduction

There are two major categories of private school students - "publicly placed" and "parentally placed".

In the first instance, the educational agency places a student in a private facility in order to meet its requirement of free appropriate public education (FAPE) and the local educational agency (LEA) obligation to serve the student is exactly the same as if the student attended the public school. In California, these private facilities are commonly referred to as nonpublic schools (NPS).

In contrast, the special education rights of the parentally placed private school student are considerably more limited. A parentally placed private school student with a disability does not have an individual right to FAPE. There are no instances when a LEA will be required to provide a service to such a child. However, there are particular obligations that the LEA must fulfill as explained herein.

The EV SELPA has developed procedures which apply to all SELPA member LEAs but not necessarily to other LEAs outside of the East Valley SELPA boundaries. This document (1) explains the key definitions used herein, (2) defines child find through identification procedures, (3) delineates differences in provision of services, (4) describes obligations for meaningful consultation, and (5) explains proportionate share.

Key Definitions Used Herein

<u>District of Special Education Accountability (DSEA)</u>: As used in this policy, the District of Special Education Accountability (DSEA) refers to the school district within which the child with a disability resides.

<u>District of Service (DOS)</u>: As used in this policy, the District of Service (DOS) refers to the school district within which the private school is located.

<u>Individualized Education Program (IEP)</u>: As used in this policy, the Individualized Education Program (IEP) refers to the DSEA offer of a free appropriate public education.

<u>Individual Service Plan (ISP)</u>: As used in the policy, the Individual Service Plan (ISP) is a plan created by the DOS when a parent voluntarily places an eligible student with a disability in a private school.

Local Educational Agency (LEA): As used in this policy, LEA refers to a school district, county office, or charter school.

<u>Private School Students with Disabilities:</u> As used in this policy, "private school students with disabilities" mean students with disabilities enrolled by their parents in a private school or facility.

Private School or Facility: As used in this policy, "private school or facility" means: (1) private full- time day school pursuant to California Education Code section 48222 (including religious schools); (2) any other California Department of Education (CDE) identified educational institution, program, arrangement, or facility not sponsored, maintained, or managed by the LEA and for which the LEA does not collect average daily attendance funds; (3) CDE authorized private school affidavit. This only includes nonprofit private schools. Students in for-profit private schools are not eligible to receive an Individual Service Plan (ISP) as per 34 CFR §§ 300.130, 300.13 and 300.36 which defines eligibility criteria for parentally placed students with disabilities in private school.

Private School Consultation

"Consultation" involves discussions between the LEA, private school representatives, and parents of parentally placed private school students with disabilities on key issues that affect the ability of eligible private school children with disabilities to participate equitably in federally funded special education and related services. Effective consultation provides a genuine opportunity for all parties to express their views and to have those views considered by the LEA. Successful consultation establishes positive and productive working relationships that make planning easier. This section provides information about private school consultation legal requirements, development of Private School Protocol, and meaningful consultation affirmation.

Legal Requirements

To ensure timely and meaningful consultation, a local educational agency shall annually consult with private school representatives and representatives of parents of parentally placed private school children with disabilities during the design and development of special education and related services for the children. Such consultation shall include the following: the child find process and how parentally placed private school children suspected of having a disability can participate equitably, including how parents, teachers, and private school officials will be informed of the process.

- A. the determination of the proportionate amount of Federal funds available to serve parentally placed private school children with disabilities under this subparagraph, including the determination of how the amount was calculated.
- B. the consultation process among the local educational agency, private school officials, and representatives of parents of parentally placed private school children with disabilities, including how such process will operate throughout the school year to ensure that parentally placed private school children with disabilities identified through the child find process can meaningfully participate in special education and related services.
- C. how, where, and by whom special education and related services will be provided for parentally placed private school children with disabilities, including a discussion of types

of services, including direct services and alternate service delivery mechanisms, how such services will be apportioned if funds are insufficient to serve all children, and how and when these decisions will be made.

Development of Private School Protocol

Opportunities for meaningful consultation between the private school personnel, parents of students with disabilities enrolled in the school, and special education leaders from the LEA wherein the school is housed leads to a private school protocol (See Appendix E for sample calendar of consultation meetings). The provision of equitable services shall be provided by employees of a public agency, or through contract by the public agency with an individual, association, agency, organization, or other entity.

Special education and related services provided to parentally placed private school children with disabilities, including materials and equipment, shall be secular, neutral, and non-ideological EC. §56172(f).

When the LEA meets with the private school personnel and parents of private school students, discussions will occur as to developing procedures and practices for the provision of equitable services to students with disabilities enrolled in private schools. This process includes review of the current needs of the students in order for the team to facilitate a decision of which specific special education service(s), materials, and/or equipment(s) will be provided on behalf of the students.

When timely and meaningful consultation has occurred, the LEA shall obtain a written affirmation signed by the representatives of participating private schools. A copy of the affirmation letter and the private school protocol shall be sent to the LEAs within the SELPA.

Proportionate Share of Funds

<u>Calculation:</u> One time each year, a pupil count of the number of eligible parentally placed private school students with an ISP will take place. SELPA calculates the proportionate share of federal dollars generated from the private school pupil count to be allocated to provide special education and related services to private school students.

The proportion is equal to the proportion of eligible private school students receiving special education compared with the proportion of total public-school students receiving special education, divided into federal funding. The proportional service is provided by the District in which the private school is located.

To calculate the proportionate share that an LEA must spend, the SELPA uses the Federal Part B, IDEA grant awards and the annual pupil count using grades PK - 12(6 - 21) years of age (non-preschool)).

How the proportionate share (amount of available federal funds) is calculated:

- Identify the total number of eligible school children (ages 3 21) with disabilities in the district.
- Identify the total number of eligible parentally placed private school children with disabilities in the district (non-pre-school).

- Obtain the sum of students in steps A and B for total number of the district's eligible children in public and private schools.
- Identify the total Federal IDEA Part B funds given to the school district.
- Divide the total Federal IDEA Part B funds (D) by the Total Eligible Students (C).
- Multiply the quotient obtained in step E by the number of eligible parentally placed private school students (B) to obtain the district's Proportionate Share.



1=Total Proportionate Share for
Parentally Placed Private
School Students with
Disabilities (F)

Child Find through Identification Procedures

The 2006 regulations in 34 CFR 300.131(a) provide that each LEA must locate, identify, and evaluate all children with disabilities who are enrolled by their parents in private, including religious, elementary schools and secondary schools located in the school district served by the LEA. This includes both the district of special education accountability and the district where the private school is located, as they each hold responsibility for child find. The child find process must be designed to ensure the equitable participation of parentally placed private school children with disabilities and an accurate count of such children.

In carrying out this clause, the LEA is required to undertake activities similar to those activities undertaken for the agency's public-school children (i.e., problem solving team documentation of interventions considered and utilized, as appropriate). Such child find process shall be completed in a time period comparable to that for other students attending public schools in the LEA. Given these obligations, the cost of carrying out child find activities, including individual evaluations, may not be considered in determining whether a local educational agency has met its obligations under private school proportionate share allocations.

Problem Solving Team Process

Prior to pursuing a formal special education assessment, private schools are encouraged to establish a pre- referral problem solving team intervention process, (i.e., Student Intervention Team (SIT), Response to Intervention (RtI), Student Study Team (SST)) to address support within the classroom. Training for this process, including the required forms, will be provided by the district within which the private school is located.

The private school needs to complete the problem solving team process and document interventions considered and/or utilized in the private school setting. A systematic record of the meetings, recommendations, and follow-up services of the pre-referral intervention process should be maintained by the private school to monitor student progress.

If the child continues to struggle and the problem solving team suspects a disability might exist, the private school needs to notify the district wherein they are located (the DOS) of the potential need for an evaluation. The private school will submit copies of the results of the interventions to the DOS.

Procedures for Processing Referrals for Special Education Evaluation

The EV 93 (Private School Child Find Notification) will be used by the DOS and/or DSEA at the initiation of the referral for assessment process. The district where the private school is located (DOS) will conduct the assessment of the private school student. The DOS will initiate a proposed *Assessment Plan* and explain the forms to the parent within 15 days of the referral. The DOS will obtain the signed assessment plan and EV-10 (Exchange of Information). The DOS will notify the DSEA of the assessment using the EV-93 along with an Exchange of Information (EV-10) signed by the parent(s) or guardian(s).

The DOS will complete the assessment, including writing a written report, within 60 days of receiving parental consent to conduct the evaluation. The DOS will provide the report to the DSEA seven (7) days prior to the IEP meeting. The DOS will complete the IEP in WebIEP in collaboration with the DSEA. This includes, among other things, the development of goals. The DSEA is responsible for the offer of FAPE in LRE.

If the DSEA receives a parent request for assessment and the student is parentally placed in a private school outside of the DSEA, the EV-93 will be used to inform the DOS. The DOS will follow the steps outlined above. See Flow Charts A and B on pages 8 and 9.

IEP Team Determination of Eligibility

The LEA that completed the evaluation, (DOS), shall invite the student's teacher and an administrator from the private school and a representative from the DSEA to attend the Individualized Education Program (IEP) team meeting to share the assessment results, determine eligibility for special education services and, if appropriate, develop an IEP. The DSEA will offer FAPE in LRE.

Provision of Equitable Services

There are two ways a student with an identified disability can receive special education services via an Individualized Education Program (IEP) or an Individualized Service Plan (ISP).

<u>Services via the IEP Process</u>: Should the student be found eligible for special education services; the student's district of special education accountability (DSEA) is responsible for offering FAPE in the IEP. It is important that the parent understand that (1) the IEP will be implemented should the parent enroll their child in the public school setting and (2) that they have no individual right to such services should they maintain their child's enrollment in the private school setting.

No parentally placed private school student with a disability has an individual right to receive some or all of the special education and related services that he/she would receive if enrolled in a public school. No LEA is required to pay for the cost of educating a child with a disability at a private school if the LEA made FAPE available to the child and the parents voluntarily elected to place the child in a private school. At each evaluation and IEP meeting, the parents will be given

a copy of the *Notice of Parental Rights and Procedural Safeguards*. Disputes regarding whether a LEA offered FAPE to the child (as well as the initial identification and evaluation of parentally placed private school children with disabilities) may be resolved pursuant to local and state policies and procedures.

<u>Services via the ISP Process</u>: If the private school where the student is enrolled is within the district of special education accountability boundaries, the DSEA shall develop an ISP and be considered the district of services (DOS). If the private school where the student is enrolled is outside the district of special education boundaries, the DSEA shall refer the case to the DOS where the private school is located for development of an ISP. In both cases, the LEA obligation to provide special education services does not go beyond what was agreed to via the private school consultation process as documented in the Private School Protocol.

The DOS will develop an ISP for the student. The EV-96 – Individual Service Plan (ISP) Notice of Meeting (NOM) is used to schedule the ISP meeting (even when the same team is already going to assemble for the IEP). The team develops the Individual Service Plan (EV-95) after the parent has declined the offer of FAPE through the IEP and the IEP is finalized in WebIEP. During this meeting, the ISP team will review the offer of FAPE from the DSEA and develop an ISP accordingly. The parent has a right to accept or decline the service(s) offered through the ISP. If the parent maintains enrollment in the private school, the DOS will invite the parents to attend an ISP meeting to review their child's ISP and progress on an annual basis. A copy of the signed ISP must be provided to the student's DSEA.

Note:

- The ISP Process only includes nonprofit private schools and does not include students placed in for-profit private schools as per 34 CFR § 300.130, § 300.13 and § 300.36 which defines eligibility criteria for parentally placed students with disabilities in private school.
- The ISP process is for students between age 6 and the completion of student's 12th grade year (EC § 48200 and 34 CFR §§300.13 and 300.36).
- For preschool students on an IEP who transition into a private school kindergarten, and ISP needs to be developed when the student turns six years of age (EC § 48200 and 34 CFR §§ 300.13).
- If services offered by the LEA change during the annual private school protocol review, the DOS needs to review the ISPs of students attending private schools to ensure they match the private school protocol.

Out of State Children with Disabilities

The district where the private school is located conducts child find for all parentally placed private school children, including those children attending who reside out of state. The district where the private school is located determines and pays for equitable participation services provided to out-of-state parentally placed private school children with disabilities.

Preschool Children with Disabilities

Preschool is never considered private school and does not follow any of the private school procedures or requirements. This includes children under the age of six who are parentally enrolled in a private preschool (e.g., KinderCare, La Petite, parochial school, etc.) instead of a public preschool (e.g., Head Start, State Preschool, etc.). The district of special education accountability is responsible for child find and offering and implementing FAPE on an IEP.

IEP/ISP Process and CALPADS Reporting

The LEA providing the services, the DOS, to a student enrolled in private school is responsible for reporting the student in California Longitudinal Pupil Achievement Data System (CALPADS).

CALPADS reporting steps/overview:

- The District of Service (DOS) obtains an SSID for the student and enrolls the private school student in the LEA's Student Information System (SIS) using the enrollment status 50 and CDS School code 0000002. All demographic data should be included as with typical enrollments.
- The enrollment record (SENR) is submitted to CALPADS as part of the district's CALPADS reporting process.
- An Initial or Triennial IEP is conducted. When the parent declines the DSEA's offer of FAPE due to parental placement in private school, the IEP is finalized (as a Plan Type 10 declined by parent).
- The finalized IEP record is stored in WebIEP, but not reported to CALPADS.
- Following the Initial/Triennial IEP, the DOS conducts the Individual Service Plan (ISP) meeting. The team determines the services that will be provided in accordance with the Private School Protocol. The ISP is finalized within WebIEP.
- The Special Education Record (SPED) and Special Education Service Record (SSRV) are submitted to CALPADS through the WebIEP/CALPADS Application Program Interface (API) that include the fields appropriate to an Initial or Triennial ISP meeting (Plan Type 20 record).
- An ISP meeting is conducted annually (an IEP is not held at the time of the annual meeting only an ISP).
- The annual ISP records (SPED & SSRV) are submitted to CALPADS through the WebIEP API upon finalization of the ISP in WebIEP.

Compliance Monitoring Obligations

The DOS reports those students who attend private schools located within district boundaries in their CALPADS submission.

After the initial offer of FAPE, the DSEA is <u>NOT</u> responsible for making an annual offer of FAPE via the IEP process. Once a student is eligible for special education services and parentally placed in a private school, a reevaluation of the eligibility need not occur for a period of 3 years. If the private school suspects another disability and requests additional assessment on a student, the DOS will notify the DSEA of the referral for evaluation. If the DSEA is providing special education services as the DOS, the student's CALPADS data will be collected and reported so the timelines are easy to track. Only the DOS can claim the student for CALPADS purposes.

A student who is attending private school who does not have a "current" IEP or triennial assessment will continue to be considered eligible for special education until they exit from special education through the assessment process, graduate with a regular high school diploma or reach the age of 22. If a parent/adult student enrolls in a public school from a private school with an outdated IEP/Triennial, the DSEA will need to gather new assessment information by offering an assessment plan for updated eligibility determination.

SECTION VII – REGIONAL PROGRAMS & PROGRAM TRANSFER PROCEDURES

Since June 1, 2018, the "Regional Program" concept has been in place in the East Valley SELPA (EV SELPA) to address specialized student program needs. The San Bernardino County Superintendent of Schools (SBCSS), the EV SELPA and Local Education Agencies (LEA) can be regionalized service providers for other LEAs within the EV SELPA. Regional programs are designed to meet the needs of students with specific disability conditions, functional levels, and age/grade ranges. Nothing in policy overrides an Individualized Education Program (IEP) team's right to make individual decisions regarding a student's placement in the least restrictive environment (LRE) or the provision of a free appropriate public education (FAPE).

Typically, a regional program provides services to students from more than one LEA. The Regional Program operator and a LEA requesting a program transfer must adhere to the procedures outlined in this policy. Any Regional Program proposal or proposed modification by the program operator must be reported to the EV SELPA Steering Committee and presented to the EV SELPA Board of Directors for approval. Regional Programs must be reviewed annually by March 15 by the EV SELPA Steering Committee.

The agency providing the Regional Program is required to develop a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with each LEA that is sending one or more students to the Regional Program. The MOU needs to specify responsibilities of each agency and the fee for service arrangements. The annual rates for programs need to be based on a "not-for-profit" philosophy such that the fees are designed to simply cover the costs for services. Preliminary notification of fee-for-services rates for the upcoming year must be provided by April 30 of the current fiscal year, with the final rates determined after the May Revise update.

Education Code Requirements

Pursuant to Education Code Section 56207(a):

No educational programs and services already in operation in school districts or a county office of education pursuant to Part 30 (commencing with Section 56000) shall be transferred to another school district or a county office of education or from a county office of education to a

school district unless the special education local plan area has developed a plan for the transfer which addresses, at a minimum, all of the following:

- (1) Pupil needs.
- (2) The availability of the full continuum of services to affected pupils.
- (3) The functional continuation of the current individualized education programs of all affected pupils.
- (4) The provision of services in the least restrictive environment from which affected pupils can benefit.
- (5) The maintenance of all appropriate support services.
- (6) The assurance that there will be compliance with all federal and state laws and regulations and special education local plan area policies.
- (7) The means through which parents and staff were represented in the planning process.

To meet this requirement, each LEA pursuing a program transfer will be required to complete a "Detailed Plan for Special Education Program Transfers" (Appendix A) and to sign off on the "Program Transfer Assurances" (Appendix B) by September 7 of the year prior to initiating the new program services.

Transfer of Regional Programs

A Regional Program provides services to students who are residents of multiple LEAs. When the SBCSS, EV SELPA or an LEA is considering opening a regional program and/or pulling students from a regional program to open a district-only program, the LEA must communicate with and discuss implications with the LEAs that may be impacted by the proposed plan by following the Program Transfer timelines in this policy.

Transfer of Program via Discontinuing Referrals to Regional Programs

There is no established timeline that states if a certain number of students within a certain timeline are transferred from one program to another that the formal program transfer procedures must be followed. However, the intent of Ed Code 56207 is clear that the transfer of services and programs from an LEA that may impact the operation of a Regional Program must comply with the specified transfer program requirements. Therefore, a LEA who is considering discontinuing referrals to a Regional Program operated by the SBCSS, EV SELPA or another LEA within the SELPA shall be held accountable to the same procedures and timelines for notification of program transfer.

Transfer of Group of Students

The IEP process should not be used to expressly bypass the formal program transfer process. No educational programs and services already in operation shall be transferred unless the SELPA has developed a transfer plan that meets the specified requirements (Education Code §56207). To transfer students, pursuant to the IEP process, from their current placement to a new class in a LEA outside of the formal program transfer process could be deemed as not in conformity with this provision of the Education Code.

The IEP process is designed to determine an appropriate individualized education program for each student. To convene an IEP meeting because a new class has been established in a LEA is not generally a basis for an IEP meeting. (See Education Code §56343) On the other hand, if over the course of time, based on an evaluation of their individualized needs and/or lack of progress in their current placement, students are transferred to a new program established by the LEA, the formal transfer process may not be triggered. However, this should not be intentionally utilized as a means to bypass a formal transfer process. Further, the decisions to transfer a student during an IEP meeting to the new class need to be based on the student's individualized needs and not external factors.

Personnel Considerations

Certificated Positions

The following apply:

Whenever any certificated employee, who is performing service for one employer, is terminated, reassigned, or transferred, or becomes an employee of another employer because of the reorganization of special education programs, the employee shall be entitled to the following:

- The employee shall retain the seniority date of his or her employment with the district or county office from which he or she was terminated, reassigned, or transferred.
- The reassignment, transfer, or new employment caused by the reorganization of special education programs shall not affect the seniority or classification of certificated employees already attained in any school district that undergoes the reorganization. These employees shall have the same status with respect to their seniority or classification, with the new employer, including time served as probationary employees. The total number of years served as a certificated employee with the former district or county office shall be credited, year for year, for placement on the salary schedule of the new district or county office.
- Subsequent to the reassignment or transfer of any certificated employee as a result of the reorganization of special education programs that employee shall have priority in being informed of and in filling certificated positions in special education in the areas in which the employee is certificated within the district or county office by which the certificated employee is then currently employed.
- A certificated employee who has served as a special education teacher in a district or county office and has been terminated from his or her employment by that district or county office shall have first priority in being informed of and in filling vacant certificated positions in special education, for which the employee is certificated and was employed, in any other county office or school district that provides the same type of special education programs and services for the pupils previously served by the terminated employee. For a period of 39 months for permanent employees and 24 months for probationary employees from the date or termination, the employee shall have the first priority right to reappointment as provided by this section, if the employee has not attained the age of 65 years before reappointment.

Classified Positions

The following apply:

If the reorganization of special education programs results in a classified employee who is performing services for one employer being terminated, reassigned, or transferred, or becoming the employee of another employer, the employee shall retain the seniority acquired at his or her employment with the school district or county office of education from which he or she was terminated, reassigned, or transferred.

The reassignment of an employee, transfer of an employee, or new employment of an employee caused by the reorganization of special education programs does not affect the seniority or classification that a classified employee already attained in any school district that undergoes the reorganization. The employee has the same status with respect to his or her seniority or classification, with the new employer, including time served as a probationary employee. The total number of years served as a classified employee with the former school district or county office shall be credited, year for year, for placement on the salary schedule of the new school district or county office.

A classified employee who is reassigned or transferred as a result of the reorganization of special education programs has priority in being informed of and in filling classified positions in the classifications in which the employee was employed before the reassignment or transfer. This priority expires 24 months after the date of reassignment or transfer and may be waived by the employee during that time period.

A classified employee who served in a special education program in a school district or county office and is terminated from his or her employment by that school district or county office as a result of the reorganization of a special education program has first priority in being informed of and in filling vacant classified positions for which the employee is qualified or was employed in the county office or school district that operates the reorganized special education program.

Permanent employees have the first priority right to reappointment as provided in this section for 39 months from the date of termination. Probationary employees have the first priority right to reappointment as provided in this section for 24 months from the date of termination.

Resolving Disagreements Related to Program Transfers

If either the sending or receiving agency disagree with the proposed transfer, the distribution of funds, the responsibility for service provisions or other aspects of the transfer plan, the matter should be resolved by alternative resolution processes.

Program Transfer Timelines

Pursuant to EC Section 56207(b), a program transfer may take effect no earlier than the first day of the second fiscal year beginning after the date on which the sending or receiving agency has informed the other agency and the EV SELPA Board of Directors. On a case-by-case basis, the program transfer may take effect earlier (beginning of the next school year) if all parties involved in the transfer agree and the EV SELPA Board of Directors has approved the program transfer. If timelines are missed but all parties currently utilizing the existing program involved in the transfer agree, the case shall be presented to the EV SELPA Board of Directors for approval.

When timelines are met, all program transfer cases shall go to the EV SELPA Board of Directors as an action item at the mid-year meeting, no later than December.

The following timelines, displayed as an example, shall be followed for all program transfer requests:

Example: Notification date for program transfer:	No later than March 31, 2021
Preparation year:	2021-2022
Implementation year:	2022-2023
(beginning with next school year calendar)	

Notification Year

Any LEA(s) considering the possibility of making a formal written notification of intent to transfer programs or stop making referrals to a regional provider, must discuss this with the EV SELPA administrator and the current provider in the winter prior to making the notification. The following is required:

• <u>March 31</u>: Two years prior to implementation, pursuant to Education Code Section 56205, the LEA(s) interested in considering transfer of one or more programs from one provider to another shall notify in writing to the EV SELPA, SBCSS or any other regionalized service provider of intent to transfer program(s).

The written preliminary notification shall include whether or not the interested LEA plans to be a regionalized service provider. LEAs affected by the program transfer are also responsible for submitting a notification of intent letter if they are interested in having the new provider serve their students. Each initial program transfer notification letter shall be provided as an information item on the next Steering/Finance Committee, and Board of Directors meetings.

Preparation Year

- <u>August 1</u>: The LEA proposing the transfer must provide a student list of proposed students impacted by the transfer to the EV SELPA and SBCSS. The list shall include the following information for each student: name, date of birth, disability(ies), grade level, current IEP date, triennial IEP date, current attending school, current teacher, and all current special education services by type, frequency and duration.
- <u>September 7</u>: EV SELPA, SBCSS or other regionalized service providers must prepare a report indicating any possible financial and programmatic impact. The current service provider will address the following in their report:
 - Identify any adverse fiscal impact on the remaining operated program
 - o Identify any adverse programmatic impact on the remaining operated program
 - Identify and evaluate any facility issues; and,
 - Identify any personnel issues.

The LEA proposing the transfer must complete and submit to the EV SELPA administration the required Assurances Page (Appendix A) and Detailed Plan for Program Transfer (Appendix B) with a copy provided to the current program service provider.

The above reports shall be provided as information item on the next EV SELPA Steering/Finance Committee and Board of Directors meetings.

- <u>October 31</u>: The LEA(s) requesting the program transfer must provide Verification of Involvement of Stakeholders in the Plan for Special Education Program Transfers (Appendix C) along with written notification to the EV SELPA Board of Directors and SBCSS or other service providers whether or not the LEA will be taking back program(s).
- <u>November or December</u>: The next scheduled EV SELPA Board of Directors agenda will include an action item to approve or disapprove the special education program transfer request. The approval is dependent upon a simple majority vote of the members in attendance.
- January through June: In any type of program transfer, the new program operator shall work cooperatively with the current operator to complete administrative activities such as scheduling IEP meetings, transfer of files, coordination of related services, notification of parents, and other activities associated with the program transfer.

Note: It is the requirement of all SELPA transfer plans that the functional continuation of the current IEP of all affected students be provided for (Ed. Code §56207(a)(3)).

An IEP meeting is required to be convened when there is a request to develop, review or revise the individualized education program for a student (Ed. Code, §56343). A student's educational placement is defined as "that unique combination of facilities, personnel, location or equipment necessary to provide instructional services to an individual with exceptional needs, as specified in the IEP..." (Cal. Code Regs. tit. 5, §3042). If the alteration of a program operator truly has no impact on the facility, personnel, location, or equipment provided to the student, then the change in program operator would not require that an IEP meeting be convened for each affected student.

- <u>June</u>: The new program operator is responsible for developing a MOU with any other LEA that also provided program transfer notification who plans to access the new program.
- June: A LEA utilizing a program outside of the EV SELPA shall complete an Intra-SELPA Transfer form for each student attending such program.

Implementation Year

• The new program operator will begin providing services effective the beginning of the next school year calendar. The current program operator provides services during extended school year unless negotiated otherwise. In such cases, the existing MOU applies.

SECTION VIII – SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS REFERRAL PROCEDURES

The following process should be followed when referring a student to a county program placement:

- A. Assessment/Evaluation
 - 1. The District is responsible for conducting an initial assessment or reassessment prior to (or concurrently with) referral to the county program.
 - 2. If the student is due for an annual IEP meeting within 30 days or triennial within 60 days (or overdue on either) of the change of placement, the referring district will hold the IEP meeting (or bring it current) prior to/concurrently with referring the student to the county program.

When the assessor or District representative anticipates the student to be a potential county program referral:

- 3. The District will obtain written approval from the Ed Rights Holder (ERH) for release of information to EV-Ops and for a county representative to be invited to the IEP meeting where placement will be discussed.
- 4. The District will notify the EV- Ops department by day 30 of the 60-day timeline (or as soon as known if no additional assessment is needed) to inform them of the potential placement.
 - a. Notification will be via email to <u>evops.referrals@sbcss.net</u> and include a completed EV-20 form, along with as much information as possible to make an accurate and informed determination, such as, most recent annual and triennial, BIP/FBA, all current assessments. District contact information must have multiple forms of contact (i.e., email and phone number)
 - b. The EV-Ops administrative team will log receipt of the referral and review the potential placement request and determine if EV-Ops is able to provide the IEP services and supports.
 - i. If the county placement is denied, an EV-Ops administrator will inform the district of the determination at least 10 days prior to the scheduled IEP meeting so other options may be pursued.
 - ii. If approved, the EV-Ops administrator will identify specific prospective placement.
 - iii. EV-Ops will inform the District of specific prospective placement and IEP meeting attendance availability.
 - iv. If a personal nurse is required, the nurse needs to be provided by the district or parent.

District will coordinate and conduct the IEP team meeting and make offer of FAPE.

- 5. EV-Ops will make every effort to attend the IEP meeting.
- 6. If county placement is accepted by the ERH the district will change the district of service to County Office of Education within the IEP, with a projected start date

(allowing sufficient time for online enrollment, setting up transportation, specialized supports, etc.).

- 7. The EV-Ops representative will provide the ERH with the online enrollment link.
- 8. The District will finalize the IEP prior to the county placement start date.
- 9. The District will provide copies of all assessments and documentation that were not previously available or sent, such as: signed IEP, assessment data supporting change of placement, health evaluations, immunization records, transcripts for students in 9-12th grade, state testing results, other agency reports, language assessment and determination, etc.

EV-Ops will adopt the IEP via WebIEP, set up transportation services, and complete the enrollment of the student in the student information system.

EV-Ops will confirm the start date, program location, and transportation information with the ERH prior to the start date.

EV-Ops will ensure the student file is provided to the receiving teacher prior to the student's start date and place the master file in the regional office file.

The district is expected to attend all future IEP meetings to make the district's offer of FAPE.

Interim Placement

If a student moves into a district with an existing IEP, and the district review of the student's records indicates that a county placement is appropriate, the following steps will be added to the referral process.

- A. The district will complete the interim placement forms, EV-58 and EV-58M if appropriate, and the EV-20 referral form.
- B. The district will request all records from the previous district and provide them with the referral packet, per <u>requesting placement</u> procedures.
- C. When approved for placement by EV-Ops, the student will be placed and services, goals, and objectives will be implemented based on the existing IEP. EV-Ops will conduct the 30-day/Annual IEP, with district staff included to make the district's offer of FAPE.

Requesting Services

- A. The District will send the referral packet via email to <u>evops.referrals@sbcss.net</u> and include a completed EV-20 form, current annual and triennial IEPs, current/prior evaluation and assessments, and relevant medical or other agency reports, additional materials as appropriate. District contact information must have multiple forms of contact (i.e., email and phone number)
 - 1. Current assessment reports and/or IEP must include statement of recommended services.
- B. EV-Ops will log receipt of the referral and assign the appropriate service provider.
- C. EV-Ops will notify the district and SELPA of referral acceptance.

D. The service provider will begin services. Direct services will be logged in the student information system.

The service provider will attend all annual and triennial IEP meetings, and amendment IEPs when applicable to services provided, and conduct assessments related to services.

Requesting Assessment

- A. The District will send the referral packet via email to <u>evops.referrals@sbcss.net</u> and include a completed EV-20 form, current annual and triennial IEPs, current/prior evaluations and assessments, and relevant medical or other agency reports, and additional materials as appropriate (optometric assessment/report and nurse vision screening for VI and audiogram for DHH assessment requests). District contact information must have multiple forms of contact (i.e., email and phone number).
 - 1. Please note that SBCSS VI service is not vision therapy.

EV-Ops will log receipt of the referral and assign the related service provider for assessment.

If the district is conducting other assessments, the related service provider will coordinate with the district within 15 days of original assessment request to prepare the coordinated assessment plan.

2. If the EV-Ops related services assessment is the only assessment being conducted, the related service provider will prepare and send the assessment plan within the 15-day timeline directly to the ERH and provide a copy to the district.

The related service provider will conduct the assessment.

The related service provider will contact the district representative to agree upon an IEP meeting date and location.

The District will schedule and conduct the IEP meeting, including sending all IEP notices, inviting the related service provider.

The related service provider will provide a written report, to include a statement of recommended services, to the district and IEP team members.

The related service provider will develop draft goals and objectives to be presented at the IEP meeting. Draft goals and objectives will be provided to the case carrier in advance to include in the draft IEP prior to the meeting.

The IEP meeting will be held to review the assessment and add services to the IEP, if appropriate.

The service provider will begin services. Direct services will be logged in the student information system.

The service provider will attend all annual and triennial IEP meetings and amendment IEPs when applicable to services provided, and conduct assessments related to services.